# INFLUENZA A VIRUSES AND AVIAN PARAMYXOVIRUSES IN WILD BIRDS: WHAT CAN SEROLOGY TEACH US?

by

### WHITNEY MICHAEL KISTLER

(Under the Direction of Michael Yabsley)

#### ABSTRACT

Traditional surveillance of Influenza A viruses (IAVs) in wild birds has used RT-PCR or virus isolation. However, commercially available serological assays have been developed recently which can complement virus detection assays. This is useful because antibodies to IAVs are detectable longer than viral shedding and can be used in species that shed virus briefly or species that are not easily sampled when IAVs are circulating. In addition, serology has been an underutilized for avian paramyxovoviruses (APMVs) in wild birds. Furthermore, except for Newcastle disease virus (NDV), there is very few data on APMVs in wild birds. The objectives of this work were to use serological assays and virus isolation to determine: 1) IAV subtype-specific antibodies in Canada geese (*Branta canadensis*) and risk factors associated with exposure; 2) evaluate exposure of mute swans (*Cygnus olor*) to IAVs; and 3) the role of wood ducks (*Aix sponsa*) in the epidemiology of IAVs and APMVs.

Canada geese were frequently exposed to the same IAVs subtypes that circulate in dabbling ducks; however, they had a high prevalence of H5-specific antibodies which are rare in ducks. There was no significant variation in antibody prevalence among years and percent developed was the only environmental predictor variable associated with risk. These data suggest that Canada geese share a common exposure with dabbling ducks and serologic data are not sensitive enough to detect local and annual variation in IAV circulation. Similarly, mute swans had a high IAVs antibody prevalence. The high nucleoprotein prevalence is likely related to antibody persistence and long life span of mute swans. The H5-specific antibody prevalence was also high which suggest mute swans may have flock immunity, which could protect them from disease associated with highly pathogenic H5N1.

Wood ducks were not frequently exposed to IAVs but are frequently exposed to APMVs. These data suggest exposure of wood ducks are likely only spillover hosts and exposure is location dependent and occurs only when ducks shed IAV. Additionally, wood ducks may be important hosts of APMVs, but virus isolation data is lacking.

INDEX WORDS: Avian Paramyxoviruses, Canada Geese, Influenza A Virus, Mute Swans, Serology, Wood Ducks

# INFLUENZA A VIRUSES AND AVIAN PARAMYXOVIRUSES IN WILD BIRDS: WHAT CAN SEROLOGY TEACH US?

by

## WHITNEY MICHAEL KISTLER

BS, Mercyhurst College, 2008

MS, University of Georgia, 2010

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of The University of Georgia in Partial

Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

ATHENS, GEORGIA

# © 2014

# Whitney Michael Kistler

# All Rights Reserved

# INFLUENZA A VIRUSES AND AVIAN PARAMYXOVIRUSES IN WILD BIRDS: WHAT

# CAN SEROLOGY TEACH US?

by

## WHITNEY MICHAEL KISTLER

Major Professor:

Michael J. Yabsley

Committee:

David E. Stallknecht Jeff Hepinstall-Cymerman Michael Chamberlain

Electronic Version Approved:

Julie Coffield Interim Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia August 2014

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my committee for their help and guidance during this research. Particularly, Michael who is always on top of things even though he has a dozen projects and is taking care of his seemingly ever growing family. In addition, for his patience when I lose focus on my dissertation and focus on other projects. I also thank Dave, who has an amazing ability to look at data or a problem and almost immediately see the value or solution and put together a plan to address it.

Most importantly I would like to thank my family whose love and support helped my drive on. And Barbara who helped me stay focused on my work and supported me every step of the way, even though she never quite could catch more fish than me.

Also several state and federal agencies who helped with funding, sample collection, and processing. In particular, the Pennsylvania State Game Commission, United States Department of Agriculture, and United States Fish and Wildlife Service. I thank Joe Slusher, Jesse Thomas, Josh Parris, John Wlodkowski, and numerous others at SCWDS who helped with field work. I also thank Justin Brown for help with the serological assays and Jennifer Smith for having good food and a snappy remark every time I walked through the lab.

iv

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Page  |
|---|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv                                 |
| LIST OF TABLES                                      |
| LIST OF FIGURES ix                                  |
| CHAPTER   |
| 1 INTRODUCTION                                      |
| Literature Cited                                    |
| 2 LITERATURE REVIEW                                 |
| Influenza A Viruses13                               |
| Classification of Influenza A Viruses in Birds14    |
| Host Range of Influenza A Viruses15                 |
| Determinates for Influenza A Virus Host Range17     |
| Transmission of Influenza A Viruses in Wild Birds18 |
| Spatial and Temporal Variation in Wild Birds19      |
| Influenza A Virus Serology20                        |
| Influenza A Viruses in Canada Geese23               |
| Influenza A Viruses in Wood Ducks                   |
| Influenza A Viruses in Mute Swans                   |
| Avian Paramyxoviruses                               |
| Avian Paramyxoviruses in Wild Birds                 |
| References  |

| 3 | SPATIAL DISTRIBUTION OF INFLUENZA A VIRUSES IN POST-BREEDING  |
|---|---|
|   | CANADA GEESE (Branta Canadensis) IN PENNSYLVANIA66            |
|   | Introduction  |
|   | Materials and Methods69                                       |
|   | Results71   |
|   | Discussion71  |
|   | Acknowledgements74  |
|   | References74  |
| 4 | SUBTYPE-SPECIFIC INFLUENZA A VIRUS ANTIBODIES IN CANADA       |
|   | GEESE (Branta Canadensis)                                     |
|   | Introduction  |
|   | Materials and Methods87                                       |
|   | Results   |
|   | Discussion  |
|   | Acknowledgments   |
|   | References  |
| 5 | INFLUENZA A VIRUS H5-SPECIFIC ANTIBODIES IN NORTH AMERICAN    |
|   | MUTE SWANS ( <i>Cygnus Olor</i> )102                          |
|   | References108   |
| 6 | WOOD DUCKS (Aix Sponsa) AS POTENTIAL RESERVOIRS FOR INFLUENZA |
|   | A VIRUSES AND AVIAN PARAMYXOVIRUSES                           |
|   | Introduction115   |
|   | Materials and Methods117                                      |

|   | Results             | 119 |
|---|---------------------|-----|
|   | Discussion          | 121 |
|   | Acknowledgements    | 124 |
|   | References          |     |
| 7 | CONCLUSIONS         | 139 |
|   | Study 1 (Chapter 3) | 139 |
|   | Study 2 (Chapter 4) | 140 |
|   | Study 3 (Chapter 5) | 140 |
|   | Study 4 (Chapter 6) | 141 |
|   | Literature Cited    | 141 |

## LIST OF TABLES

| Table 2.1: Field studies that have tested Canada geese for antibodies to influenza A viruses26   |
|--|
| Table 2.2: Field studies that have attempted influenza A virus isolations on Canada geese27      |
| Table 3.1: Antibody prevalence estimates to influenza A virus nucleoprotein as determined by     |
| bELISA79   |
| Table 3.2: Antibody prevalence estimates to influenza A virus nucleoprotein as determined by     |
| bELISA81   |
| Table 4.1: Influenza A viruses used to make antigen for hemagglutination inhibition assay97      |
| Table 4.2: H5-specific antibody titers and prevalence across years as determined by the          |
| hemagglutination inhibition assay98  |
| Table 5.1: Prevalence of influenza A virus antibodies to the nucleoprotein and the H5-subtype in |
| mute swans from four US states using three serological assays112                                 |
| Table 6.1: Results from virus isolation for influenza A viruses and avian paramyxoviruses in     |
| wood ducks and influenza A virus antibody prevalence as determined by a bELISA134                |
| Table 6.2: Results from logistic regression utilizing generalized estimating equations for       |
|  |

## LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 3.1: Influenza A virus nucleoprotein antibody prevalence in Canada geese as determined  |  |  |
|--|--|--|
| by bELISA by sample location from 2009-201282  |  |  |
| Figure 3.2: Plot of Moran's I values from first order nearest neighbors to fifth order nearest |  |  |
| neighbors  |  |  |
| Figure 4.1: Canada goose sample location distribution in Pennsylvania 2009-2012                |  |  |
| Figure 4.2: Influenza A virus subtype-specific antibodies from Canada geese in Pennsylvania as |  |  |
| determined by the hemagglutination inhibition assay  |  |  |
| Figure 4.3: Prevalence of influenza A subtype-specific antibodies from Canada geese in New     |  |  |
| Jersey, Minnesota, Washington, and Wisconsin as determined by the hemagglutination             |  |  |
| inhibition assay101  |  |  |
| Figure 6.1: Prevalence estimates from avian paramyxovirus antibodies by state as determined by |  |  |
| the hemagglutination inhibition assay137   |  |  |
| Figure 6.2: Reciprocal antibody titers of wood ducks to avian paramyxoviruses as determined    |  |  |
| using the hemagglutination inhibition assay138   |  |  |

#### CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

The major objective of the studies included in this dissertation is to utilize serologic assays to better understand the epidemiology of influenza A viruses (IAVs) and avian paramyxoviruses (APMVs) in free-ranging waterfowl. There are numerous serotypes of IAVs and species of APMVs that are transmitted among waterfowl by the fecal-oral route (Webster et al., 1978; Deibel et al., 1983; Hinshaw et al., 1985; Olsen et al., 2006; Kim et al., 2012; Dai et al., 2013). Neither low pathogenic IAVs nor low pathogenic APMVs are associated with clinical disease in wild waterfowl; however, some serotypes of both viruses can cause clinical disease in poultry and other wild birds (Mustaffa-Babjee et al., 1974; Glaser et al., 1999; Alexander, 2000; Ellis et al., 2004; Hines and Miller, 2012). Studies on the ecology of these viruses are of great significant because of their importance to poultry health and their wide distribution.

Influenza A viruses have a large host range but birds in the orders Anseriformes and Charadiirformes serve as the reservoirs (Slemons et al., 1973; Bahl et al., 1975; Hinshaw et al., 1985; Krauss et al., 2004). Several IAV subtypes have spilled-over into new species which has resulted in pandemics and, in some cases, these viruses have become endemic in a novel host (Crawford et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2009; Anthony et al., 2012). Recent examples of pandemics include the emergence of the HPAI H5N1 viruses in chickens and people in Asia which spilled over into wild birds in Europe and Asia and the emergence of H1N1 in North America (Ellis et al., 2004; Neumann et al., 2009).

Traditionally, IAV surveillance in wild birds has been conducted using virus isolation in 9-11 day-old specific pathogen-free embryonated chicken eggs (Slemons et al., 1973;

Rosenberger et al., 1974; Webster et al., 1976). Although this is considered the most sensitive technique for detecting viable virus from wild birds, it requires birds to be actively shedding infectious virus, which can be brief and intermittent (Woolcock, 2008; Costa et al., 2010, 2011; Berhane et al., 2010). In addition, virus isolation is labor-intensive and expensive.

Historically, only two serological assays have been widely used to detect AIV antibodies in wild birds, the agar gel immunodiffusion (AGID) assay and hemagglutination inhibition (HI) assay (Laver et al., 1972; Slemons and Easterday, 1972; Winkler et al., 1972; Kocan et al., 1979). The AGID assay is commonly used in poultry; however, this assay lacks validation in many wild bird species and has a reported low sensitivity in waterfowl (Slemons and Easterday, 1972; Bahl et al., 1975; Brown et al., 2009). The HI assay is a subtype-specific serological assay thus serum samples must be tested against all 16 hemagglutinin (HA) subtypes to determine if a sample is negative (Assaad et al., 1980; Pedersen, 2008). Recently, a commercially available blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (bELISA) has been evaluated and shown to have high sensitivity and specificity for use in wild birds (Brown et al., 2009, 2010a, 2010b; Ishtiaq et al., 2012; Kistler et al., 2012). Because this bELISA targets antibodies directed to the nucleoprotein which is conserved across all 16 (HA) subtypes, this assay detects exposure to any IAV subtype (Walls et al., 1986).

Canada geese (*Branta canadensis*), a near ubiquitously distributed waterfowl species, have an undetermined role in the epidemiology of IAVs. Geese share aquatic habitats with waterfowl species considered to be reservoirs for IAVs and are susceptible to experimental infection with IAVs, but isolation of viruses from wild Canada geese is uncommon (Winkler et al., 1972; Hinshaw et al., 1986; Pasick et al., 2007; Berhane et al., 2010; Harris et al., 2010; Wilcox et al., 2011). However, a recent study showed that Canada geese are frequently exposed

to IAVs in the wild (Kistler et al., 2012). In addition to Canada geese, the role of wood ducks (*Aix sponsa*) and mute swans (*Cygnus olor*) in the epidemiology of IAVs is poorly understood. Wood ducks are experimentally susceptible to IAVs but field studies on wood ducks have been inconclusive. In a few studies, IAVs were isolated from wood ducks at certain locations and times but other large scale studies failed to detect viral shedding in wood ducks (Hinshaw et al., 1985; Slemons et al., 2003; Brown et al., 2007; Parmley et al., 2008; Goekjian et al., 2011). Two serological surveys did not detect IAV antibodies in wood ducks. One study sampled an unreported number of birds using the AGID assay and the other study used the more sensitive bELISA, but only tested three birds (Bahl et al., 1975; Brown et al., 2010a). Mute swans are an exotic and invasive species in North America. Only two studies have been conducted on mute swans in North America. Both of these studies isolated IAVs and detected antibodies to AIVs (Graves, 1992; Pedersen et al., 2014). Interestingly, IAVs usually associated with Charadriiformes has been isolated from mute swans and they have subtype specific antibodies to viruses that are not frequently detected in Anseriformes (Graves, 1992).

Avian paramyxoviruses are a diverse group of viruses which includes several viruses of importance to poultry (e.g., Newcastle disease virus (NDV), APMV-2, and APMV-3; Bradshaw and Jensen, 1978; Tumova et al., 1979). Only NDV is known to cause disease in wild birds in North America with numerous large epidemics occurring in double-crested cormorants (*Phalacrocorax auritus*) and die-offs in American white pelicans (*Pelicanus erythrorhynchos*) (Wobeser et al., 1993; Kuiken et al., 1998; Glaser et al., 1999). Wild waterfowl are considered reservoirs for low pathogenic NDV, APMV-4, APMV-6, and APMV-8 (Alexander, 1980; Alexander et al., 1983; Hinshaw et al., 1985; Stallknecht et al., 1991; Goekjian et al., 2011; Choi et al., 2013); however, because only NDV causes clinical disease in wild birds, few studies have focused on APMV in waterfowl (Jindal et al., 2009). Only two studies in North America have used serologic testing to detect antibodies to APMVs in wild waterfowl and this study focused solely on NDV (Kocan et al., 1979).

Serologic testing can be a useful tool in understanding the role different species of birds play in the epidemiology of these viruses, but its use in waterfowl has been underutilized. Therefore, we propose to utilize serologic testing to increase our understanding of the role Canada geese, wood ducks, and mute swans (*Cygnus olor*) play in the epidemiology of IAVs and APMVs.

Specific objectives for of this study include:

- 1. To investigate if land use or other ecological factors predicts exposure of Canada geese (*Branta canadensis*) in Pennsylvania to IAVs
- 2. To determine if the AIV subtypes circulating in Canada geese are the same as those that circulate in sympatric waterfowl species using a subtype specific hemagglutination inhibition assay.
- 3. To investigate prevalence of H5-specific antibodies in free-ranging mute swans (*Cygnus olor*), using three serological assays.
- Investigate the role of wood ducks (*Aix sponsa*) in the epidemiology of IAVs and APMVs using a combination of virus isolation and serologic testing

#### Literature Cited

ALEXANDER, D., V. HINSHAW, M. COLLINS, and N. YAMANE. 1983. Characterization of viruses which represent further distinct serotypes (PMV-8 and PMV-9) of avian paramyxoviruses. Archives of Virology 36: 29–36.

ALEXANDER, D. J. 1980. Avian paramyxoviruses. Veterinary Bulletin 50: 737.

- ALEXANDER, D. J. 2000. A review of avian influenza in different bird species. Veterinary Microbiology 74: 3–13.
- ANTHONY, S. J., J. A. S. LEGER, K. PUGLIARES, H. S. IP, J. M. CHAN, Z. W. CARPENTER, I. NAVARRETE-MACIAS, and M. SANCHEZ-LEON. 2012. Emergence of Fatal Avian Influenza in New England Harbor Seals. mBio 3: 1–10.
- ASSAAD, F. A., P. BRES, C. CHI-MING, and W. R. DOWDLE. 1980. A revision of the system of nomenclature for influenza viruses: a WHO Memorandum. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 58: 585–591.
- BAHL, A. K., B. S. POMEROY, B. C. EASTERDAY, and S. MANGUNDIMEDJO. 1975. Isolation of type A influenza viruses from the migratory waterfowl along the Mississippi Flyway. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 11: 360–363.
- BERHANE, Y., M. LEITH, J. NEUFELD, S. BABIUK, T. HISANAGA, H. KEHLER, J. P. A, C. EMBURY-HYATT, K. HOOPER-MCGREVY, and J. PASICK. 2010. Studying possible cross-protection of Canada geese preexposed to North American low pathogenicity avian influenza virus strains (H3N8, H4N6, and H5N2) against an H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza challenge. Avian Diseases 54: 548–554.

BRADSHAW, G. L., and M. M. JENSEN. 1978. The epidemiology of Yucaipa Virus in relationship

to the acute respiratory disease syndrome in turkeys. Avian Diseases 23: 539–542.

- BROWN, J. D., M. P. LUTTRELL, R. D. BERGHAUS, W. KISTLER, S. P. KEELER, A. HOWEY, B.
  WILCOX, J. HALL, L. NILES, A. DEY, G. KNUTSEN, K. FRITZ, and D. E. STALLKNECHT.
  2010a. Prevalence of antibodies to type a influenza virus in wild avian species using two serologic assays. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 46: 896–911.
- BROWN, J. D., M. P. LUTTRELL, M. M. UHART, H. DEL VALLE FERREYRA, M. M. ROMANO, M. V. RAGO, and D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2010b. Antibodies to type A influenza virus in wild waterbirds from Argentina. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 46: 1040–1045.
- BROWN, J. D., D. E. STALLKNECHT, R. D. BERGHAUS, M. P. LUTTRELl, K. VELEK, W. KISTLER, T.
  P. COSTA, M. J. YABSLEY, and D. SWAYNE. 2009. Evaluation of a commercial blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay to detect avian influenza virus antibodies in multiple experimentally infected avian species. Clinical and Vaccine Immunology 16: 824–829.
- BROWN, J. D., D. E. STALLKNECHT, and S. VALEIKA. 2007. Susceptibility of wood ducks to H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza virus. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 43: 660–667.
- CHOI, K.-S., J.-Y. KIM, S.-J. KYE, C.-K. PARK, and H.-W. SUNG. 2013. Genetic diversity of avian paramyxovirus type 4 isolates from wild ducks in Korea from 2006 to 2011. Virus genes 46: 302–8.
- COSTA, T. P., A. J. D. BROWN, B. E. W. HOWERTH, D. E. S. BC, J. D. BROWN, E. W. HOWERTH, and D. E. StALLKNECHT. 2010. The effect of age on avian influenza viral shedding in Mallards (Anas platyrhynchos). Avian Diseases 54: 581–585.
- COSTA, T. P., J. D. BROWN, E. W. HOWERTH, and D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2011. Variation in viral shedding patterns between different wild bird species infected experimentally with low-

pathogenicity avian influenza viruses that originated from wild birds. Avian Pathology 40: 119–124.

- CRAWFORD, P. C., E. J. DUBOVI, W. L. CASTLEMAN, I. STEPHENSON, E. P. J. GIBBS, L. CHEN, C.
  SMITH, R. C. HILL, P. FERRO, J. POMPEY, R. A. BRIGHT, M.-J. MEDINA, C. M. JOHNSON, C.
  W. OLSEN, N. J. COX, A. I. KLIMOV, J. M. KATZ, and R. O. DONIS. 2005. Transmission of equine influenza virus to dogs. Science 310: 482–485.
- DAI, Y., A. M. LIU, A. X. CHENG, A. X. SHEN, A. Y. WEI, A. S. ZHOU, A. S. YU, and C. D. BC.
  2013. Infectivity and pathogenicity of Newcastle Disease Virus strains of different avian origin and different virulence for Mallard ducklings. Avian Diseases: 8–14.
- DEIBEL, R., D. E. EMORD, W. DUKELOW, V. S. HINSHAW, and J. M. WOOD. 1983. Influenza viruses and paramyxoviruses in ducks in the Atlantic flyway, 1977-1983, including an H5N2 isolate related to the virulent chicken virus. Avian Diseases 29: 970–985.
- ELLIS, T. M., R. B. BOUSFIELD, L. A. BISSETT, K. C. DYRTING, G. S. M. LUK, S. T. TSIM, K. STURM-RAMIREZ, R. G. WEBSTER, Y. GUAN, and J. S. MALIK PEIRIS. 2004. Investigation of outbreaks of highly pathogenic H5N1 avian influenza in waterfowl and wild birds in Hong Kong in late 2002. Avian pathology : journal of the W.V.P.A 33: 492–505.
- GLASER, L. C., I. K. BARKER, D. V. C. WESELOH, J. LUDWIG, M. RONALD, D. W. KEY, and T. K. BOLLINGER. 1999. The 1992 epizootic of Newcastle Disease in double-crested cormorants in North America. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 35: 319–330.
- GOEKJIAN, V. H., J. T. SMITH, D. L. HOWELL, D. A. SENNE, D. E. SWAYNE, and D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2011. Avian influenza viruses and avian paramyxoviruses in wintering and breeding waterfowl populations in North Carolina, USA. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 47:

240-245.

- GRAVES, I. L. 1992. Influenza viruses in birds of the Atlantic flyway. Avian Diseases 36: 1–10.
- HARRIS, M. T., J. D. BROWN, V. H. GOEKJIAN, M. P. LUTTRELL, R. L. POULSON, B. R. WILCOX,D. E. SWAYNE, and D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2010. Canada geese and the epidemiology of avian influenza viruses. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 46: 981–987.
- HINES, N. L., and C. L. MILLER. 2012. Avian paramyxovirus serotype-1: A review of disease distribution, clinical symptoms, and laboratory diagnostics. Veterinary Medicine International 2012: 1–17.
- HINSHAW, V. S., V. F. NETTLES, L. F. SCHORR, J. M. WOOD, and R. G. WEBSTER. 1986. Influenza virus surveillance in waterfowl in Pennsylvania after the H5N2 avian outbreak. Avian Diseases 30: 207–212.
- HINSHAW, V. S., J. M. WOOD, R. G. WEBSTER, R. DEIBEL, and B. TURNER. 1985. Circulating influenza and paramyxoviruses in waterfowl from two different location in North America. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 63: 711–719.
- ISHTIAQ, F., M. GILBERT, J. BROWN, P. JOYNER, R. SODNOMDARJAA, M. P. LUTTRELL, D. STALLKNECHT, and D. O. JOLY. 2012. Antibodies to Influenza A Virus in Wild Birds across Mongolia, 2006-2009. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 48: 768–775.
- JINDAL, N., Y. CHANDER, A. K. CHOCKALINGAM, M. DE ABIN, P. T. REDIG, and S. M. GOYAL. 2009. Phylogenetic analysis of Newcastle disease viruses isolated from waterfowl in the upper midwest region of the United States. Virology Journal 6: 191.
- KIM, S.-H., S. XIAO, H. SHIVE, P. L. COLLINS, and S. K. SAMAL. 2012. Replication, neurotropism, and pathogenicity of avian paramyxovirus serotypes 1–9 in chickens and

ducks. PLoS ONE 7: e34927.

- KISTLER, W. M., D. E. STALLKNECHT, T. J. DELIBERTO, S. SWAFFORD, K. PEDERSEN, K. VAN
  WHY, P. C. WOLF, J. A. HILL, D. L. BRUNING, J. C. CUMBEE, R. M. MICKLEY, C. W.
  BETSILI, A. R. RANDALL, R. D. BERGHAUS, and M. J. YABSLEY. 2012. Antibodies to Avian
  Influenza Viruses in Canada Geese (Branta canadensis): A Potential Surveillance Tool?
  Journal of Wildlife Diseases 48: 1097–1101.
- KOCAN, A., M. SHAW, and P. MORGAN. 1979. Some parasitic and infectious diseases in waterfowl in Oklahoma. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 15: 137–141.
- KRAUSS, S., D. WALKER, S. P. PRYOR, L. NILES, L. I. CHENGHONG, V. S. HINSHAW, and R. G.WEBSTER. 2004. Influenza A viruses of migrating wild aquatic birds in North America.Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases 4: 177–189.
- KUIKEN, T. 2013. Is low pathogenic avian influenza virus virulent for wild waterbirds? Proceedings of the Royal Society: Biological Sciences 280: 20130990–20130990.
- KUIKEN, T., F. A. LEIGHTON, G. WOBESER, K. L. DANESIK, J. RIVA, and R. A. HECKERT. 1998. An epidemic of Newcastle disease in double-crested cormorants from Saskatchewan. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 34: 457–471.
- LAVER, W. G., R. G. WEBSTER, and LAYER. 1972. Antibodies to human influenza viruses in Australian Pelegiac birds. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 47: 535–541.
- MUSTAFFA-BABJEE, A., P. B. SPRADBROW, and J. L. SAMUEL. 1974. A pathogenic paramyxovirus from a Budgerigar (Melopsittacus undulatus). Avian Diseases 18: 226–230.
- NEUMANN, G., T. NODA, and Y. KAWAOKA. 2009. Emergence and pandemic potential of swineorigin H1N1 influenza virus. Nature 459: 931–939.

- OLSEN, B., V. J. MUNSTER, A. WALLENSTEN, J. WALDENSTRÖM, A. D. M. E. OSTERHAUS, and R.
  A. M. FOUCHIER. 2006. Global patterns of influenza a virus in wild birds. Science 312: 384–388.
- PARMLEY, E. J., N. BASTIEN, T. F. BOOTH, V. BOWES, P. A. BUCK, A. BREAULT, D. CASWELL, P. DAOUST, J. C. DAVIES, S. M. ELAHI, M. FORTIN, F. KIBENGE, R. KING, Y. LI, N. NORTH, D. OJKIC, J. PASICK, S. P. PRYOR, J. ROBINSON, J. RODRIGUE, H. WHITNEY, P. ZIMMER, and F. A. LEIGHTON. 2008. Wild bird influenza survey, Canada, 2005. Emerging Infectious Diseases 14: 84–87.
- PASICK, J., Y. BERHANE, C. EMBURY-HYATT, J. COPPS, H. KEHLER, K. HANDEL, S. BABIUK, K. HOOPER-MCGREVY, Y. LI, Q. M. LE, and S. L. PHUONG. 2007. Susceptibility of Canada geese (Branta canadensis) to highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (H5N1). Emerging Infectious Diseases 13: 1821–1827.
- PEDERSEN, J. C. 2008. Hemagglutination-inhibition test for avian influenza virus subtype identification and the detection of and quantitation of serum antibodies to the avian influenza virus. In Avian Influenza Virus. E. Spackman (ed.). Humana Press, Totowa, NJ. pp. 53–66.
- PEDERSEN, K., A. F. D. R. MARKS, B. D. M. ARSNOE, B. C. L. AFONSO, C. S. N. BEVINS, D. P. J. MILLER, A. R. RANDALL, and T. J. D. A. 2014. Avian paramyxovirus serotype 1 (Newcastle disease virus), avian influenza virus, and Salmonella spp. in mute swans (Cygnus olor) in the Great Lakes Region and Atlantic Coast of the United States. Avian Diseases 1: 129–136.
- ROSENBERGER, J. K., W. C. KRAUSS, and R. D. SLEMONS. 1974. Isolation of Newcastle disease and type-A influenza viruses from migratory waterfowl in the Atlantic flyway. Avian

diseases 18: 610–3.

- SLEMONS, R. D., W. R. HANSEN, K. CONVERSE, and D. A. SENNE. 2003. Type A influenza virus surveillance in free-flying, nonmigratory ducks residing on the eastern shore of Maryland. Avian Diseases 47: 1107–10.
- SLEMONS, R. D., D. C. JOHNSON, J. S. OSBORNE, F. HAYES, and F. HAYESD. 1973. Type-A influenza viruses isolated from wild free-flying ducks in California. Avian Diseases 18: 119–124.
- SLEMONS, R., and B. C. EASTERDAY. 1972. Host response of 5 different avian species to an influenza A virus. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 47: 521–525.
- SMITH, G. J. D., D. VIJAYKRISHNA, J. BAHL, S. J. LYCETT, M. WOROBEY, O. G. PYBUS, S. K. MA,
  C. L. CHEUNG, J. RAGHWANI, S. BHATT, J. S. M. PEIRIS, Y. GUAN, and A. RAMBAUT. 2009.
  Origins and evolutionary genomics of the 2009 swine-origin H1N1 influenza A epidemic.
  Nature Publishing Group. Nature 459: 1122–1125.
- STALLKNECHT, D. E., D. A. SENNE, P. J. ZWANK, S. M. SHANE, and M. T. KEARNEY. 1991. Avian paramyxoviruses from migrating and resident ducks in coastal Louisiana. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 27: 123–128.
- TUMOVA, B., J. ROBINSON, and B. EASTERDAY. 1979. A hitherto unreported paramyxovirus of turkeys. Research in Veterinary Science 27: 135–140.
- WEBSTER, R. G., M. MORITA, C. PRIDGEN, and B. TUMOVA. 1976. Ortho- and paramyxoviruses from migrating feral ducks: characterization of a new group of influenza A viruses. The Journal of General Virology 32: 217–225.

WEBSTER, R. G., M. YAKHO, V. S. HINSHAW, W. J. BEAN, and K. G. MURTI. 1978. Intestinal

Influenza : Replication and Characterization Viruses in Ducks of Influenza. Virology 278: 268–278.

- WILCOX, B. R., G. A. KNUTSEN, J. BERDEEN, V. GOEKJIAN, R. POULSON, S. GOYAL, S. SREEVATSAN, C. CARDONA, R. D. BERGHAUS, D. E. SWAYNE, M. J. YABSLEY, and D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2011. Influenza-A viruses in ducks in northwestern Minnesota: fine scale spatail and temoporal variation in prevalence and subtype diversity. PLoS ONE 6: e24010.
- WINKLER, W. G., D. O. TRAINER, and B. C. EASTERDAY. 1972. Influenza in Canada geese. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 47: 507–513.
- WOBESER, G, F. A. LEIGHTON, R. NORMAN, D. J. MYERS, D. ONDERKA, M. J. PYBUS, J. L. NEUFELD, G. A. FOX, and D. J. ALEXANDER. 1993. Newcastle disease in wild water birds in western Canada, 1990. Canadian Veterinary Journal 34: 353–359.
- WOOLCOCK, P. R. 2008. Avian influenza virus isolation and propagation in chicken eggs. In Avian Influenza Virus. E. Spackman (ed.). Humana Press, Totowa, NJ. pp. 35–46.

#### CHAPTER 2

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Influenza A Viruses

Influenza A viruses are in the family *Orthomyxoviridae*. Depending on the virus, the viral genome consists of eight segments of negative-sense ribonucleic acid, coding for 10-12 proteins (Compans et al., 1970; Rott, 1992; Suarez and Swayne, 2008; Jagger et al., 2012). Three of these proteins are found on the surface of the virion: hemagglutinin (HA), neuraminidase (NA), and the membrane ion channel (M2) (Compans et al., 1970; Krug and Etkind, 1973; Rott, 1992). The remaining proteins are expressed internally: nucleoprotein (NP), matrix protein (M1), polymerase basic protein 1 (PB1), polymerase basic protein 2 (PB2), polymerase acidic protein (PA), nonstructural protein 1 (NS1), nonstructural protein 2 (NS2) (also called the nuclear export protein (NEP)), and in some IAV, the PB1-F2 protein, and a newly discovered protein PA-X (O'Neill et al., 1998; Chen et al., 2001; Suarez and Swayne, 2008; Jagger et al., 2012). The two nonstructural proteins are not usually found inside the virion, but are located within the nucleus (NS1) and cytoplasm (NS2) of the host cell (Krug and Etkind, 1973; Tumpey et al., 2005).

Influenza viruses are categorized by differences in three of these proteins. The NP protein is used to distinguish influenza types A, B, and C from each other and shows little antigenic variation within a particular influenza type (Walls et al., 1986; Webster et al., 1992; Olsen et al., 2006). The M1 protein is also conserved among all IAVs (Schild, 1972). Because the NP and M1 proteins are relatively conserved among influenza A viruses they are used often in molecular and serological assays to detect these viruses in a wide range of bird and mammal species (Schild,

1972; Yewdell et al., 1985; Fouchier et al., 2000; Spackman et al., 2002; Brown et al., 2009). However, classification of these viruses to subtypes (e.g., H3N8) is important for epidemiologic studies; therefore, researchers exploit variations in the HA and NA proteins (Assaad et al., 1980; Webster et al., 1992; Olsen et al., 2006).

#### Classification of Influenza A Viruses in Birds

Currently, 16 H subtypes (H1-16) and 9 N subtypes (N1-9) have been identified in influenza viruses circulating among wild birds (Webster et al., 1992; Olsen et al., 2006). In poultry, IAVs are further classified based on the severity of disease which determine if viruses are categorized as high pathogenic or low pathogenic (HPAIV and LPAIV, respectively). To date, only H5 and H7 viruses have developed into HPAIV and these HPAIV are believed to have arisen due to mutations of LPAIV that occurred during transmission among domestic birds (Horimoto et al., 1995; Alexander, 2000). For a virus to be classified as HPAIV two tests can be used including a chicken challenge test and sequence analysis of the HA cleavage site (OIE, 2012). The chicken challenge test can be done either by challenging 6-week-old chickens with the virus then calculating the intravenous pathogenicity index (IVPI), which is the the severity of disease caused by the virus inoculated intravenously, or by measuring the mortality in 4- to 8week old chickens. For the virus to be considered highly pathogenic, the IVPI index must be >1.2 or the mortality rate must be  $\geq$ 75% in inoculated chickens. In addition to these live chicken trials, a virus can be classified as highly pathogenic if there is an insertion of 2 or more basic amino acids (lysine and arginine) in the HA cleavage site sequence. The OIE only requires one of these assays to classify an IAV as a high pathogenic virus (OIE, 2012) and contradictory results between the tests have been reported only in Texas in 2004 (Lee et al., 2005).

Importantly, the classification of a virus as HPAI or LPAI is based on its effects in poultry and does not reflect how the virus will act in other species. For example, some highly pathogenic poultry viruses showed no signs of disease in experimentally inoculated ducks (Alexander et al., 1986).

#### Host Range of Influenza A Viruses

Influenza A virus have been reported from >100 bird species from 13 avian orders; however, most isolates have been acquired from aquatic birds in the orders Anseriformes and Charadriiformes (Stallknecht and Shane, 1988; Olsen et al., 2006). Although wild birds are considered the natural reservoirs, several subtypes have crossed the species barrier and have become established in new hosts. Humans (Homo sapiens), dogs (Canis lupus familiaris), horses (Equus ferus), and swine (Sus scrofa) are all examples of species that have IAVs that have adapted and become endemic in their populations (Crawford et al., 2005; Kayali et al., 2008; Schnitzler and Schnitzler, 2009; Nelson et al., 2012). In addition to crossing species barriers and becoming endemic in new hosts, IAVs can spillover into new hosts resulting in pandemics or small outbreaks in new hosts. During that last two decades, two avian IAVs (H5N1 and H7N9) have infected humans causing severe disease with high case fatality rates (Claas et al., 1998; Lebarbenchon et al., 2013a; To et al., 2013) and in 2009, a triple assortment swine IAV (H1N1) crossed into humans causing a pandemic that subsequently became endemic in the human population (Smith et al., 2009; Wong et al., 2012). Importantly, these pandemics are not restricted to humans. In 2011, a H3N8 virus caused severe pneumonia and die-offs in New England harbor seals (Phoca vitulina). Although not associated with mortality, two novel IAVs (subtypes H17N10 and H18N11) have been detected in bat species (Tong et al., 2012, 2013).

Although wild birds from the orders Anseriformes and Charadriiformes are recognized as the major reservoirs for all subtypes of AI viruses, there is considerable variation in prevalence among the species within these orders (Deibel et al., 1983; Hinshaw et al., 1985; Kawaoka et al., 1990; Krauss et al., 2004; Hanson et al., 2005, 2008; Velarde et al., 2010; Hoye et al., 2010; Wilcox et al., 2011) For example, within the order Anseriformes, most virus isolates come from species in the family Anatidae, genus *Anas*, particularly mallards (*Anas platyrhynchos*) (Stallknecht and Shane, 1988; Olsen et al., 2006; Stallknecht and Brown, 2007) and among the Charadriiformes, most virus isolations have been from members of the family Scolopacidae, particularly from ruddy turnstones (*Arenaria interprets*) (Sharp et al., 1993; Krauss et al., 2004; Hanson et al., 2008; Bahl et al., 2013). However, in the family Laridae, high virus isolation rates (>20%) have been detected in nesting colonies of ring-billed gulls (*Larus delawarensis*) and black-headed gulls (*Chroicocephalus ridibundus*) (Velarde et al., 2010; Verhagen et al., 2014).

Similarly, the subtypes of AIV detected in birds in Anseriformes and Charadriiformes are not equally distributed among the species. In the family Anatidae, particularly in the genus *Anas*, the predominant AIV subtypes isolated include H3, H4, and H6, with sporadic detections of most other subtypes (Deibel et al., 1983; Hinshaw et al., 1985; Sharp et al., 1997; Krauss et al., 2004; Ip et al., 2007; Munster et al., 2007; Kulak et al., 2010). However, there is some variation in the predominant subtypes as certain ones have been detected in higher frequency at some locations and in some years (Stallknecht et al., 1990b; Slemons et al., 1991; Hanson et al., 2005; Baumer et al., 2010; Goekjian et al., 2011; Wilcox et al., 2011; Ferro et al., 2012; Tolf et al., 2012; Vittecoq et al., 2012). Interestingly, H16 has not been isolated from Anatidae and H13 has rarely been isolated from these birds (Fouchier et al., 2005; Munster et al., 2007). In contrast, the subtypes most frequently isolated from Charadriiformes include the H3, H11, H13, and H16

subtypes (Graves, 1992; Krauss et al., 2004; Munster et al., 2007; Hanson et al., 2008; VanDalen et al., 2008; Velarde et al., 2010).

#### Determinants for Influenza A Virus Host Range

Factors that determine the host range for IAV are not fully understood; however, the hemagglutinin (HA) protein has a large role in determining host range. The HA protein is responsible for the virus binding to receptors on the host cell (Nelson et al., 1993; Skehel and Wiley, 2000). The HA binds to sialyloligosaccharide of the host cell and viruses adapted to birds preferentially bind to N-acetylneuraminic acid- $\alpha 2,3$ -galactose while human viruses preferentially bind to N-acetylneuraminic acid- $\alpha$ 2,6-galactose (Rogers and Paulson, 1983). These binding affinities also results in differential tissue tropism because, in the gastrointestinal tract of birds, cells primarily express N-acetylneuraminic acid- $\alpha 2,3$ -galactose whereas cells in the human respiratory tract primarily express N-acetylneuraminic acid-a2,6-galactose (Ito and Kawaoka, 2000; Shinya et al., 2006; Jourdain et al., 2011; França et al., 2013). However, humans do have N-acetylneuraminic acid- $\alpha$ 2,3-galactose receptors on cells lining the lower respiratory tract; therefore they can be directly infected with avian viruses as seen with H5N1 (Claas et al., 1998; Shinya et al., 2006). Additionally, swine and some avian species have respiratory cells with both receptors which may allow them act as mixing vessels of human and avian-adapted viruses (Ito et al., 1998; Thontiravong et al., 2012).

Influenza A viruses have high mutation rates because they are RNA viruses (Drake, 1993; Nobusawa and Sato, 2006). The ability of IAVs to mutate and change hosts has been frequently documented and this random mutation is called antigenic drift (Gerhard and Webster, 1978; Both et al., 1983). In addition to antigenic drift, IAVs can undergo antigenic shift, which is

the recombination of any of their eight genome segments when an individual cell is infected with two or more strains of virus (Dong et al., 2011; Kang et al., 2012; Zhao et al., 2012; Lebarbenchon et al., 2012b; Lu et al., 2014). Antigenic shift can result in IAVs quickly adapting to new hosts. Often, these host shifts can lead to pandemics as seen with H7N9 viruses in Asia and H1N1 in North America (Neumann et al., 2009; Lebarbenchon et al., 2013a; Lam et al., 2013).

#### Transmission of Influenza A Viruses in Wild Birds

Historically, based on data from domestic birds, IAVs in wild birds were thought to be primarily respiratory pathogens; however, during surveillance of wild birds, more isolations were obtained from cloacal samples compared with trachea samples (Slemons et al., 1973; Rosenberger et al., 1974; Bahl et al., 1975; Webster et al., 1976). Subsequent experimental infection studies showed that these viruses replicated within the digestive tract of ducks (Slemons and Easterday, 1977; Webster et al., 1978). In addition, Webster et al. (1978) showed that IAVs were shed in feces and they remained infective in feces for at least two weeks. Other field studies also found that viruses could be isolated from feces and water (Hinshaw et al., 1979; Ito et al., 1995). Hence, in a natural environment transmission of IAVs is likely via the fecal-oral route through ingestion of water and soil contaminated with feces. Experimentally, transmission has been proven through direct contact of infected and non-infected birds, through aerosols, and by contact contaminated water (Homme and Easterday, 1970; Winkler et al., 1972; Slemons and Easterday, 1977; Markwell and Shortridge, 1982; Forrest et al., 2010). Additionally, IAVs have been isolated directly from feathers and swabs of feathers, suggesting that preening is a possible IAV transmission route (Delogu et al., 2010; Lebarbenchon et al., 2013c). Transmission by direct contact and aerosols probably do not play an important role in Anseriformes; however, they may play a more important role in high density nesting colonies of Charadriiformes where virus have been detected in >20% of birds (Velarde et al., 2010; Verhagen et al., 2014).

#### Spatial and Temporal Variation in Wild Birds

In addition to differences in viral subtype associations among the Anseriformes and Charadriiformes, location and seasonality of viral transmission is unique among the two orders. Within the Anseriformes (primarily mallard ducks), prevalence of viral shedding peaks in the northern United States and Canada when waterfowl are in high density staging flocks preparing for fall migration (Hinshaw et al., 1978, 1985; Deibel et al., 1983; Sharp et al., 1993; Krauss et al., 2004; Wilcox et al., 2011). However, prevalence decreases sharply in October and November as birds migrate south and prevalence remains low while birds are on the wintering grounds (Kocan et al., 1980; Smitka and Maassab, 1981; Stallknecht et al., 1990a; Ferro et al., 2012). The late summer and early fall spike in prevalence is likely due to the influx of large numbers of susceptible hatch-year birds at these pre-migration staging areas which have significantly higher virus isolation rates during fall sampling (Sharp et al., 1993; Alfonso et al., 1995; Hanson et al., 2003; Wilcox et al., 2011). Interestingly, this peak in viral shedding is observed annually in northern areas of North America every year during late summer and early fall, but there are some subtypes that are transmitted on a two to four year cycle in Alberta, Canada (Sharp et al., 1993; Krauss et al., 2004). Finally, exceptions to this typical transmission has been observed in which increased viral shedding rates have been reported in dabbling ducks in late winter in Texas and in the spring in Alaska (Hanson et al., 2005; Ip et al., 2007).

AIV transmission among the Charadriiformes is markedly different. There is only a single location in North America (Delaware Bay, USA), where IAV are consistently isolated in high prevalences (>5%) from Charadriiformes (primarily ruddy turnstones) and these prevalence rates tend to be higher in birds using Delaware Bay as a stopover during the spring migration (Kawoaka et al., 1988; Krauss et al., 2004; Hanson et al., 2008). In Charadriiformes outside of Delaware Bay, viral shedding is usually detected in low amounts (Ip et al., 2007; Munster et al., 2007; Hanson et al., 2008; Verhagen et al., 2012; Van Borm et al., 2012); however, in nesting colonies of ring-billed gulls and black-headed gulls virus isolation prevalence has been >20% (Velarde et al., 2010; Verhagen et al., 2014).

#### Influenza A Virus Serology

Historically, two serologic assays, the agar gel immunodiffusion (AGID) and hemagglutination inhibition (HI) assays, have been the most widely used assays for the detection of AIV antibodies in wild birds (Winkler et al., 1972; Bahl et al., 1975, 1977; Nettles et al., 1985; Brown et al., 2009). The AGID assay, considered the gold standard in poultry, has not been validated for use in most wild bird species and has poor reported sensitivity in waterfowl species (Beard, 1970; Slemons and Easterday, 1972; Bahl et al., 1975; Brown et al., 2009). The HI assay requires screening against all 16 hemagglutinin subtypes before presence or absence of antibodies can be determined, making large scale surveillance studies impractical. Recently, several enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) have been developed for the detection of AIV antibodies in a wide range of avian species (Jin et al., 2004; Pasick et al., 2007; Brown et al., 2009, 2010a; Sullivan et al., 2009; Lebarbenchon et al., 2012a; Claes et al., 2012).

These ELISAs have increased sensitivity for IAV antibody detection compared to the AGID assay (Brown et al., 2009; Sullivan et al., 2009). However, many of these ELISAs are not commercially available (Jin et al., 2004; Pasick et al., 2007) making quality control and comparability among different laboratories difficult. Four commercially available ELISAs have been used to test wild birds for AIV antibodies; however, three of these assays (Ingezim Influenza A<sup>(R)</sup>, (Ingenasa, Spain), influenza A antibody competition<sup>(R)</sup> (IdVet, France), and Flu Detect BE Avian Influenza Antibody Test<sup>(R)</sup> (Synbiotics, Kansas City, Missouri)) have not been thoroughly validated for use with wild bird species (Pérez-Ramírez et al., 2010; Claes et al., 2012). Although all three have been used in surveillance of wild birds, they have only been used to analyze <100 samples of naturally exposed birds without testing experimentally infected birds. The fourth ELISA, the Flockcheck AI multiS-screen antibody test kit® (IDEXX, USA) is very sensitive 100% (95% CI: 96.5, 100.0) and specific 86% (95% CI: 75.6, 87.4) in detecting antibodies in numerous experimentally infected wild bird species from 10 taxonomic orders, including the Anseriformes and Charadriiformes (Brown et al., 2009). Furthermore, this IDEXX assay has been used in several large scale wild bird AIV surveillance and has outperformed the AGID assay in both experimentally- and naturally-exposed birds (Brown et al., 2010b; Lebarbenchon et al., 2012a; Ishtiaq et al., 2012; Kistler et al., 2012). Although, the IDEXX ELISA is effective at detecting antibodies in wild birds, it does not provide information on subtype specific antibodies.

The HI assay is still the most commonly used assay to detect subtype specific antibodies in wild birds (Hlinak et al., 2009; Berhane et al., 2010; Kruckenberg et al., 2011; Sousa et al., 2013; Berhane et al., 2014). However, the HI assay relies antibodies to bind to IAV antigen to inhibit viral binding to red blood cells (usually chicken red blood cells) so sera from some

species can cause non-specific inhibition of red blood cells, leading to false positive results (Hilleman and Werner, 1953; Hartley et al., 1992). These inhibitors can be removed by treating sera with either a receptor destroying enzyme, heat inactivation, adsorption with red blood cells, perodate, or Kaolin (Springer and Ansell, 1958; Ryan-Poirier and Kawaoka, 1991; Subbarao et al., 1992; Kim et al., 2012a). These serum inhibitors are most important when testing samples from mammals (Hilleman and Werner, 1953; Ryan-Poirier and Kawaoka, 1991; Hartley et al., 1992). In addition to the HI assay, several subtype specific ELISAs have been recently developed; however, only one (ID Screen Influenza H5 Antibody Competition<sup>(R)</sup> (IDVET, France)) has been evaluated in experimentally infected waterfowl (Lebarbenchon et al., 2013b). This IDVET H5 ELISA performed well in experimentally infected waterfowl; however, the protocol had to be modified from the manufacturers protocol to perform adequately.

Historically, IAV serological studies were largely exploratory using HI assays to better define subtypes wild birds were exposed and antibody response after experimental infections (Easterday et al., 1968; Slemons and Easterday, 1972; Winkler et al., 1972; Hinshaw et al., 1985). Although not used frequently in wild birds, some studies used the AGID assay to detect precipitating antibodies to the matrix protein of IAVs (Bahl et al., 1975; Kocan et al., 1979; Stanislawek et al., 2002; Harris et al., 2010). This assay was used to better understand, which wild bird species were involved in the epidemiology of IAVs; although, the AGID assay was considered the gold standard in poultry, it performed poorly in wild waterfowl species (Beard, 1970; Brown et al., 2010a, 2010b). However, some studies still used the AGID to determine exposure of rare or endangered species (Nolting et al., 2013). As the interest in IAVs in wild birds grew there was a push to develop better serological assays to detect antibodies to IAVs across multiple species. This led to several commercial and academic laboratories to develop

blocking (competitive) ELISAs to detect IAV antibodies across multiple species (Jin et al., 2004; Pasick et al., 2007; Brown et al., 2009; Curran et al., 2013). These ELISAs led research focusing on validating these assays with sera from experimentally infected birds and wild birds with comparison to other assays (e.g. AGID) (Pasick et al., 2007; Pérez-Ramírez et al., 2010; Brown et al., 2010a; Claes et al., 2012; Lebarbenchon et al., 2013b). Once ELISAs were validated, studies began to focus on sampling wild birds that have not been traditionally associated with IAVs and on geographic areas where virus isolations cannot easily be done (Brown et al., 2010b; Ishtiaq et al., 2012; Lewis et al., 2013). Serological studies also began to focus on species that had been frequently sampled for virus isolation. This was done to better define the roles of species with few virus isolations played in the epidemiology of IAVs and to set a baseline to compare known reservoirs species to species whose exposure to IAVs is unknown (Brown et al., 2010a; Kistler et al., 2012). Experimental infection studies have used serological assays to better understand host response to infections. This has been done with single exposure and looking at the onset and duration of detectable antibodies (Pasick et al., 2007; Ferreira et al., 2010; Costa et al., 2011). Currently, field and experimental studies are using serology to understand how multiple infections and heterosubtypic immunity affect host immune response and drive IAV infection dynamics (Berhane et al., 2010, 2014; Fereidouni et al., 2010; Costa et al., 2010; Latorre-Margalef et al., 2013; Tolf et al., 2013).

#### Influenza A Viruses in Canada Geese

Numerous previous surveillance studies have tested Canada geese (*Branta canadensis*) for IAVs (Tables 1 and 2). These studies indicate that Canada geese are naturally- and experimentally-susceptible to infection with IAVs (Rosenberger et al., 1974; Nettles et al., 1985;

Pasick et al., 2007; Berhane et al., 2010, 2014) but virus isolation rates are lower when compared to other members of the Anatidae family (i.e. genus *Anas*) collected at the same time and locations (Hinshaw et al., 1985; Ip et al., 2007). Most importantly, these studies indicate that naturally-exposed geese develop a detectable antibody response (Easterday et al., 1968; Harris et al., 2010; Kistler et al., 2012). Experimental inoculations of Canada geese with IAVs showed similar results. Experimentally inoculated birds seroconverted, but shed low levels of detectable virus for only a short duration (Homme and Easterday, 1970; Winkler et al., 1972; Pasick et al., 2007; Berhane et al., 2010, 2014). Experimentally, infected Canada geese have higher shedding prevalences and duration of viral shedding is <6-days (Berhane et al., 2010, 2014). In contrast, experimentally infected dabbling ducks shed virus for 10 days or longer (Costa et al., 2011; Brown et al., 2012). Collectively, these results indicate that Canada geese are susceptible to infection with LPAI viruses, survive the infection, and seroconvert, but have only minimal viral shedding. Thus they are not likely important reservoirs or amplifying hosts for IAV.

Recent experimental infection studies of IAVs in Canada geese have provided some very valuable information on IAVs in geese. These studies indicate that infection with low pathogenic viruses usually requires multiple infections to provide a subtypes specific immune response and that some subtypes (i.e., H5) replicate better and elicit a more robust subtype-specific immune response that other subtypes (Berhane et al., 2010, 2014). These studies also showed that previous exposure to low pathogenic IAVs can be protective in reducing morbidity from infection with highly pathogenic H5N1 (Pasick et al., 2007; Berhane et al., 2010, 2014). They also demonstrated that antibodies to low pathogenic H5 hemagglutinin and N1 neuraminidase

proteins could likely provide some level of protective immunity to infection with high pathogenic H5N1 (Berhane et al., 2010, 2014).
| Reference  | Assay  | Positive/Sampled (%)  |
|--|--|---|
|  |  |   |
| Easterday et al. 1968  | HI <sup>a</sup>  | 8/12 (66)   |
| Winkler et al., 1972   | HI   | 66/1,401 (5)  |
|  | $AGP^{b}$  | 8/1,359 (0.6)   |
| Bahl et al. 1977   | HI and AGP   | 0/65 (0)  |
| Nettles et al. 1985  | HI and AGP   | 90/261 (34)   |
| Graves, 1992   | HI and EI <sup>c</sup>   | 4/28 (14)   |
| Pasick et al., 2007  | ELISA  | 10/24 (42)  |
| Harris et al., 2010  | AGP  | 4/336 (1.2)   |
| Claes et al., 2012   | ELISA  | 36/73 (49)  |
| Kistler et al., 2012   | ELISA  | 483/3,205 (15)  |
| Easterday et al. 1968<br>Winkler et al., 1972<br>Bahl et al. 1977<br>Nettles et al. 1985<br>Graves, 1992<br>Pasick et al., 2007<br>Harris et al., 2010<br>Claes et al., 2012<br>Kistler et al., 2012 | HIª<br>HI<br>AGP <sup>b</sup><br>HI and AGP<br>HI and AGP<br>HI and EI <sup>c</sup><br>ELISA<br>AGP<br>ELISA | 8/12 (66)<br>66/1,401 (5)<br>8/1,359 (0.6)<br>0/65 (0)<br>90/261 (34)<br>4/28 (14)<br>10/24 (42)<br>4/336 (1.2)<br>36/73 (49)<br>483/3,205 (15) |

Table 2.1. Studies that have tested Canada geese for antibodies to IAVs

<sup>a</sup>Hemagglutination inhibition assay <sup>b</sup>Agar gel precipitin assay (Agar gel immunodiffusion assay) <sup>c</sup>Elution inhibion assay

| Reference               | Positive/Sampled (%) |
|-------------------------|----------------------|
| Rosenberger et al. 1974 | 1/52 (2)             |
| Bahl et al., 1977       | 0/65 (0)             |
| Boudreault et al., 1980 | 7/4 (57)             |
| Smitka et al. 1981      | 0/11 (0)             |
| Deibel et al. 1983      | 0/275 (0)            |
| Nettles et al. 1985     | 2/1,504 (0.3)        |
| Hinshaw et al. 1986     | 0/277 (0)            |
| (Slemons et al., 1991)  | 0/315 (0)            |
| Graves, 1992            | 0/348 (0)            |
| Alfonso et al. 1995     | 0/5 (0)              |
| (Ito et al., 1995)      | 4/663 (0.6)          |
| Ip et al. 2008          | 4/249 (2)            |
| (Pannwitz et al., 2009) | 1/97 (1)             |
| (Harris et al., 2010)   | 0/1,668 (0)          |
| Total                   | 22/6,026 (0.4)       |

**Table 2.2.** Virus isolation results from Canada geese.

#### Influenza A Viruses in Wood Ducks

Wood ducks (Aix sponsa) have been sampled for IAVs in several studies; however, their role in the epidemiology of IAVs is still unclear. Most of these studies sampled <60 individuals and did not isolate any IAVs (Rosenberger et al., 1974; Bahl et al., 1975; Webster et al., 1976; Kocan et al., 1979; Nettles et al., 1985; Hinshaw et al., 1986; Slemons et al., 1991). Three studies included sample sizes >100, Deibel et al. (1983) isolated AIVs from 16 of 748 wood ducks, Wilcox et al., (2011) isolated a single IAV from 206 wood ducks, and Goekjian et al. (2011) did not isolate any IAVs from 348 ducks. Two more studies detected increased (>8%) viral shedding in wood ducks (Hinshaw et al., 1985; Slemons et al., 2003). Slemons et al., (2003) detected viral shedding in 11% of wood ducks during a 1-week window and Hinshaw et al., (1985) isolated IAVs from 8% of wood ducks. One study conducted in Canada detected virus in 68% (71/104) wood ducks. This study used RT-PCR, which is more sensitive than virus isolation but does not ensure viable virus was detected (Parmley et al., 2008). Only two studies have attempted to detect IAV antibodies in wild wood ducks and although both failed to detect any antibodies, one study only sampled three birds (Brown et al., 2010a) and the other study used the less sensitive AGID assay (Kocan et al., 1979).

Experimental infection studies with wood ducks have been conducted using both high pathogenic IAVs and low pathogenic IAVs. Wood ducks were susceptible to high pathogenic IAVs, shed detectable amounts of virus, and developed antibodies as a result of infection (Brown et al., 2007, 2009). Wood ducks also showed a high level of morbidity and mortality after infection with HP H5N1. After inoculation with low pathogenic IAVs, wood ducks shed virus mainly via the oropharyngeal route and developed detectable antibodies (Costa et al., 2011). Collectively, these data indicated that wood ducks are susceptible to infection and seroconvert;

however, viral shedding in naturally occurring populations appears to be very restricted both temporally and spatially.

## Influenza A Viruses in Mute Swans

In North America, only two studies have tested free-ranging mute swans (*Cygnus olor*) for IAVs and both detected a low prevalence (<1%) of virus shedding (Graves, 1992; Pedersen et al., 2014). Both studies also tested for antibodies to IAVs. Graves (1992) detected antibodies to H2, H5, H6, and H11 subtypes in >30% of mute swans in Maryland using the HI assay. Interestingly, the single virus isolate obtained by Graves (1992) was an H13N6 subtype and swans had antibodies to this subtype. This same subtype was also detected in ring-billed gulls during the same year and location (Graves 1992). Pedersen et al., (2014) detected isolation of IAVs from 31 of 390 (0.8%) mute swans from Massachusetts, Michigan, New Jersey, New York, Rhode Island, and Wisconsin. Antibodies to AIV were detected in 45% of 344 mute swans, but because birds were tested with a commercial bELISA (IDEXX), no subtype data was available.

Mute swans are native to Europe and are a large conspicuous bird that were frequently found dead during outbreaks of highly pathogenic H5N1 in Europe and Asia (Nagy et al., 2007; Starick et al., 2008; Globig et al., 2009; Feare, 2010; Fink et al., 2010; Pybus et al., 2012). These studies show that mute swans are susceptible with highly pathogenic H5N1 infections and morbidity and mortality are often seen during these outbreaks (Teifke et al., 2007; Globig et al., 2009; Nagy et al., 2012). The morbidity and mortality associated with highly pathogenic H5N1 in wild mute swans has also been reported in in experimentally infected birds (Brown et al., 2008; Kalthoff et al., 2008). A highly pathogenic H5N1 outbreak was documented in a heavily

monitored flock of mute swans in the United Kingdom and interestingly most of the birds that died were young birds (<3-years-old) (Pybus et al., 2012). Because these birds were heavily monitored, serum samples were available from previous years, and testing indicated that older birds were more likely to have antibodies which suggested that previous exposure to IAVs may have provided protection to infection with highly pathogenic H5N1.

# Avian Paramyxoviruses

Avian paramyxoviruses (APMVs) are single stranded, negative sense RNA viruses from the genus *Avulavirus* (Lamb and Parks, 2013). To date, 13 avian paramyxoviruses have been identified from wild birds and they are classified as Newcastle Disease Virus (NDV; pseudonym APMV-1) and APMV-2 - APMV-12) (Miller et al., 2010; Dundon et al., 2012; Lamb and Parks, 2013). These viruses contain six genes that code for six proteins: nucleoprotein, phosphoprotein, matrix protein, fusion protein, large polymerase protein and hemagglutinin-neuraminidase protein (Lamb and Parks, 2007) (Subbiah et al., 2008; Samuel et al., 2009, 2010; Lamb and Parks, 2013), with the exception of APMV-6, which contains an additional small hydrophobic gene encoding for a small hydrophobic protein (Chang et al., 2001).

Avian paramyxoviruses are classified using hemagglutination inhibition assay (Alexander, 1980; Alexander et al., 1983; Alexander and Senne, 2008). Because Newcastle Disease Virus is an important pathogen of domestic poultry, considerable work has been done on this virus (Alexander et al., 2012). Like certain subtypes of IAVs, serotypes of APMVs are considered highly pathogenic. The other APMVs are less well studies; however, APMV-2 and APMV-3 can cause disease in poultry (Bradshaw and Jensen, 1978; Tumova et al., 1979). Avian paramyxovirus-5 is unique among APMVs because unlike the other APMVs it cannot be

cultured in embryonated chicken eggs and has only been reported from outbreaks of disease in Budgerigars (*Melopsittacua undulates*) (Mustaffa-Babjee et al., 1974; Nerome et al., 1978).

Similar to IAVs, detection of APMVs in both poultry and wild birds has traditionally relied on virus isolation in specific-pathogen free embryonated chicken eggs followed by hemagglutination assay on allantoic fluid and RT-PCR to identify the virus present (Alexander and Senne, 2008). With advancements in molecular methods, labs can now quickly detect NDV RNA in clinical samples using real time RT-PCR targeting the matrix gene (Wise et al., 2004; Hines et al., 2012). However, detecting the presence of other APMVs relies on using RT-PCR to detect viral RNA to each subtype specifically and/or using hemagglutination inhibition assay and anti-sera from each of the APMVs which has greatly hindered large-scale studies (Alexander and Senne, 2008). However, recently, a new set of universal Paramyxoviridae family primers was described which are reported to amplify a 121 bp fragment of the polymerase gene for all tested AMPVs (van Boheemen et al., 2012). This protocol decreases the time needed to determine if allantoic fluid contains RNA from a virus in the Paramyxoviridae family; however, post RT-PCR processing (sequencing) or using another assay, such as the hemagglutination inhibition assay, is needed to determine what subtype was isolated.

### Avian Paramyxoviruses in Wild Birds

What is known about APMVs in wild birds is in large part due to research on IAVs because isolation methods for IAVs will also isolate APMVs (see above). Avian paramyxoviruses have been reported from several waterfowl species from various locations in the United States (Hinshaw et al., 1985; Nettles et al., 1985; Stallknecht et al., 1991; Hanson et al., 2005; Goekjian et al., 2011). Much like IAVs in waterfowl, APMVs are not associated with

any clinical disease, even in experimentally infected ducklings (Kim et al., 2012b). Among waterfowl in North America the most common APMVs isolated have been NDV, APMV-2, APMV-4, APMV-6, and APMV-8 with APMV-3 and APMV-7 being isolated infrequently (Kocan et al., 1979; Alexander, 1980; Vickers and Hanson, 1982; Hinshaw et al., 1985; Stallknecht et al., 1991; Hanson et al., 2005). Unlike IAVs, there does not appear to be a clear temporal or spatial distribution in the circulation of APMVs with viruses being isolated in >10% of birds sampled on wintering grounds (Hanson et al. 2005). Although, one study reported peak viral shedding of NDV in wood ducks occurred in late July and early August in North Carolina (Goekjian et al. 2011). It has not been thoroughly investigated, but transmission of APMVs in waterfowl is believed to be by the fecal-oral route, because the virus is readily isolated from cloacal swabs and ducks are able to become infected by oral inoculation (Vickers and Hanson 1982; Hanson et al. 2005). Outside of waterfowl disease has been documented with infection of NDV. Epornitics from NDV have been documented in double-crested cormorants (*Phalacrocorax auritus*) (Kuiken et al., 1998; Glaser et al., 1999).

Serology of APMVs in wild birds has been poorly studied and because of this very little information is known about exposure to these viruses. Only two studies have been conducted on ducks in North America. These studies only looked for antibodies to NDV and detected prevalence <16% in several waterfowl species (Kocan et al., 1979; Vickers and Hanson, 1982). Another study found NDV antibody prevalence in >90% of double-crested cormorants in nesting colonies in Michigan (Cross et al., 2013). Outside of North America two studies have analyzed exposure of waterfowl to APMVs. One study conducted in Spain found antibodies to NDV, APMV-2, and APMV-3 (Maldonado et al., 1995). The other study in New Zealand found antibodies to NDV and APMV2-APMV9 in mallards (Stanislawek et al., 2002). Research on APMVs other than NDV is largely surveillance studies in wild birds. Other than APMV-2, APMV-3, and APMV-5 there has not been any disease associated with these viruses (Bradshaw and Jensen, 1978; Nerome et al., 1978; Tumova et al., 1979). One study has done serologic screening for nine APMV serotypes in poultry and detected antibodies to serotypes 1-9 with NDV having the highest titers (Warke et al., 2008a). Experimentally, mild disease has been seen in chickens challenged with APMV-3 and APMV-4 (Warke et al., 2008b; Nayak et al., 2012). In experimentally infected ducks no disease was reported after challenge with NDV and APMV-2-APMV-9 (Kim et al., 2012b). This study found no evidence of APMV-5 replication in ducks.

## References

ALEXANDER, D., V. HINSHAW, M. COLLINS, AND N. YAMANE. 1983. Characterization of viruses which represent further distinct serotypes (PMV-8 and PMV-9) of avian paramyxoviruses. Archives of Virology 36: 29–36.

- ALEXANDER, D. J. 2000. A review of avian influenza in different bird species. Veterinary Microbiology 74: 3–13.
- ALEXANDER, D. J., E. W. ALDOUS, AND C. M. FULLER. 2012. The long view: a selective review of 40 years of Newcastle disease research. Avian Pathology 41: 329–35. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22834545.
- ALEXANDER, D. J., G. PARSONS, AND R. J. MANVELL. 1986. Experimental assessment of the pathogenicity of eight avian influenza A viruses of H5 subtype for chickens, turkeys, ducks and quail. Avian Pathology 15: 647–662.

ALEXANDER, D. J. 1980. Avian paramyxoviruses. Veterinary Bulletin 50: 737.

- ALEXANDER, D. J., AND D. A. SENNE. 2008. Newcastle diseases virus and other avian paramyxoviruses, 5th edition. *In* Laboratory Manual for the Isolation, Identification, and Characterization of Avian Pathogens. L. Dufour-Zavala, D. E. Swayne, J. R. Glisson, J. E. Pearson, W. M. Reed, M. W. Jackwood, and P. R. Woolcock (eds.). American Association of Avian Pathologists, Athens, GA. pp. 135–141.
- ALFONSO, C. P., B. S. COWEN, AND H. V. CAMPEN. 1995. Influenza A viruses isolated from waterfowl in two wildlife management areas of Pennsylvania. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 31: 179–185.
- BAHL, A. K., B. S. POMEROY, B. C. EASTERDAY, AND S. MANGUNDIMEDJO. 1975. Isolation of type A influenza viruses from the migratory waterfowl along the Mississippi Flyway. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 11: 360–363.
- BAHL, A. K., B. S. POMEROY, S. MANGUNDIMDJO, and B.C. EASTERDAY. 1977. Isolation of type
   A influenza and Newcastle Disease viruses from migratory waterfowl in the Mississippi
   Flyway. Journal of American Veterinary Medical Association 171: 949-951.

BAHL, J., S. KRAUSS, D. KÜHNERT, M. FOURMENT, G. RAVEN, S. P. PRYOR, L. J. NILES, A.
DANNER, D. WALKER, I. H. MENDENHALL, Y. C. F. SU, V. G. DUGAN, R. A HALPIN, T. B.
STOCKWELL, R. J. WEBBY, D. E. WENTWORTH, A. J. DRUMMOND, G. J. D. SMITH, AND R. G.
WEBSTER. 2013. Influenza a virus migration and persistence in north american wild birds.
PLoS pathogens 9: e1003570. Retrieved September 16, 2013, from
http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3757048&tool=pmcentrez&re
ndertype=abstract.

BAUMER, A., J. FELDMANN, S. RENZULLO, M. MÜLLER, B. THÜR, AND M. A HOFMANN. 2010. Epidemiology of avian influenza virus in wild birds in Switzerland between 2006 and 2009. Avian diseases 54: 875–84. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20608533.

- BEARD, C. W. 1970. Avian influenza antibody detection by immunodiffusion. Avian Disease 14: 337-341.
- BERHANE, Y., C. EMBURY-HYATT, M. LEITH, H. KEHLER, M. SUDERMAN, AND J. PASICK. 2014.
  Pre-exposing Canada Geese (Branta canadensis) to a low-pathogenic H1N1 avian influenza virus protects them against H5N1 HPAI virus challenge. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 50: 84–97. Retrieved March 2, 2014, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24171557.
- BERHANE, Y., M. LEITH, J. NEUFELD, S. BABIUK, T. HISANAGA, H. KEHLER, J. P. A, C. EMBURY-HYATT, K. HOOPER-MCGREVY, AND J. PASICK. 2010. Studying possible cross-protection of Canada geese preexposed to North American low pathogenicity avian influenza virus strains (H3N8, H4N6, and H5N2) against an H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza challenge. Avian Diseases 54: 548–554. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20521692.
- BOTH, G. W., M. J. SLEIGH, N. J. COX, AND A P. KENDAL. 1983. Antigenic drift in influenza virus H3 hemagglutinin from 1968 to 1980: multiple evolutionary pathways and sequential amino acid changes at key antigenic sites. Journal of virology 48: 52–60. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=255321&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.
- BRADSHAW, G. L., AND M. M. JENSEN. 1978. The epidemiology of Yucaipa Virus in relationship to the acute respiratory disease syndrome in turkeys. Avian Diseases 23: 539–542.

BROWN, J. D., R. D. BERGHAUS, T. P. COSTA, R. POULSON, D. L. CARTER, C. LEBARBENCHON, AND
D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2012. Intestinal Excretion of a Wild Bird-Origin H3N8 Low
Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus in Mallards (Anas Platyrhynchos). Journal of Wildlife
Diseases 48: 991–8. Retrieved October 15, 2012, from
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23060500.

- BROWN, J. D., M. P. LUTTRELL, R. D. BERGHAUS, W. KISTLER, S. P. KEELER, A. HOWEY, B.
  WILCOX, J. HALL, L. NILES, A. DEY, G. KNUTSEN, K. FRITZ, AND D. E. STALLKNECHT.
  2010a. Prevalence of antibodies to type a influenza virus in wild avian species using two serologic assays. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 46: 896–911. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20688695.
- BROWN, J. D., M. P. LUTTRELL, M. M. UHART, H. DEL VALLE FERREYRA, M. M. ROMANO, M. V. RAGO, AND D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2010b. Antibodies to type A influenza virus in wild waterbirds from Argentina. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 46: 1040–1045. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20688720.
- BROWN, J. D., D. E. STALLKNECHT, R. D. BERGHAUS, M. P. LUTTRELL, K. VELEK, W. KISTLER, T.
  P. COSTA, M. J. YABSLEY, AND D. SWAYNE. 2009. Evaluation of a commercial blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay to detect avian influenza virus antibodies in multiple experimentally infected avian species. Clinical and Vaccine Immunology 16: 824–829. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19386796.
- BROWN, J. D., D. E. STALLKNECHT, AND D. E. SWAYNE. 2008. Experimental Infection of Swans and Geese with Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus (H5N1) of Asian Lineage. Emerging Infectious Diseases 14: 136–142.

CHANG, P. C., M. L. HSIEH, J. H. SHIEN, D. A GRAHAM, M. S. LEE, AND H. K. SHIEH. 2001. Complete nucleotide sequence of avian paramyxovirus type 6 isolated from ducks. The Journal of General Virology 82: 2157–68. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11514725.

- CHEN, W., P. A. CALVO, D. MALIDE, J. GIBBS, U. SCHUBERT, I. BACIK, S. BASTA, R. O'NEILL, J. SCHICKLI, P. PALESE, P. HENKLEIN, J. R. BENNINK, AND J. W. YEWDELL. 2001. A novel influenza A virus mitochondrial protein that induces cell death. Nature Medicine 7: 1306– 1312.
- CLAAS, E. C., A D. OSTERHAUS, R. VAN BEEK, J. C. DE JONG, G. F. RIMMELZWAAN, D. A SENNE, S. KRAUSS, K. F. SHORTRIDGE, AND R. G. WEBSTER. 1998. Human influenza A H5N1 virus related to a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus. Lancet 351: 472–477. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9482438.
- CLAES, G., D. VANGELUWE, Y. VAN DER STEDE, T. VAN DEN BERG, B. LAMBRECHT, AND S. MARCHÉ. 2012. Evaluation of four enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays for the serologic survey of avian influenza in wild bird species. Avian Diseases 56: 949–954. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23402117.

COMPANS, R. W., H. KLENK, L. A. CALIGUIRI, AND P. W. CHOPPIN. 1970. Influenza virus proteins:
I. Analysis of polypeptides of the virion and identification of spike glycoproteins.
Virology 42: 880–889. Retrieved March 6, 2014, from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0042682270903375.

COSTA, T. P., J. D. BROWN, E. W. HOWERTH, AND D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2010. Effect of a prior exposure to a low pathogenic avian influenza virus in the outcome of a heterosubtypic

low pathogenic avian influenza infection in mallards (Anas platyrhynchos). Avian Diseases 54: 1286–1291. Retrieved from

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21313851.

\_\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_, AND \_\_\_\_\_. 2011. Variation in viral shedding patterns between different wild bird species infected experimentally with low-pathogenicity avian influenza viruses that originated from wild birds. Avian Pathology 40: 119–124. Retrieved April 20, 2011, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21500030.

- CRAWFORD, P. C., E. J. DUBOVI, W. L. CASTLEMAN, I. STEPHENSON, E. P. J. GIBBS, L. CHEN, C.
  SMITH, R. C. HILL, P. FERRO, J. POMPEY, R. A BRIGHT, M.-J. MEDINA, C. M. JOHNSON, C.
  W. OLSEN, N. J. COX, A. I. KLIMOV, J. M. KATZ, AND R. O. DONIS. 2005. Transmission of equine influenza virus to dogs. Science 310: 482–485. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21711279.
- CROSS, T. A., D. M. ARSNOE, R. B. MINNIS, D. T. KING, S. SWAFFORD, K. PEDERSEN, AND J. C. OWEN. 2013. Prevalence of avian paramyxovirus 1 and avian influenza virus in doublecrested cormorants (phalacrocorax auritus) in eastern north america. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 49: 965–977. Retrieved March 19, 2014, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24502724.
- CURRAN, J. M., I. D. ROBERTSON, T. M. ELLIS, P. W. SELLECK, AND M. A O'DEA. 2013. Variation in the responses of wild species of duck, gull, and wader to inoculation with a wild-birdorigin H6N2 low pathogenicity avian influenza virus. Avian diseases 57: 581–586. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24283122.

DEIBEL, R., D. E. EMORD, W. DUKELOW, V. S. HINSHAW, AND J. M. WOOD. 1983. Influenza

viruses and paramyxoviruses in ducks in the Atlantic flyway, 1977-1983, including an H5N2 isolate related to the virulent chicken virus. Avian Diseases 29: 970–985. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3833237.

DELOGU, M., M. A DE MARCO, L. DI TRANI, E. RAFFINI, C. COTTI, S. PUZELLI, F. OSTANELLO, R.G. WEBSTER, A. CASSONE, AND I. DONATELLI. 2010. Can preening contribute to influenza A virus infection in wild waterbirds? PloS one 5: e11315. Retrieved March 24, 2014, from

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2892510&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.

- DONG, G., C. XU, C. WANG, B. WU, J. LUO, H. ZHANG, D. L. NOLTE, T. J. DELIBERTO, M. DUAN, G. JI, AND H. HE. 2011. Reassortant H9N2 Influenza Viruses Containing H5N1-Like PB1
  Genes Isolated from Black-Billed Magpies in Southern China. PLoS ONE 6: e25808.
  Retrieved October 5, 2011, from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0025808.
- DRAKE, J. W. 1993. Rates of spontaneous mutation among RNA viruses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 90: 4171–5. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10415476.
- DUNDON, W. G., A. HEIDARI, A. FUSARO, I. MONNE, M. S. BEATO, G. CATTOLI, G. KOCH, E.
  STARICK, I. H. BROWN, E. W. ALDOUS, F.-X. BRIAND, G. LE GALL-RECULÉ, V. JESTIN, P. H.
  JØRGENSEN, M. BERG, S. ZOHARI, G. METREVELI, M. MUNIR, K. STÅHL, E. ALBINA, S.
  HAMMOUMI, P. GIL, R. S. DE ALMEIDA, K. SMIETANKA, K. DOMAŃSKA-BLICHARZ, Z.
  MINTA, S. VAN BORM, T. VAN DEN BERG, A. M. MARTIN, I. BARBIERI, AND I. CAPUA. 2012.
  Genetic data from avian influenza and avian paramyxoviruses generated by the European network of excellence (EPIZONE) between 2006 and 2011--review and

recommendations for surveillance. Veterinary Microbiology 154: 209–221. Retrieved December 19, 2011, from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21925809</u>.

- EASTERDAY, B. C., B. TUMOVA, H. G. PEREIRA, and D. O. TRAINER. 1968. Evidence of infection with influenza viruses in migratory waterfowl. Nature 219: 523-524.
- FEARE, C. J. 2010. Role of wild birds in the spread of highly pathogenic avian influenza virus H5N1 and implications for global surveillance. Avian Diseases 54: 201–212.
- FEREIDOUNI, S. R., C. GRUND, R. HÄUSLAIGNER, E. LANGE, H. WILKING, T. C. HARDER, M. BEER, AND E. STARICK. 2010. Dynamics of specific antibody responses induced in mallards after infection by or immunization with low pathogenicity avian influenza viruses. Avian Diseases 54: 79–85. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20408403.
- FERREIRA, H. L., A. C. D. J. FRANC, A. B. KASPERS, B. S. KOTHLOW, AND B. T. VAN DEN BERG. 2010. Development of specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays to evaluate the duck immune response after experimental infection with H5N1 and H7N1 low pathogenic avian influenza viruses. Avian Diseases: 660–667.
- FERRO, P. J., A. O. KHAN, A. M. J. PETERSON, B. D. BATCHULUUN, C. S. M. REDDY, AND B. L. AD. 2012. Avian Influenza Virus Surveillance in Hunter-Harvested Waterfowl, Texas Coast, September 2009 – January 2010. Avian Diseases 56: 1006–1009.
- FINK, M., S. REVILLA FERNÁNDEZ, H. SCHOBESBERGER, AND J. KOEFER. 2010. Geographical spread of highly pathogenic Avian Influenza Virus (HPAIV) H5N1 during the 2006 outbreak in Austria. Journal of Virology 84: 5815–5823. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20335251.

FORREST, H. L., J.-K. KIM, AND R. G. WEBSTER. 2010. Virus Shedding and Potential for

Interspecies Waterborne Transmission of Highly Pathogenic H5N1 in Sparrows and Chickens. Journal of virology 84: 3718–3720. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20089659.

FOUCHIER, R. A. M., T. M. BESTEBROER, S. HERFST, L. VAN DER KEMP, G. F. RIMMELZWAAN, AND
A. D. M. E. OSTERHAUS. 2000. Detection of influenza A viruses from different species by
PCR amplification of conserved sequences in the matrix gene. Journal of Clinical
Microbiology 38: 4096–101. Retrieved from
http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=87547&tool=pmcentrez&rend
ertype=abstract.

FOUCHIER, R. A. M., V. MUNSTER, A. WALLENSTEN, T. M. BESTEBROER, S. HERFST, D. SMITH, G.
F. RIMMELZWAAN, AND A. D. M. E. OSTERHAUS. 2005. Characterization of a Novel
Influenza A Virus Hemagglutinin Subtype (H16) Obtained from Black-Headed Gulls †.
79: 2814–2822.

FRANÇA, M., D. E. STALLKNECHT, AND E. W. HOWERTH. 2013. Expression and distribution of sialic acid influenza virus receptors in wild birds. Avian pathology : journal of the W.V.P.A 42: 60–71. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23391183.

GERHARD, W., AND R. G. WEBSTER. 1978. Antigenic drift in influenza A viruses. I. Selection and characterization of antigenic variants of A/PR/8/34 (HON1) influenza virus with monoclonal antibodies. The Journal of Experimental Medicine 148: 383–392. Retrieved from

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2184934&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.

- GLASER, L. C., I. K. BARKER, D. V. C. WESELOH, J. LUDWIG, M. RONALD, D. W. KEY, AND T. K. BOLLINGER. 1999. The 1992 epizootic of Newcastle Disease in double-crested cormorants in North America. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 35: 319–330.
- GLOBIG, A., C. STAUBACH, M. BEER, U. KÖPPEN, W. FIEDLER, M. NIEBURG, H. WILKING, E.
  STARICK, J. P. TEIFKE, O. WERNER, F. UNGER, C. GRUND, C. WOLF, H. ROOST, F.
  FELDHUSEN, F. J. CONRATHS, T. C. METTENLEITER, AND T. C. HARDER. 2009.
  Epidemiological and ornithological aspects of outbreaks of highly pathogenic avian influenza virus H5N1 of Asian lineage in wild birds in Germany, 2006 and 2007.
  Transboundary and Emerging Diseases 56: 57–72. Retrieved July 14, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19267878.
- GOEKJIAN, V. H., J. T. SMITH, D. L. HOWELL, D. A SENNE, D. E. SWAYNE, AND D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2011. Avian influenza viruses and avian paramyxoviruses in wintering and breeding waterfowl populations in North Carolina, USA. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 47: 240– 245. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21270016.
- GRAVES, I. L. 1992. Influenza viruses in birds of the Atlantic flyway. Avian Diseases 36: 1–10.
- HANSON, B. A, D. E. SWAYNE, D. A SENNE, D. S. LOBPRIES, J. HURST, AND D. E. STALLKNECHT.
  2005. Avian influenza viruses and paramyxoviruses in wintering and resident ducks in Texas. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 41: 624–628. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16244076.
- HANSON, B. A., M. P. LUTTRELL, V. H. GOEKJIAN, L. NILES, D. E. SWAYNE, D. A. SENNE, AND D.E. S. IS. 2008. Is the occurrence of avian influenza virus in Charadriiformes species and location dependent. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 44: 351–361.

- HANSON, B. A., D. E. STALLKNECHT, D. E. SWAYNE, L. A. LEWIS, AND D. A. SENNE. 2003. Avian influenza viruses in Minnesota ducks during 1998-2000. Avian Diseases 47: 867–871. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14575079.
- HARRIS, M. T., J. D. BROWN, V. H. GOEKJIAN, M. P. LUTTRELL, R. L. POULSON, B. R. WILCOX, D.
  E. SWAYNE, AND D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2010. Canada geese and the epidemiology of avian influenza viruses. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 46: 981–987. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20688710.
- HARTLEY, C. A., D. C. JACKSON, AND E. M. ANDERS. 1992. To distinct serum mannose-binding lectings function as β inhibitors of influenza virus: Identification of bovine serum β inhibitors as conglutinin. Journal of Virology 66: 4358–4363.
- HILLEMAN, M. R., AND J. H. WERNER. 1953. Influence of non-specific inhibitor on the diagnostic hemagglutination-inhibition test for influenza. Journal of Immunology 71: 110–117.
- HINES, N. L., M. L. KILLIAN, J. C. PEDERSEN, M. M. REISING, N. A MOSOS, C. MATHIEU-BENSON, AND C. L. MILLER. 2012. An rRT-PCR assay to detect the matrix gene of a broad range of avian paramyxovirus serotype-1 strains. Avian Diseases 56: 387–395. Retrieved September 27, 2012, from http://www.aaapjournals.info/doi/abs/10.1637/10035-120811-Reg.1.
- HINSHAW, V. S., R. G. WEBSTER, AND B. TURNER. 1978. Novel influenza A viruses isolated from Canadian feral ducks: including strains antigenically related to swine influenza (Hsw1N1) viruses. The Journal of General Virology 41: 115–127. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/81267</u>.

HINSHAW, V.S., R.G. WEBSTER, and B. TURNER. 1979. Water-borne transmission of influenza A

viruses. Intervirology 11: 66-68.

- HINSHAW, V. S., J. M. WOOD, R. G. WEBSTER, R. DEIBEL, AND B. TURNER. 1985. Circulating influenza and paramyxoviruses in waterfowl from two different location in North America. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 63: 711–719.
- HLINAK, A. G. A., B. C. FREULING, A. R. U. MU, C. A. ENGELHARDT, B. A. GLOBIG, D. C.
  SCHULZE, B. E. STARICK, D. U. EGGERS, T. MU, B. SASS, AND D. WALLSCHLA. 2009.
  Virological Monitoring of White Storks (Ciconia ciconia) for Avian Influenza. Avian Diseases: 578–584.
- HOMME, P. J., AND B. C. EASTERDAY. 1970. Avian influenza virus infections. IV. Response of pheasants, ducks, and geese to influenza A-turkey-Wisconsin-1966 virus. Avian diseases 14: 285–90. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/5427235.
- HORIMOTO, T., E. RIVERA, C. PERSON, D. SENNE, S. KRAUSS, Y. KAWAOKA, AND R. G. WEBSTER. 1995. Origin and molecular changes associated with the emergence of HPAI H5N2 in Mexico. Virology 213: 223–230.
- HOYE, B. J., V. J. MUNSTER, H. NISHIURA, M. KLAASSEN, AND R. A. M. FOUCHIER. 2010.
  Surveillance of Wild Birds for Avian Influenza Virus. Emerging Infectious Diseases 16: 1824–1834. Retrieved January 26, 2011, from http://www.cdc.gov/eid/content/16/12/1827.htm.
- IP, H. S., P. L. FLINT, J. C. FRANSON, R. J. DUSEK, D. V DERKSEN, R. E. G. JR, C. R. ELY, J. M.
  PEARCE, R. B. LANCTOT, S. M. MATSUOKA, D. B. IRONS, J. B. FISCHER, R. M. OATES, M.
  R. PETERSEN, T. F. FONDELL, D. A. ROCQUE, J. C. PEDERSEN, AND T. C. ROTHE. 2007.
  Prevalence of Influenza A viruses in wild migratory birds in Alaska : Patterns of variation

in detection at a crossroads of intercontinental. Virology Journal 10: 71.

- ISHTIAQ, F., M. GILBERT, J. BROWN, P. JOYNER, R. SODNOMDARJAA, M. P. LUTTRELL, D. STALLKNECHT, AND D. O. JOLY. 2012. Antibodies to Influenza A Virus in Wild Birds across Mongolia, 2006-2009. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 48: 768–775. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22740544.
- ITO, T., J. N. COUCEIRO, S. KELM, L. G. BAUM, S. KRAUSS, M. R. CASTRUCCI, I. DONATELLI, H. KIDA, J. C. PAULSON, R. G. WEBSTER, AND Y. KAWAOKA. 1998. Molecular basis for the generation in pigs of influenza A viruses with pandemic potential. Journal of virology 72: 7367–73. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=109961&tool=pmcentrez&ren

dertype=abstract.

- ITO, T., AND Y. KAWAOKA. 2000. Host-range barrier of influenza A viruses. Veterinary Microbiology 74: 71–75. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10799779.
- ITO, T., K. OKAZAKP, Y. KAWAOKA, A. TAKADA, R. G. WEBSTER, AND H. KIDA. 1995. Perpetuation of influenza A viruses in Alaskan waterfowl reservoirs. Archives of Virology 140: 1163– 1172.
- JAGGER, B. W., H. M. WISE, J. C. KASH, K. A. WALTERS, N. M. WILLS, Y. L. XIAO, R. L. DUNFEE, L. M. SCHWARTZMAN, A. OZINSKY, G. L. BELL, R. M. DALTON, A. LO, S. EFSTATHIOU, J. F. ATKINS, A. E. FIRTH, J. K. TAUBENBERGER, AND P. DIGARD. 2012. An overlapping proteincoding region in influenza A virus segment 3 modulates the host response. Science 165: 199–204.

- JIN, M., G. WANG, R. ZHANG, S. ZHAO, H. LI, Y. TAN, AND H. CHEN. 2004. Development of enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay with nucleoprotein as antigen for detection of antibodies to avian influenza virus. Avian Diseases 48: 870–888. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17225082.
- JOURDAIN, E., D. VAN RIEL, V. J. MUNSTER, T. KUIKEN, J. WALDENSTRÖM, B. OLSEN, AND P. ELLSTRÖM. 2011. The pattern of influenza virus attachment varies among wild bird species. PloS one 6: e24155. Retrieved September 7, 2011, from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3164702&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.
- KALTHOFF, D., A. BREITHAUPT, J. P. TEIFKE, A. GLOBIG, T. HARDER, T. C. METTENLEITER, AND M.
  BEER. 2008. Highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (H5N1) in experimentally infected adult mute swans. Emerging Infectious Diseases 14: 1267–1270. Retrieved July 14, 2012, from

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2600380&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.

- KANG, H.-M., J.-G. CHOI, M.-C. KIM, H.-R. KIM, J.-K. OEM, Y.-C. BAE, M.-R. PAEK, J.-H. KWON, AND Y.-J. LEE. 2012. Isolation of a reassortant H13N2 virus from a mallard fecal sample in South Korea. Virology journal 9: 133. Retrieved from <u>http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3423068&tool=pmcentrez&re</u> ndertype=abstract.
- KAWAOKA, Y., T. M. CHAMBERS, W. L. SLADEN, and R. G. WEBSTER. 1988. "Is the gene pool of influenza viruses in shorebirds and gulls different from that in wild ducks?" Virology 163: 247-250.

KAWAOKA, Y., S. YAMNIKOVA, T. M. CHAMBERS, D. K. LVOV, AND R. G. WEBSTER. 1990.
Molecular characterization of a new hemagglutinin, subtype H14, of influenza A virus.
Virology 179: 759–767. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23169971.

KAYALI, G., S. F. SETTERQUIST, A. W. CAPUANO, K. P. MYERS, J. S. GILL, AND G. C. GRAY. 2008.
Testing human sera for antibodies against avian influenza viruses: horse RBC
hemagglutination inhibition vs. microneutralization assays. Journal of clinical virology :
the official publication of the Pan American Society for Clinical Virology 43: 73–8.
Retrieved October 12, 2011, from

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2574547&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.

- KIM, H.-R., K.-K. LEE, Y.-K. KWON, M.-S. KANG, O.-K. MOON, AND C.-K. PARK. 2012a. Comparison of serum treatments to remove nonspecific inhibitors from chicken sera for the hemagglutination inhibition test with inactivated H5N1 and H9N2 avian Influenza A virus subtypes. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 24: 954–958. Retrieved October 23, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22807505.
- KIM, S.-H., S. XIAO, H. SHIVE, P. L. COLLINS, AND S. K. SAMAL. 2012b. Replication, neurotropism, and pathogenicity of avian paramyxovirus serotypes 1–9 in chickens and ducks. PLoS ONE 7: e34927. Retrieved May 7, 2012, from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0034927.
- KISTLER, W. M., D. E. STALLKNECHT, T. J. DELIBERTO, S. SWAFFORD, K. PEDERSEN, K. VAN WHY,
  P. C. WOLF, J. A HILL, D. L. BRUNING, J. C. CUMBEE, R. M. MICKLEY, C. W. BETSILL, A. R.
  RANDALL, R. D. BERGHAUS, AND M. J. YABSLEY. 2012. Antibodies to Avian Influenza
  Viruses in Canada Geese (Branta canadensis): A Potential Surveillance Tool? Journal of

Wildlife Diseases 48: 1097–1101. Retrieved October 22, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23060517.

- KOCAN, A. A., V. S. HINSHAW, AND G. A DAUBNEY. 1980. Influenza A viruses isolated from migrating ducks in Oklahoma. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 16: 281–5. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7431529.
- KOCAN, A., M. SHAW, AND P. MORGAN. 1979. Some parasitic and infectious diseases in waterfowl in Oklahoma. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 15: 137–141.
- KRAUSS, S., D. WALKER, S. P. PRYOR, L. NILES, L. I. CHENGHONG, V. S. HINSHAW, AND R. G.
  WEBSTER. 2004. Influenza A viruses of migrating wild aquatic birds in North America.
  Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases 4: 177–189.
- KRUCKENBERG, H., T. MÜLLER, C. FREULING, R.-U. MÜHLE, A. GLOBIG, H. SCHIRRMEIER, M.
  BUSS, T. HARDER, M. KRAMER, K. TESKE, K. POLDERDIJK, D. WALLSCHLÄGER, AND A.
  HLINAK. 2011. Serological and virological survey and resighting of marked wild geese in
  Germany. European Journal of Wildlife Research 57: 1025–1032. Retrieved March 7,
  2011, from http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/s10344-011-0514-1.
- KRUG, R. M., AND P. R. ETKIND. 1973. Cytoplasmic and nuclear virus-specific proteins in influenza virus infected MDCK cells. Virology 56: 334–348.
- KUIKEN, T., F. A. LEIGHTON, G. WOBESER, K. L. DANESIK, J. RIVA, AND R. A. HECKERT. 1998. An epidemic of Newcastle disease in double-crested cormorants from Saskatchewan. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 34: 457–471.
- KULAK, M. V, A. F. A. ILINYKH, A. A. V ZAYKOVSKAYA, A. A. V EPANCHINZEVA, A. I. L. Evstaphiev, B. N. N. Tovtunec, B. K. A. Sharshov, A. G. Durimanov, A. N. A.

PENKOVSKAYA, B. A. M. SHESTOPALOV, A. I. LERMAN, C. I. G. DROZDOV, AND D. E. S. DE. 2010. Surveillance and Identification of Influenza A Viruses in Wild Aquatic Birds in the Crimea, Ukraine (2006 – 2008). Avian Diseases 54: 1086–1090.

- LAM, T. T.-Y., J. WANG, Y. SHEN, B. ZHOU, L. DUAN, C.-L. CHEUNG, C. MA, S. J. LYCETT, C. Y.-H.
  LEUNG, X. CHEN, L. LI, W. HONG, Y. CHAI, L. ZHOU, H. LIANG, Z. OU, Y. LIU, A.
  FAROOQUI, D. J. KELVIN, L. L. M. POON, D. K. SMITH, O. G. PYBUS, G. M. LEUNG, Y. SHU,
  R. G. WEBSTER, R. J. WEBBY, J. S. M. PEIRIS, A. RAMBAUT, H. ZHU, AND Y. GUAN. 2013.
  The genesis and source of the H7N9 influenza viruses causing human infections in China.
  Nature Publishing Group. Nature. Retrieved August 21, 2013, from
  http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/nature12515.
- LAMB, R. A., AND G. D. PARKS. 2013. ParamyxoviridaeSixth. *In* Fields Virology. D. M. Knipe, P.M. Howley, J. I. Cohen, D. E. Griffin, R. A. Lamb, M. A. Martin, V. R. Racaniello, and B.Roizman (eds.). Philadelphia. pp. 957–995.
- LATORRE-MARGALEF, N., V. GROSBOIS, J. WAHLGREN, V. J. MUNSTER, C. TOLF, AND J.
   WALDENSTRO. 2013. Heterosubtypic Immunity to Influenza A Virus Infections in Mallards May Explain Existence of Multiple Virus Subtypes. PLoS Pathogens 9: e1003443.
- LEBARBENCHON, C., J. D. BROWN, M. P. LUTTRELL, AND D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2012a. Comparison of two commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays for detection of Influenza A virus antibodies. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 24: 161–165. Retrieved April 2, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21908267.

LEBARBENCHON, C., J. D. BROWN, AND D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2013a. Evolution of influenza A

virus H7 and N9 subtypes, eastern Asia. Emergin Infectious Diseases 19: 1635–1638.

- LEBARBENCHON, C., M. PANTIN-JACKWOOD, W. M. KISTLER, M. P. LUTTRELL, E. SPACKMAN, D. E. STALLKNECHT, AND J. D. BROWN. 2013b. Evaluation of a commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for detection of antibodies against the H5 subtype of Influenza A virus in waterfowl. Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses 7: 1237–1240. Retrieved March 25, 2014, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24192340.
- LEBARBENCHON, C., A. E. R. POULSON, A. K. SHANNON, A. J. SLAGTER, A. M. J. SLUSHER, A. B.
  R. WILCOX, J. BERDEEN, B. G. A. KNUTSEN, C. C. J. CARDONA, AND D. E. S. A. 2013c.
  Isolation of Influenza A Viruses from Wild Ducks and Feathers in Minnesota (2010 2011). Avian Diseases 57: 677–680.
- LEBARBENCHON, C., S. SREEVATSAN, T. LEFÈVRE, M. YANG, M. A RAMAKRISHNAN, J. D. BROWN, AND D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2012b. Reassortant influenza A viruses in wild duck populations: effects on viral shedding and persistence in water. Proceedings. Biological sciences / The Royal Society 279: 3967–75. Retrieved November 2, 2012, from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3427581&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.
- LEE, C., D. E. SWAYNE, J. A. LINARES, D. A. SENNE, AND D. L. SUAREZ. 2005. H5N2 Avian Influenza Outbreak in Texas in 2004 : the First Highly Pathogenic Strain in the United States in 20 Years ? Journal of Virology 79: 11412–11421.
- LEWIS, N. S., Z. JAVAKHISHVILI, C. A. RUSSELL, A. MACHABLISHVILI, P. LEXMOND, J. H. VERHAGEN, O. VUONG, T. ONASHVILI, M. DONDUASHVILI, D. J. SMITH, AND R. A. M. FOUCHIER. 2013. Avian Influenza Virus Surveillance in Wild Birds in Georgia: 2009–

2011. PLoS ONE 8: e58534. Retrieved March 14, 2013, from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0058534.

LU, L., S. J. LYCETT, AND A. J. LEIGH BROWN. 2014. Reassortment patterns of avian influenza virus internal segments among different subtypes. BMC Evolutionary Biology 14: 16.
 Retrieved February 3, 2014, from

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3905155&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.

- MALDONADO, A., A. ARENAS, M. C. TARRADAS, R. ASTORGA, J. A. PEREA, AND A. MIRANDA. 1995. Serological survey for avian paramyxoviruses from wildfowl in aquatic habitats in Andalusia. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 31: 66–69.
- MARKWELL, D. D., AND K. F. SHORTRIDGE. 1982. Possible waterborne transmission and maintenance of influenza viruses in domestic ducks. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 43: 110–115. Retrieved from

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=241789&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.

MILLER, P. J., C. L. AFONSO, E. SPACKMAN, M. A SCOTT, J. C. PEDERSEN, D. A SENNE, J. D.
BROWN, C. M. FULLER, M. M. UHART, W. B. KARESH, I. H. BROWN, D. J. ALEXANDER,
AND D. E. SWAYNE. 2010. Evidence for a new avian paramyxovirus serotype 10 detected
in rockhopper penguins from the Falkland Islands. Journal of virology 84: 11496–504.
Retrieved December 5, 2010, from
http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2953191&tool=pmcentrez&re

ndertype=abstract.

- MUNSTER, V. J., C. BAAS, P. LEXMOND, J. WALDENSTRÖM, A. WALLENSTEN, T. FRANSSON, G. F.
  RIMMELZWAAN, W. E. P. BEYER, M. SCHUTTEN, B. OLSEN, A. D. M. E. OSTERHAUS, AND
  R. A. M. FOUCHIER. 2007. Spatial, temporal, and species variation in prevalence of
  influenza A viruses in wild migratory birds. PLoS pathogens 3: e61. Retrieved October
  30, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17500589.
- MUSTAFFA-BABJEE, A., P. B. SPRADBROW, AND J. L. SAMUEL. 1974. A pathogenic paramyxovirus from a Budgerigar (Melopsittacus undulatus). Avian Diseases 18: 226–230. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4828579.
- NAGY, A., L. CERNÍKOVÁ, V. KŘIVDA, AND J. HORNÍČKOVÁ. 2012. Digital genotyping of avian influenza viruses of H7 subtype detected in central Europe in 2007-2011. Virus Research 165: 126–33. Retrieved May 29, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22342598.
- NAGY, A., J. MACHOVA, J. HORNICKOVA, M. TOMCI, I. NAGL, B. HORYNA, AND I. HOLKO. 2007.
  Highly pathogenic avian influenza virus subtype H5N1 in Mute swans in the Czech
  Republic. Veterinary microbiology 120: 9–16. Retrieved July 14, 2012, from
  http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17113249.
- NAYAK, B., F. M. DIAS, S. KUMAR, A. PALDURAI, P. L. COLLINS, AND S. K. SAMAL. 2012. Avian paramyxovirus serotypes 2-9 (APMV-2-9) vary in the ability to induce protective immunity in chickens against challenge with virulent Newcastle disease virus (APMV-1). Elsevier Ltd. Vaccine 30: 2220–2227. Retrieved April 2, 2012, from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3290449&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.

- NELSON, J., S. S. COUCEIRO, J. C. PAULSON, AND L. G. BAUM. 1993. Influenza virus strains selectively recognize sialyoligosaccharides on human respiratory epithelium; the role of the host cell in selection of hemagglutinin receptor specificity. Virus Research 29: 155– 165.
- NELSON, M. I., A. L. VINCENT, P. KITIKOON, E. C. HOLMES, AND M. R. GRAMER. 2012. The evolution of novel reassortant A/H3N2 influenza viruses in North American swine and humans, 2009-2011. Journal of virology 86: 8872–8878. Retrieved July 13, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22696653.
- NEROME, K., M. MAKAYAMA, M. ISHIDA, AND H. FUKUMI. 1978. Isolation of a new avian paramyxovirus from Budgerigar ( Melopsittacus undulatus ). Journal of General Virology 38: 293–301.
- NETTLES, V. F., J. M. WOOD, AND R. G. WEBSTER. 1985. Wildlife surveillance associated with an outbreak of lethal H5N2 avian influenza in domestic poultry. Avian Diseases 29: 733–741. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4074241.
- NEUMANN, G., T. NODA, AND Y. KAWAOKA. 2009. Emergence and pandemic potential of swineorigin H1N1 influenza virus. Nature 459: 931–939.
- NOBUSAWA, E., AND K. SATO. 2006. Comparison of the Mutation Rates of Human Influenza A and B Viruses. Journal of Virology 80: 3675–3678.
- NOLTING, J. M., P. DENNIS, L. LONG, L. HOLTVOIGT, D. BROWN, M. J. KING, W. SHELLBARGER, C. HANLEY, M. L. KILLIAN, AND R. D. SLEMONS. 2013. Low pathogenic influenza A virus activity at avian interfaces in Ohio zoos, 2006-2009. Avian Diseases 57: 657–662. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24283133.

O'NEILL, R. E., J. TALON, AND P. PALESE. 1998. The influenza virus NEP (NS2 protein) mediates the nuclear export of viral ribonucleoproteins. The EMBO journal 17: 288–296. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1170379&tool=pmcentrez&re

ndertype=abstract.

OIE. 2012. Avian Influenza. In OIE Terrestrial Manual. pp. 436–454.

- OLSEN, B., V. J. MUNSTER, A. WALLENSTEN, J. WALDENSTRÖM, A. D. M. E. OSTERHAUS, AND R. A M. FOUCHIER. 2006. Global patterns of influenza a virus in wild birds. Science 312: 384– 388. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16627734.
- PASICK, J., Y. BERHANE, C. EMBURY-HYATT, J. COPPS, H. KEHLER, K. HANDEL, S. BABIUK, K. HOOPER-MCGREVY, Y. LI, Q. M. LE, AND S. L. PHUONG. 2007. Susceptibility of Canada geese (Branta canadensis) to highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (H5N1). Emerging Infectious Diseases 13: 1821–1827.
- PEDERSEN, K., A. F. D. R. MARKS, B. D. M. ARSNOE, B. C. L. AFONSO, C. S. N. BEVINS, D. P. J.
  MILLER, A. R. RANDALL, AND T. J. D. A. 2014. Avian paramyxovirus serotype 1 (Newcastle disease virus), avian influenza virus, and Salmonella spp. in mute swans
  (Cygnus olor) in the Great Lakes Region and Atlantic Coast of the United States. Avian Diseases 1: 129–136.
- PÉREZ-RAMÍREZ, E., V. RODRIGUEZ, D. SOMMER, J. M. BLANCO, P. ACEVEDO, U. HEFFELS-REDMANN, AND U. HÖFLE. 2010. Serologic testing for avian influenza viruses in wild birds: Comparison of two commerical competition enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays. Avian Diseases 54: 729–733.

- PYBUS, O. G., C. M. PERRINS, B. CHOUDHURY, R. J. MANVELL, A. NUNEZ, B. SCHULENBURG, B. C. SHELDON, AND I. H. BROWN. 2012. The ecology and age structure of a highly pathogenic avian influenza virus outbreak in wild mute swans. Parasitology 139: 1914–1923. Retrieved November 28, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22339986.
- ROGERS, G. N., AND J. C. PAULSON. 1983. Receptor determinants of human and animal influenza virus isolates: differences in receptor specificity of the H3 hemagglutinin based on species of origin. Virology 127: 361–373.
- ROSENBERGER, J. K., W. C. KRAUSS, AND R. D. SLEMONS. 1974. Isolation of Newcastle disease and type-A influenza viruses from migratory waterfowl in the Atlantic flyway. Avian diseases 18: 610–3. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4433304.
- ROTT, R. 1992. The pathogenic determinant of influenza virus. Veterinary microbiology 33: 303– 10. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1481363.
- RYAN-POIRIER, K. A., AND Y. KAWAOKA. 1991. Distinct glycoprotein inhibitors of influenza A virus in different animal sera. Journal of Virology 65: 389–95. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=240529&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.
- SAMUEL, A. S., S. KUMAR, S. MADHURI, P. L. COLLINS, AND S. K. SAMAL. 2009. Complete sequence of the genome of avian paramyxovirus type 9 and comparison with other paramyxoviruses. Virus research 142: 10–18. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19185593.
- SAMUEL, A. S., A. PALDURAI, S. KUMAR, P. L. COLLINS, AND S. K. SAMAL. 2010. Complete genome sequence of avian paramyxovirus (APMV) serotype 5 completes the analysis of

nine APMV serotypes and reveals the longest APMV genome. PloS one 5: e9269. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20174645.

- SCHILD, G. C. 1972. Evidence for a new type-specific structural antigen of the influenza virus particle. Journal of General 15: 99–103.
- SCHNITZLER, S. U., AND P. SCHNITZLER. 2009. An update on swine-origin influenza virus A/H1N1: a review. Virus Genes 39: 279–292. Retrieved September 3, 2011, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19809872.
- SHARP, G. B., Y. KAWAOKA, D. J. JONES, W. J. BEAN, S. P. PRYOR, V. HINSHAW, AND R. G. WEBSTER. 1997. Coinfection of wild ducks by influenza A viruses: distribution patterns and biological significance. Journal of virology 71: 6128–35. Retrieved from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=191873&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.
- SHARP, G. B., Y. KAWAOKA, S. M. WRIGHT, B. TURNER, V. HINSHAW, AND R. G. WEBSTER. 1993.Wild ducks are the reservoir for only a limited number of influenza A subtypes.Epidemiology and Infection 110: 161–176.
- SHINYA, K., M. EBINA, S. YAMADA, M. ONO, N. KASAI, AND Y. KAWAOKA. 2006. Avian flu: influenza virus receptors in the human airway. Nature 440: 435–436. Retrieved March 25, 2014, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16554799.
- SKEHEL, J. J., AND D. C. WILEY. 2000. Receptor binding and membrane fusion in virus entry: The influenza hamagglutinin. Annual Reviews in Biochemistry 69: 531–569.
- SLEMONS, R. D., AND B. C. EASTERDAY. 1977. Virus replication in the digestive tract of ducks exposed by aerosol to type-A influenza. Avian Diseases 22.

SLEMONS, R. D., D. C. JOHNSON, J. S. OSBORNE, F. HAYES, AND F. HAYESD. 1973. Type-A influenza viruses isolated from wild free-flying ducks in California. Avian Diseases 18: 119–124.

SLEMONS, R. D., M. C. SHIELDCASTLE, L. D. HEYMAN, K. E. BEDNARIK, AND D. A SENNE. 1991.
Type A influenza viruses in waterfowl in Ohio and implications for domestic turkeys.
Avian Diseases 35: 165–73. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2029250.

- SLEMONS, R., AND B. C. EASTERDAY. 1972. Host response of 5 different avian species to an influenz A virus. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 47: 521–525.
- SMITH, G. J. D., D. VIJAYKRISHNA, J. BAHL, S. J. LYCETT, M. WOROBEY, O. G. PYBUS, S. K. MA, C.
  L. CHEUNG, J. RAGHWANI, S. BHATT, J. S. M. PEIRIS, Y. GUAN, AND A. RAMBAUT. 2009.
  Origins and evolutionary genomics of the 2009 swine-origin H1N1 influenza A epidemic.
  Nature Publishing Group. Nature 459: 1122–5. Retrieved November 2, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19516283.
- SMITKA, C. W., AND H. F. MAASSAB. 1981. Ortho-and paramyxoviruses in the migratory waterfowl of Michigan. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 17: 147–151.
- SOUSA, E., T. P. COSTA, K. WERTHER, E. DURIGON, J. ARAUJO, C. S. FERRIERA, AND A. A. PINTO.
  2013. Presence of antibodies against H5, H7 and H9 influenza A virus in wild birds in the
  State of São Paulo, Brazil. Brazilian Journal of Poultry Science 15: 169–172.
- SPACKMAN, E., D. A. SENNE, T. J. MYERS, L. L. BULAGA, L. P. GARBER, M. L. PERDUE, K. LOHMAN, L. T. DAUM, AND D. L. SUAREZ. 2002. Development of a Real-Time Reverse Transcriptase PCR Assay for Type A Influenza Virus and the Avian H5 and H7

Hemagglutinin Subtypes. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 40: 3256–3260.

- SPRINGER, G. F., AND N. J. ANSELL. 1958. Inactivation of human erythrocyte agglutinogens M and N by influenza viruses and receptor-destroying enzyme. PNAS 44: 182–189.
- STALLKNECHT, D. E., AND J. D. BROWN. 2007. Wild birds and the epidemiology of avian influenza. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 43: S15–S20.
- STALLKNECHT, D. E., D. A. SENNE, P. J. ZWANK, S. M. SHANE, AND M. T. KEARNEY. 1991. Avian paramyxoviruses from migrating and resident ducks in coastal Louisiana. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 27: 123–128.
- STALLKNECHT, D. E., AND S. M. SHANE. 1988. Host range of avian influenza viruses in free-living birds. Veterinary Research 12: 125–141.
- STALLKNECHT, D. E., S. M. SHANE, M. T. KEARNEY, AND P. J. ZWANK. 1990a. Persistence of avian influenza-viruses in water. Avian Diseases 34: 406–411.
- STALLKNECHT, D. E., S. M. SHANE, P. J. ZWANK, D. A SENNE, AND M. T. KEARNEY. 1990b. Avian influenza viruses from migratory and resident ducks of coastal Louisiana. Avian Diseases 34: 398–405. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2369380.
- STANISLAWEK, W. L., C. R. WILKS, J. MEERS, G. W. HORNER, D. J. ALEXANDER, R. J. MANVELL, J. A KATTENBELT, AND A R. GOULD. 2002. Avian paramyxoviruses and influenza viruses isolated from mallard ducks (Anas platyrhynchos) in New Zealand. Archives of Virology 147: 1287–1302. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12111409.
- STARICK, E., M. BEER, B. HOFFMANN, C. STAUBACH, O. WERNER, A. GLOBIG, G. STREBELOW, C. GRUND, M. DURBAN, F. J. CONRATHS, T. METTENLEITER, AND T. HARDER. 2008.
  Phylogenetic analyses of highly pathogenic avian influenza virus isolates from Germany

in 2006 and 2007 suggest at least three separate introductions of H5N1 virus. Veterinary microbiology 128: 243–52. Retrieved July 14, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18031958.

SUAREZ, D., AND D. SWAYNE. 2008. Influenza A virus. In Avian Influenza. D. E. Swayne (ed.). Blackwell, Ames, IA. p. 605. Retrieved March 24, 2014, from http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=eZjFavPmuxAC&oi=fnd&pg=PA3&dq=I nfluenza+A+virus&ots=jvkPplG88P&sig=m5BYNt\_mgmZj5a9n4MAO4nvXkCU.

- SUBBARAO, E. . K., Y. KAWAOKA, K. RYAN-POIRIER, M. LOU CLEMENTS, AND B. R. MURPHY. 1992. Comparison of different approaches to measuring influenza A virus-specific hemagglutination inhibition antibodies in the presence of serum inhibitors. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 30: 996–999.
- SUBBIAH, M., S. XIAO, P. L. COLLINS, AND S. K. SAMAL. 2008. Complete sequence of the genome of avian paramyxovirus type 2 (strain Yucaipa) and comparison with other paramyxoviruses. Virus research 137: 40–8. Retrieved June 13, 2012, from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2700353&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.
- SULLIVAN, H. J., B. J. BLITVICH, K. VANDALEN, K. T. BENTLER, A. B. FRANKLIN, AND J. J. ROOT. 2009. Evaluation of an epitope-blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for the detection of antibodies to influenza A virus in domestic and wild avian and mammalian species. Journal of virological methods 161: 141–6. Retrieved May 6, 2013, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19523985.

TEIFKE, J. P., R. KLOPFLEISCH, A. GLOBIG, E. STARICK, B. HOFFMANN, P. U. WOLF, M. BEER, T. C.

METTENLEITER, AND T. C. HARDER. 2007. Pathology of natural infections by H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza virus in mute (Cygnus olor) and whooper (Cygnus cygnus) swans. Veterinary Pathology 44: 137–43. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17317790.

- THONTIRAVONG, A., P. KITIKOON, S. WANNARATANA, R. TANTILERTCHAROEN, R. TUANUDOM, S. PAKPINYO, J. SASIPREEYAJAN, K. ORAVEERAKUL, AND A. AMONSIN. 2012. Quail as a potential mixing vessel for the generation of new reassortant influenza A viruses. Elsevier B.V. Veterinary microbiology 160: 305–13. Retrieved March 7, 2013, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22763173.
- TO, K. K., J. F. CHAN, H. CHEN, L. LI, AND K.-Y. YUEN. 2013. The emergence of influenza A H7N9 in human beings 16 years after influenza A H5N1: a tale of two cities. The Lancet Infectious Diseases 13: 809–821. Retrieved August 21, 2013, from http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1473309913701671.
- TOLF, C., D. BENGTSSON, D. RODRIGUES, N. LATORRE-MARGALEF, M. WILLE, M. E. FIGUEIREDO, M. JANKOWSKA-HJORTAAS, A. GERMUNDSSON, P.-Y. DUBY, C. LEBARBENCHON, M.
  GAUTHIER-CLERC, B. OLSEN, AND J. WALDENSTRÖM. 2012. Birds and Viruses at a Crossroad - Surveillance of Influenza A Virus in Portuguese Waterfowl. PloS one 7: e49002. Retrieved November 13, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23145046.
- TOLF, C., N. LATORRE-MARGALEF, M. WILLE, D. BENGTSSON, G. GUNNARSSON, J. ELMBERG, AND J. WALDENSTRO. 2013. Individual Variation in Influenza A Virus Infection Histories and Long-Term Immune Responses in Mallards. PLoS One 8.

- TONG, S., Y. LI, P. RIVAILLER, C. CONRARDY, D. AA. CASTILLO, L.-M. CHEN, S. RECUENCO, J. A
  ELLISON, C. T. DAVIS, I. A YORK, A. S. TURMELLE, D. MORAN, S. ROGERS, M. SHI, Y. TAO,
  M. R. WEIL, K. TANG, L. A ROWE, S. SAMMONS, X. XU, M. FRACE, K. A LINDBLADE, N. J.
  COX, L. J. ANDERSON, C. E. RUPPRECHT, AND R. O. DONIS. 2012. A distinct lineage of
  influenza A virus from bats. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the
  United States of America 109: 4269–74. Retrieved November 5, 2013, from
  http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3306675&tool=pmcentrez&re
  ndertype=abstract.
- TONG, S., X. ZHU, Y. LI, M. SHI, J. ZHANG, M. BOURGEOIS, H. YANG, X. CHEN, S. RECUENCO, J.
  GOMEZ, L.-M. CHEN, A. JOHNSON, Y. TAO, C. DREYFUS, W. YU, R. MCBRIDE, P. J.
  CARNEY, A. T. GILBERT, J. CHANG, Z. GUO, C. T. DAVIS, J. C. PAULSON, J. STEVENS, C. E.
  RUPPRECHT, E. C. HOLMES, I. A. WILSON, AND R. O. DONIS. 2013. New World Bats
  Harbor Diverse Influenza A Viruses. PLoS Pathogens 9: e1003657. Retrieved October 11, 2013, from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003657.
- TUMOVA, B., J. ROBINSON, AND B. EASTERDAY. 1979. A hitherto unreported paramyxovirus of turkeys. Research in Veterinary Science 27: 135–140.
- TUMPEY, T. M., R. ALVAREZ, D. E. SWAYNE, AND D. L. SUAREZ. 2005. Diagnostic Approach for Differentiating Infected from Vaccinated Poultry on the Basis of Antibodies to NS1, the Nonstructural Protein of Influenza A Virus. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 43: 676– 683.
- VAN BOHEEMEN, S., T. M. BESTEBROER, J. H. VERHAGEN, A. D. M. E. OSTERHAUS, S. D. PAS, S. HERFST, AND R. A. M. FOUCHIER. 2012. A family-wide RT-PCR assay for detection of paramyxoviruses and application to a large-scale surveillance study. PLoS ONE 7:
e34961. Retrieved April 10, 2012, from

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3319594&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.

VAN BORM, S., T. ROSSEEL, D. VANGELUWE, F. VANDENBUSSCHE, T. VAN DEN BERG, AND B. LAMBRECHT. 2012. Phylogeographic analysis of avian influenza viruses isolated from Charadriiformes in Belgium confirms intercontinental reassortment in gulls. Archives of Virology 157: 1509–1522. Retrieved October 23, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22580556.

VANDALEN, K. K., T. D. ANDERSON, M. L. KILLIAN, J. C. PEDERSEN, A. B. FRANKLIN, AND A. J. PIAGGIO. 2008. Increased detection of influenza A H16 in the United States. Archives of Virology 153: 1981–1983. Retrieved July 6, 2012, from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18825483.

VELARDE, R., S. E. CALVIN, D. OJKIC, I. K. BARKER, AND É. NAGY. 2010. Avian Influenza Virus H13 Circulating in Ring-Billed Gulls (Larus delawarensis) in Southern Ontario, Canada. Avian Diseases 54: 411–419. Retrieved from

http://www.bioone.org/doi/abs/10.1637/8808-040109-Reg.1.

- VERHAGEN, J. H., F. MAJOOR, P. LEXMOND, O. VUONG, G. KASEMIR, D. LUTTEROP, A. D. M. E. OSTERHAUS, R. A. M. FOUCHIER, AND T. KUIKEN. 2014. Epidemiology of Influenza A Virus among Black- headed Gulls, the Netherlands, 2006-2010. Emerging Infectious Diseases 20: 138–141.
- VERHAGEN, J. H., V. J. MUNSTER, F. MAJOOR, P. LEXMOND, O. VUONG, J. B. G. STUMPEL, G. F. RIMMELZWAAN, A. D. M. E. OSTERHAUS, M. SCHUTTEN, R. SLATERUS, AND R. A. M.

FOUCHIER. 2012. Avian Influenza A Virus in Wild Birds in Highly Urbanized Areas. PLoS ONE 7: e38256. Retrieved July 3, 2012, from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0038256.

- VICKERS, M. L., AND R. P. HANSON. 1982. Newcastle Disease Virus in waterfowl in Wisconsin. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 18: 149–158.
- VITTECOQ, M., V. GRANDHOMME, J. CHAMPAGNON, M. GUILLEMAIN, B. CRESCENZO-CHAIGNE, F. RENAUD, F. THOMAS, M. GAUTHIER-CLERC, AND S. VAN DER WERF. 2012. High Influenza A Virus Infection Rates in Mallards Bred for Hunting in the Camargue, South of France.
  PLoS ONE 7: e43974. Retrieved September 4, 2012, from http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0043974.
- WALLS, H. H., M. W. HARMON, J. J. SLAGLE, C. STOCKSDALE, AND A. P. KENDAL. 1986.
   Characterization and Evaluation of Monoclonal Antibodies Developed for Typing Influenza A and Influenza B Viruses. Microbiology 23: 240–245.
- WARKE, A., L. APPLEBY, AND E. MUNDT. 2008a. Prevalence of Antibodies to Different Avian
  Paramyxoviruses in Commercial Poultry in the United States. Avian Diseases 52: 694–697.
- WARKE, A., D. E. STALLKNECHT, S. M. WILLIAMS, N. PRITCHARD, AND E. MUNDT. 2008b. Comparative study on the pathogenicity and immunogenicity of wild bird isolates of avian paramyxovirus 2, 4, and 6 in chickens. Avian Pathology 37: 429–434.
- WEBSTER, R. G., W. J. BEAN, O. T. GORMAN, T. M. CHAMBERS, AND Y. KAWAOKA. 1992.
  Evolution and ecology of influenza A viruses. Microbiological Reviews 56: 152–79.
  Retrieved from

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=372859&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.

- WEBSTER, R. G., M. MORITA, C. PRIDGEN, AND B. TUMOVA. 1976. Ortho- and paramyxoviruses from migrating feral ducks: characterization of a new group of influenza A viruses. The Journal of General Virology 32: 217–225. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/1018173.
- WEBSTER, R. G., M. YAKHO, V. S. HINSHAW, W. J. BEAN, AND K. G. MURTI. 1978. Intestinal Influenza : Replication and Characterization Viruses in Ducks of Influenza. Virology 84: 268–278.
- WILCOX, B. R., G. A. KNUTSEN, J. BERDEEN, V. GOEKJIAN, R. POULSON, S. GOYAL, S.
  SREEVATSAN, C. CARDONA, R. D. BERGHAUS, D. E. SWAYNE, M. J. YABSLEY, AND D. E.
  STALLKNECHT. 2011. Influenza-A viruses in ducks in northwestern Minnesota: fine scale spatail and temoporal variation in prevalence and subtype diversity. PLoS ONE 6: e24010. Retrieved September 20, 2011, from http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3172203&tool=pmcentrez&re ndertype=abstract.
- WINKLER, W. G., D. O. TRAINER, AND B. C. EASTERDAY. 1972. Influenza in Canada geese. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 47: 507–513.
- WISE, M. G., D. L. SUAREZ, B. S. SEAL, J. C. PEDERSEN, D. A. SENNE, D. J. KING, D. R.
  KAPCZYNSKI, AND E. SPACKMAN. 2004. Development of a Real-Time Reverse-Transcription PCR for Detection of Newcastle Disease Virus RNA in Clinical Samples. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 42: 329–338.

WONG, D. D. Y., K.-T. CHOY, R. W. Y. CHAN, S. F. SIA, H.-P. CHIU, P. P. H. CHEUNG, M. C. W.
CHAN, J. S. M. PEIRIS, AND H.-L. YEN. 2012. Comparable fitness and transmissibility
between oseltamivir-resistant pandemic 2009 and seasonal H1N1 influenza viruses with
the H275Y neuraminidase mutation. Journal of Virology 86: 10558–10570. Retrieved
March 25, 2014, from
http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3457312&tool=pmcentrez&re

ndertype=abstract.

- YEWDELL, J. W., J. R. BENNINK, G. L. SMITHT, AND B. MOSST. 1985. Influenza A virus nucleoprotein is a major target antigen for cross-reactive anti-influenza A virus cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 82: 1785–1789.
- ZHAO, G., X. GU, X. LU, J. PAN, Z. DUAN, K. ZHAO, M. GU, Q. LIU, L. HE, J. CHEN, S. GE, Y.
  WANG, S. CHEN, X. WANG, D. PENG, H. WAN, AND X. LIU. 2012. Novel reassortant highly pathogenic H5N2 avian influenza viruses in poultry in China. PloS one 7: e46183.

## CHAPTER 3

## SPATIAL DISTRIBUTION OF INFLUENZA A VIRUSES IN POST-BREEDING CANADA

GEESE (Branta candadensis) IN PENNSYLVANIA

Kistler, W.M, D.E. Stallknecht, J. Hepinstal-Cymerman T.J. DeLiberto, K.V. Why, and M.J. Yabsley. To be submitted to *Infections, Genetics and Evolution* 

Abstract: Canada geese have a near ubiquitous distribution and share aquatic habitats with influenza A virus (IAV) reservoir species. Although they were thought to play a limited role in the transmission of (IAVs) in wild birds, recent serologic surveys for IAVs in Canada geese showed they are frequently exposed to IAVs. The objective of this study is to determine prevalence and annual variation of IAVs antibodies in Canada geese and evaluate if there is a spatial pattern to IAVs antibodies distribution in Canada geese in Pennsylvania. We sampled 2,919 geese from 115 locations from 2009-2012 and IAV antibodies were detected using a commercial blocking ELISA. Logistic regression models with generalized estimating equations and predictor variables were used to understand risk factors associated with exposure to IAVs. Overall, there was no significant variation of antibody prevalence among the four years of this study and we only detected a significant difference at one location out of 12 that were sampled in multiple years. The percent developed land was the only significant predictor for IAV exposure in geese. The lack of annual variation in antibody prevalence indicates that serology to the IAV nucleoprotein may not have enough definition to detect yearly variation in IAV circulation, which has been documented with virus isolation in dabbling ducks. In addition, our spatial modeling indicates that serology may not be sensitive enough to detect areas of increased risk of transmission for IAVs. Canada geese utilizing urban habitats have increased survival compared to geese utilizing rural habitats and coupled with antibody duration of >1-year likely explains the increased risk of exposure in these areas. In conclusion, serology in Canada geese is likely not able to detect subtle changes in antibody prevalence on a small (state-wide) spatial scale.

Keywords: Canada geese, Influenza A Viruses, Serology, Spatial Modeling

### Introduction

Wild birds in the orders Anseriformes and Charadriiformes are considered the natural reservoirs for influenza A viruses (IAVs) (Olsen et al., 2006). Traditional surveillance for IAVs in wild birds has relied on viral detection by either virus isolation or RT-PCR (Hinshaw et al., 1985; Wallensten et al., 2007). However, over the last decade there has been an increase in the use of serologic assays for IAVs surveillance in wild birds (Brown et al., 2010a, 2010b). Serologic assays have benefits over virus detection assays because the duration of detectable antibodies can be >1 year in naturally infected birds (Fereidouni et al., 2010; Tolf et al., 2013) and viral shedding may only be detected for <1-month (Costa et al., 2011). This allows for sampling during time when birds are easier to sample (e.g. during molting), which may not correspond IAV circulation.

Canada geese (*Branta canadensis*) are experimentally susceptible to infection with IAVs and have a near ubiquitous distribution in the United States (US), which overlaps with known IAVs reservoir species (Hestbeck, 1995). However, IAV isolations from Canada geese are rare (Harris et al., 2010). This low detection of viral shedding may be related to a viral shedding pattern that is sporadic and of short duration (Berhane et al., 2014; Pasick et al., 2007) or sampling during periods when IAV circulation is rare (Harris et al., 2010; Kistler et al., 2012). Recently, serologic testing showed that Canada geese are frequently exposed to IAVs despite the infrequent isolation of IAVs from this species (Kistler et al., 2012).

Understanding environmental risk factors associated with transmission and/or exposure of IAVs can help direct future research on sampling strategies. Previous research in North America has identified temperature, percent harvested cropland, and previous isolation of IAVs in a wetland increasing the risk of subsequent IAV isolations in wild birds (Farnsworth et al.,

2012; Fuller et al., 2010). In addition, a spatial pattern of IAV antibody prevalence in Canada geese has been shown on a regional scale (Kistler et al., 2012). The objectives of this study are to determine prevalence and annual variation of IAVs antibodies in Canada geese and to evaluate if there is a spatial pattern associated with IAVs antibody prevalence on a local (state) scale.

## Materials and Methods

In June and July from 2009-2012, we collected blood samples (n=2,919) from Canada geese from 115 locations in Pennsylvania during bird banding and nuisance removal programs. Additional samples were included from a recent study (Kistler et al., 2012). Sample collections occurred during banding efforts with the Pennsylvania Game Commission and nuisance removal programs conducted by the United States Department of Agriculture Wildlife Services. Blood samples were collected from the medial metatarsal vein from geese being released and by cardiocentesis from birds that were euthanized. After collection blood samples were placed in Vacutainer® serum separator tubes (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and placed on wet ice in the field. After transport to a laboratory (<1 day) blood samples were centrifuged (15 min at 1200g) and serum was removed and stored at -20C until testing. We determined prevalence of antibodies to the IAV nucleoprotein using a commercial blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (IDEXX Laboratories, Westbrook, ME, USA) following the manufacturer's protocol (Brown et al., 2009).

We collected GPS data from each sample location and used a circular buffer with an area of 138 hectares to estimate post breeding Canada goose home range (Dunton and Combs, 2010). We calculated the percent coverage of home range by four environmental variables (Table 1) within this buffer. Developed area combined all four developed land categories from the 2011

National Land Cover Database (NLCD) map. Cropland was derived for each year of the study from the Cropland Data Layer (CDL) and mapped grain crops, corn, and sunflowers; crops commonly fed on by geese (Gates et al., 2001). Grassland data (hay, clover, and switchgrass) also was mapped from CDL. All raster datasets were resampled to a 60km. National Wetland Inventory (NWI) polygon was used to depict available wetland habitat and converted to a raster with 60m resolution. Zonal statistics were used to calculate area of each raster layer covered by sample home range. We included ecoregions from sample locations as a binary variable to investigate the association between IAV antibodies and spatial patterns. We used ecoregions because they encompass several environmental variables (e.g. temperature, vegetation, etc.) that are correlated, including climatic variables that were found important risk factors for IAV circulation (Farnsworth et al., 2012; Fuller et al., 2010).

All spatial analysis was conducted in ArcMap v10.2 (ESRI, Redlands, CA, USA) and logistic regression models utilized generalized estimating equations were implemented in R v3.0 (http://cran.us.r-project.org/) using the Zelig package (Lam, 2014). Logistic regression utilizing generalized estimating equations (GEE) was used to account for correlation of multiple samples coming from the same location at the same time. We ran a model for all four years of sampling and used Wald  $\chi^2$  test was used to determine significance of predictor variables. Moran's I was calculated on the model residuals to determine spatial autocorrelation of the residuals using the *spdep* package in R. This was done using first order up to fifth order nearest neighbors. We used logistic regression utilizing GEE to compare results across years and to compare results from locations that were sampled in multiple years.

#### Results

The bELISA test results for all four years are summarized in Table 2. In total, we collected samples from 115 sites across Pennsylvania (Figure 1). We detected an overall antibody prevalence of 24% (714/2,919) and we did not detect a significant difference among years (Table 2). We sampled 12 locations in multiple years with nine of the locations being sampled in two years and three locations being sampled in three years; at only one of these locations did we detect a significantly higher antibody prevalence in 2011 compared to 2009 (OR 2.5, 95% CI 1.3 - 4.8). At this particular site the birds were euthanized every year and a new flock moved into the area making their exposure history different than the previous flock.

We used the samples from all four years in our spatial model. We did not detect any differences in IAV antibody prevalence among the Pennsylvania ecoregions. Additionally, percent of home range covered by wetlands, cropland, and grassland were not significantly associated with IAV exposure of Canada geese. Only higher percentage of home range cover being developed area was associated with increased risk of exposure in geese (estimate= 0.0111; Wald  $\chi^2$ =12.2; p-value<0.005). The odds of a goose flock being exposed to IAVs increased 74% for every 5% increase in developed land coverage. The Moran's I statistic for model residuals was .0186 (p-value=0.6; Figure 3.2), indicating we did not have unaccounted spatial pattern in the model residuals.

### Discussion

We only detected minimal variations of IAVs antibody prevalence in geese among years; however, these differences were not significant. Additionally, 11 of 12 locations that were sampled in multiple years showed no significant variation among years. These results support

previous research showing little annual variation in IAV antibody prevalence in goose species (Kistler et al., 2012; Wilson et al., 2013) which suggests that NP antibody prevalence is not sensitive enough to detect annual variation in transmission pattern of IAVs seen in dabbling ducks with virus isolation (Hinshaw et al., 1985). This is likely due to the persistence of the antibody response (Tolf et al., 2013), seasonal movements of resident geese, and possibly the age structure of these populations. With regard to movements, resident geese can undergo seasonal migrations >200km (Dieter et al., 2010) and infection may have occurred away from their postbreeding grounds where they were sampled in the present study. Our antibody prevalence is lower than that reported in goose species in Alaska and Europe (Hoye et al., 2011; Wilson et al., 2013). This lower antibody prevalence may be associated with decreased exposure from IAVs circulating in dabbling ducks in Pennsylvania. Kistler et al., (2012) found that geese in higher latitudes had increased antibody prevalence than those in lower latitudes. These higher latitudes correspond with the prairie pothole region of North America where dabbling duck production and IAV shedding prevalence is higher than in southern locations (Hinshaw et al., 1985; Stallknecht et al., 1990).

We used a logistic regression model to estimate risk factors for exposure of Canada geese to IAVs. This is the first attempt to use serologic data to evaluate environmental risk associated with IAVs in wild birds. Unlike two previous studies, we did not find temperature to be a significant predictor for IAVs exposure (Farnsworth et al., 2012; Fuller et al., 2010); however, we only used ecoregions as a proxy for temperature variables and these may not be sensitive enough to detect differences in temperature. Alternatively, we sampled across a limited geographic region where fluctuation in temperature and climate is not as noticeable, whereas the other two studies sampled across the contiguous United States. In addition, we did not find %

cropland to be a significant risk for exposure of IAVs in geese. In Asia, cropland has been frequently associated with highly pathogenic H5N1 outbreaks in wild birds and poultry; however, rice is the main crop associated with these outbreaks (Gilbert et al., 2008). Rice, unlike most crops cultivated in the US, is cultivated in water which is an important medium for facilitating the transmission of IAVs (Breban et al., 2009) and this probably explains the lack of increased risk associated with % cropland in our study.

The only significant predictor variable we found affecting IAV exposure in post-breeding Canada geese was % of developed land within their estimated home range. This increased risk of exposure is probably not associated with increased transmission IAVs in these areas, but is likely due to increased survival of geese in urban areas and persistence of IAV antibodies. Although not survival in different habitats has not been evaluated in Pennsylvania, urban Canada geese in Georgia had significantly higher survival rates and significantly lower hunter mortality than those in a rural area (Balkcom, 2010). This combined with persistence of IAV antibodies for >1 year in naturally infected birds even in the absence of exposure to virus (Fereidouni et al., 2010; Tolf et al., 2013), likely explains this increased risk of exposure.

Although serology has been successfully used to map risk factors associated other pathogens, e.g., pseudorabies virus in European wild boars (*Sus scrofa scrofa*), it is likely not sensitive enough to detect areas of increased risk of transmission of IAVs in wild birds, even resident species, at a state-level scale. In conclusion, serologic assays are a valuable tool in understanding the epidemiology of IAVs in wild birds; however, the interpretation of serologic data has limitations when applied on small spatial scales.

### Acknowledgments

We thank J. Parris, J. Slusher, and A. Howey-Newsome (Southeastern Cooperative Wildlife Disease Study) and personal at the Pennsylvania Game Commission for field assistance. Funding was provided by Department of Homeland Security, Center of Excellence for Emerging and Zoonotic animal Diseases cooperative agreement 2010-ST-061-AG0001-02 and contract HHSN266200700007C from National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAAD), National Institutes of Health (NIH), Department of Health and Human Services. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH.

### References

- BALKCOM, G.D., 2010. Demographic Parameters of Rural and Urban Adult Resident Canada Geese in Georgia. J. Wildl. Manage. 74, 120–123
- BERHANE, Y., EMBURY-HYATT, C., LEITH, M., KEHLER, H., SUDERMAN, M., PASICK, J., 2014.
  Pre-exposing Canada Geese (Branta canadensis) to a low-pathogenic H1N1 avian influenza virus protects them against H5N1 HPAI virus challenge. J. Wildl. Dis. 50, 84–97.
- BREBAN, R., DRAKE, J.M., STALLKNECHT, D.E., ROHANI, P., 2009. The role of environmental transmission in recurrent avian influenza epidemics. PLoS Comput. Biol. 5, e1000346.
- BROWN, J.D., LUTTRELL, M.P., BERGHAUS, R.D., KISTLER, W., KEELER, S.P., HOWEY, A.,
  Wilcox, B., HALL, J., NILES, L., DEY, A., KNUTSEN, G., FRITZ, K., STALLKNECHT, D.E.,
  2010a. Prevalence of antibodies to type A influenza virus in wild avian species using two serologic assays. J. Wildl. Dis. 46, 896–911.

- BROWN, J.D., LUTTRELL, M.P., UHART, M.M., DEL VALLE FERREYRA, H., ROMANO, M.M., RAGO, M.V., STALLKNECHT, D.E., 2010b. Antibodies to type A influenza virus in wild waterbirds from Argentina. J. Wildl. Dis. 46, 1040–1045.
- BROWN, J.D., STALLKNECHT, D.E., BERGHAUS, R.D., LUTTRELL, M.P., VELEK, K., KISTLER, W., COSTA, T.P., YABSLEY, M.J., SWAYNE, D., 2009. Evaluation of a commercial blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay to detect avian influenza virus antibodies in multiple experimentally infected avian species. Clin. Vaccine Immunol. 16, 824–829.
- COSTA, T.P., BROWN, J.D., HOWERTH, E.W., STALLKNECHT, D.E., 2011. Variation in viral shedding patterns between different wild bird species infected experimentally with low-pathogenicity avian influenza viruses that originated from wild birds. Avian Pathol. 40, 119–124.
- DIETER, C.D., GIEASON, J.S., ANDERSON, B.J., VAA, S., MAMMENGA, P.W., 2010. Survival and harvest characteristics of giant Canada geese in eastern South Dakota, 2000 – 2004. Human--Wildlife Interact. 4, 213–231.
- DUNTON, E.M., COMBS, D.L., 2010. Movements, habitat selection, associations, and survival of giant Canada goose broods in central Tennessee. Human--Wildlife Interact. 4, 192–201.
- FARNSWORTH, M.L., MILLER, R.S., PEDERSEN, K., LUTMAN, M.W., SWAFFORD, S.R., RIGGS,
  P.D., WEBB, C.T., 2012. Environmental and demographic determinants of avian influenza viruses in waterfowl across the contiguous United States. PLoS One 7, e32729.
  doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0032729
- FEREIDOUNI, S.R., GRUND, C., HÄUSLAIGNER, R., LANGE, E., WILKING, H., HARDER, T.C., BEER, M., STARICK, E., 2010. Dynamics of specific antibody responses induced in mallards after

infection by or immunization with low pathogenicity avian influenza viruses. Avian Dis. 54, 79–85.

- FULLER, T.L., SAATCHI, S.S., CURD, E.E., TOFFELMIER, E., THOMASSEN, H. A, BUERMANN, W.,
  DESANTE, D.F., NOTT, M.P., SARACCO, J.F., RALPH, C., ALEXANDER, J.D., POLLINGER, J.P.,
  SMITH, T.B., 2010. Mapping the risk of avian influenza in wild birds in the US. BMC Infect.
  Dis. 10, 187.
- GATES, R.J., CAITHAMER, D.F., MORITZ, W.E., TACHA, T.C., 2001. Bioenergetics and nutrition of Mississippi Valley population Canada geese during winter and migration. Wildl. Monogr. 146, 1–65.
- GILBERT, M., XIAO, X., PFEIFFER, D.U., EPPRECHT, M., BOLES, S., CZARNECKI, C.,
  CHAITAWEESUB, P., KALPRAVIDH, W., MINH, P.Q., OTTE, M.J., MARTIN, V., SLINGENBERGH,
  J., 2008. Mapping H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza risk in Southeast Asia. Proc.
  Natl. Acad. Sci. 105, 4769–4774.
- HARRIS, M.T., BROWN, J.D., GOEKJIAN, V.H., LUTTRELL, M.P., POULSON, R.L., WILCOX, B.R., SWAYNE, D.E., STALLKNECHt, D.E., 2010. Canada geese and the epidemiology of avian influenza viruses. J. Wildl. Dis. 46, 981–987.
- HESTBECK, J.B., 1995. Population study and management of Atlantic Flyway Canada geese. J. Appl. Stat. 22, 877–890.
- HINSHAW, V.S., WOOD, J.M., WEBSTER, R.G., DEIBEL, R., TURNER, B., 1985. Circulating influenza and paramyxoviruses in waterfowl from two different location in North America.Bull. World Health Organ. 63, 711–719.

HOYE, B.J., MUNSTER, V.J., NISHIURA, H., FOUCHIER, R. A. M., MADSEN, J., KLAASSEN, M.,

2011. Reconstructing an annual cycle of interaction: natural infection and antibody dynamics to avian influenza along a migratory flyway. Oikos 120, 748–755. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.18961.x

- KISTLER, W.M., STALLKNECHT, D.E., DELIBERTO, T.J., SWAFFORD, S., PEDERSEN, K., VAN WHY,
  K., WOLF, P.C., HILL, J. A, BRUNING, D.L., CUMBEE, J.C., MICKLEY, R.M., BETSILL, C.W.,
  RANDALL, A.R., BERGHAUS, R.D., YABSLEY, M.J., 2012. Antibodies to Avian Influenza
  Viruses in Canada Geese (Branta canadensis): A Potential Surveillance Tool? J. Wildl. Dis.
  48, 1097–1101.
- LAM, P., 2014. logit.gee: General Estimating Equation for Logistic Regression, in: Imai, K., King, G., Lau, O. (Eds.), Zelig: Everyone's Statistical Software. p. 2014.
- OLSEN, B., MUNSTER, V.J., WALLENSTEN, A., WALDENSTRÖM, J., OSTERHAUS, A.D.M.E., FOUCHIER, R. A. M., 2006. Global patterns of influenza a virus in wild birds. Science. 312, 384–388.
- PASICK, J., BERHANE, Y., EMBURY-HYATT, C., COPPS, J., KEHLER, H., HANDEl, K., BABIUK, S., HOOPER-MCGREVY, K., LI, Y., LE, Q.M., PHUONG, S.L., 2007. Susceptibility of Canada geese (Branta canadensis) to highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (H5N1). Emerg. Infect. Dis. 13, 1821–1827.
- STALLKNECHT, D.E., SHANE, S.M., ZWANK, P.J., SENNE, D.A., and KERNEY, M.T., 1990. Avian influenza viruses from migratory and resident ducks of coastal Louisiana. Avian Diseases 34:398-405.
- TOLF, C., LATORRE-MARGALEF, N., WILLE, M., BENGTSSON, D., GUNNARSSON, G., ELMBERG, J., WALDENSTROM, J., 2013. Individual Variation in Influenza A Virus Infection Histories and

Long-Term Immune Responses in Mallards. PLoS One 8.

- WALLENSTEN, A., MUNSTER, V.J., LATORRE-MARGALEF, N., BRYTTING, M., ELMBERG, J.,
  FOUCHIER, R. A. M., FRANSSON, T., Haemig, P.D., KARLSSON, M., LUNDKVIST, A.,
  OSTERHAUS, A.D.M.E., STERVANDER, M., WALDENSTRÖM, J., BJÖRN, O., 2007.
  Surveillance of influenza A virus in migratory waterfowl in northern Europe. Emerg. Infect.
  Dis. 13, 404–411.
- WILSON, H.M., HALL, J.S., FLINT, P.L., FRANSON, J.C., ELY, C.R., SCHMUTZ, J.A., SAMUEL,M.D., 2013. High Seroprevalence of Antibodies to Avian Influenza Viruses among WildWaterfowl in Alaska: Implications for Surveillance. PLoS One 8, e58308.

**Table 3.1.** Description and sources for predictor variables for predicting risk of exposure to

 influenza A viruses in Canada geese.

| Variable       | Variable           | Units   | Range  | Source             |
|----------------|--------------------|---------|--------|--------------------|
|                | description        |         |        |                    |
| Developed Land | Percent wetland    | % Cover | 0-99.8 | National Land      |
| Cover          | cover of home-     |         |        | Cover Data Base    |
|                | range              |         |        | 2011 United States |
|                |                    |         |        | Geological Survey  |
|                |                    |         |        | (USGS):            |
|                |                    |         |        | http://www.mrlc.go |
|                |                    |         |        | v/                 |
| Wetland Cover  | Percent wetland    | % Cover | 0-80.9 | National Wetland   |
|                | cover of home-     |         |        | Inventory United   |
|                | range              |         |        | States Fish and    |
|                |                    |         |        | Wildlife Service   |
| Grassland      | Percent of home-   | % Cover | 0-42   | Cropland Data      |
|                | range covered.     |         |        | Layer, National    |
|                | Done for each year |         |        | Agriculture        |
|                |                    |         |        | Statistics Service |
|                |                    |         |        | United States      |
|                |                    |         |        | Department of      |

|            |                    |          |        | Agriculture         |
|------------|--------------------|----------|--------|---------------------|
|            |                    |          |        | http://www.nass.us  |
|            |                    |          |        | da.gov/research/Cro |
|            |                    |          |        | pland/SARS1a.htm    |
| Cropland   | Percent of home-   | % Cover  | 0-61.5 | Cropland Data       |
|            | range covered.     |          |        | Layer               |
|            | Done for each year |          |        |                     |
| Ecoregions | Sample location in | Presence | 0 or 1 | United States       |
|            | ecoregion          |          |        | Environmental       |
|            |                    |          |        | Protection Agency   |

| Year        | Positive/Sampled (%) | Odds Ratio (95% CI) |
|-------------|----------------------|---------------------|
| (Locations) |                      |                     |
| 2009*       | 140/694 (20)         | Referent            |
| (28)        |                      |                     |
| 2010        | 137/495 (28)         | 1.6 (0.9-2.6)       |
| (23)        |                      |                     |
| 2011        | 242/861 (28)         | 1.6 (0.9-2.6)       |
| (37)        |                      |                     |
| 2012        | 195/869 (22)         | 1.1 (0.6-2.0)       |
| (27)        |                      |                     |
| Total       | 714/2,919 (24)       |                     |
| (115)       |                      |                     |
|             |                      |                     |

**Table 3.2.** Prevalence estimates to influenza A virus nucleoprotein as determined by bELISA.

 Odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals from logistic regression utilizing generalized

 estimating equations.



**Figure 3.1.** Influenza A virus nucleoprotein antibody prevalence in Canada geese as determined by bELISA by sample location from 2009-2012.



**Figure 3.2.** Plot of Moran's I values from first order nearest neighbors to fifth order nearest neighbors.

## CHAPTER 4

# SUBTYPE-SPECIFIC INFLUENZA A VIRUS ANTIBODIES IN CANADA GEESE (Branta

canadensis)

Veterinary Research

W. M. Kistler, D. E. Stallknecht, T. J. DeLiberto, K. Van Why, and M. J. Yabsley. To be submitted to BMC

Abstract: Traditionally, surveillance for influenza A viruses (IAVs) in wild birds has relied on viral detection assays. However, serological assays have been recently developed that have increased our understanding of IAVs in wild birds. Serological surveillance for IAV antibodies in Canada geese (Branta canadensis) has shown that, despite a low prevalence of virus isolations, Canada geese are frequently exposed to IAVs and that exposure increases with latitude, which follows virus isolation prevalence patterns observed in dabbling ducks. The objectives of this study were to further evaluate IAV antibodies in Canada geese using a subtypespecific serological assay to determine if Canada geese are exposed to subtypes that commonly circulate in dabbling ducks. We collected serum samples from Canada geese in Minnesota, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin and tested for antibodies to the IAV nucleoprotein (NP). Positive samples were further tested by hemagglutination inhibition for 10 hemagglutinin IAV subtypes (H1-H10). Overall, we detected antibodies to NP in 24% (714/2,919) of geese. Antibodies to H3, H4, H5, and H6 subtypes predominated, with H5 being detected most frequently. A decrease in H5 HI antibody prevalence and titers was observed from 2009 to 2010-2012. We also detected similar exposure pattern in Canada geese from New Jersey, Minnesota, Washington and Wisconsin. Based on the published literature, H3, H4, and H6 viruses are the most commonly reported IAVs from dabbling ducks. These results indicate that Canada geese also are frequently exposed to viruses of the same HA subtypes; however, the high prevalence of antibodies to H5 viruses was not expected as H5 IAVs are generally not well represented in reported isolates from ducks.

Keywords: Canada geese, Hemagglutination Inhibition, Influenza A Virus, Sentinel, Serology

### Introduction

Wild birds in the orders Anseriformes and Charadriiformes are considered the natural reservoirs for influenza A viruses (IAVs) (Oslen et al., 2006) and traditional surveillance for these viruses in wild birds has relied on viral detection by either virus isolation or RT-PCR (Hinshaw et al., 1985; Wallensten et al., 2007). However, serological assays have been recently developed that reportedly have a high sensitivity at detecting antibodies to IAVs, thus these assays can be used to improve surveillance approaches (Brown et al., 2009; Lebarbenchon et al., 2012). The duration of detectable antibodies can be >1 year in naturally infected ducks (Tolf et al., 2013; Feriedouni et al., 2010), and with repeated infections, they may persists for the life of the bird. In contrast, viral shedding is of short duration, often <10 days (Pasick et al., 2007; Costa et al., 2011). The long duration of antibodies allows for sampling during times when birds are more easily captured (e.g. summer molting) or in species where information about their role in the maintenance of IAVs is limited. Serology has been recently used to supplement virus isolation data and advance our current understanding of IAVs in Canada geese (*Branta canadensis*) (Kistler et al., 2012).

Traditionally, Canada geese have not been implicated in an important role in the epidemiology of IAVs. Although Canada geese have a near ubiquitous distribution in the United States (US) and share aquatic habitats with known IAVs reservoir species (Hestbeck, 1995), IAV isolations from Canada geese are rare (Harris et al., 2012). This perceived low prevalence of viral isolation is likely due to brief and infrequent viral shedding patterns reported in experimentally infected Canada geese (Berhane et al., 2014) and sample timing which often occurred during a 3-4-week flight-less molting period during June and early July (Harris et al., 2010; Kistler et al., 2012). Using serologic testing, Canada geese were found to be frequently

exposed to IAVs and the prevalence of antibodies increased with latitude (Kistler et al., 2012). This increase in antibody prevalence in geese followed a similar trend of virus shedding data in dabbling ducks (Hinshaw et al., 1985; Stallknecht et al., 1990).

These data suggest that serological surveillance of IAVs in Canada geese may provide an inexpensive sentinel system to monitor or supplement surveillance efforts to understand spatial and annual trends in IAV transmission in waterfowl populations. However, subtype-specific serological data are needed to understand if antibodies detected in Canada geese are representative of the predominant subtypes detected in waterfowl, especially dabbling ducks. Based on virus isolation results from dabbling ducks, hemagglutinin subtypes H3, H4, and H6 are most commonly reported during peak IAV transmission in late summer and early fall (Wilcox et al., 2011). The objectives of this study were to determine long term trends in IAVs antibodies to the nucleoprotein (NP) and to detect subtype-specific antibodies in Canada geese.

#### Materials and Methods

In June and July 2010-2012, we collected blood samples from Canada geese from 82 locations (Figure 1) in Pennsylvania during banding and nuisance removal programs. Blood samples were collected from the medial metatarsal vein from geese being released and by cardiocentesis from birds that were euthanized. Blood samples were placed in Vacutainer® serum separator tubes (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and placed on wet ice in the field. After transport to a laboratory (<1 day) blood samples were centrifuged (15 min at 1200g) and serum was removed and stored at -20C until testing. Canada goose samples collected in 2009 during a previous study (Kistler et al., 2012) were also used in this study. These 2009 samples had antibodies to IAV NP and were from New Jersey (n=63), Minnesota (n=14), Pennsylvania

(n=134), and Washington (n=26). In addition, samples (n=80) with IAVs NP antibodies collected from 11 locations in Wisconsin during 2010 and 2011 were tested. All techniques were reviewed and approved by the IACUC committee at the University of Georgia.

We first screened serum samples for presence of antibodies to the IAV NP using a commercial blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (bELISA; IDEXX Laboratories, Westbrook, ME, USA). Samples that had antibodies to the IAV NP were then screened by a hemagglutination inhibition (HI) assay using antigen from the Southeastern Cooperative Wildlife Disease Study (University of Georgia, Athens, GA, USA; Table 1) and positive control serum from specific pathogen-free chickens (National Veterinary Service Laboratories, United States Department of Agriculture, Ames, IA, USA). Canada goose serum was first treated with 10% chicken red blood cells (1:1 dilution), incubated at room temperature for 1 hour, and then centrifuged for 10 min at 800g. The supernatant was then removed and used for the HI assays. The HI assays for all subtypes were conducted as previously described (Hinshwa et al., 1986) using 4 HA/25µl and a positive cut-off titer of  $\geq$ 32.

### Results

Overall, we detected antibodies to the IAV nucleoprotein in 24% (714/2,919) of Canada geese in Pennsylvania. We collected samples from 31 counties in Pennsylvania. Nucleoprotein antibody prevalence was highest in the northwestern and southeastern counties (Figure 1). No significant difference in antibody prevalence was detected among years (Table 2). Of the 714 samples with NP antibodies, we used 653 samples for subtype-specific antibody testing. Antibodies to the H5 subtype were detected most often with 60% of the NP-positive birds testing positive. There was a decrease in both H5-specific antibody prevalence and geometric mean titer

from 2009 through 2012 (Table 3). Antibodies to the H3, H4, and H6 subtypes were also detected in >20% of NP-positive geese, but there was little fluctuation in antibody prevalence across years (Figure 2). Within Pennsylvania, we detected H5-specific antibodies from 88% (102/116), H3-specific antibodies from 63% (73/116), H4-specific antibodies from 59% (69/116), and H6-specific antibodies from 71% (82/116) of sample location. There was also little fluctuation in antibody prevalence to H7 and H9 subtypes (Figure 2). Antibody prevalence to the remaining four subtypes (H1, H2, H8 and H10) was estimated at <1%.

To further evaluate if subtype-specific antibodies were consistent on a larger scale, we tested an additional 183 samples from four other states for antibodies to H3, H4, H5, and H6 subtypes. Antibodies to the H5 subtype also were the most frequently in these states. While antibodies to the H3 and H6 subtypes were >20%, H4-specific antibodies were <10%. We did not detect any H4-specific antibodies from Wisconsin in 2011.

#### Discussion

This study was a continuation of previous serological survey conducted in Canada geese (Kistler et al., 2012). We detected slight variations of IAVs nucleoprotein antibody prevalence among years; however, these changes were not significant. In a previous study, antibody prevalence estimates from Canada geese were shown to increase with latitude (Kistler et al., 2012), which corresponds with IAV isolation data from dabbling ducks (Hinshaw et al., 1985; Stallknecht et al., 1990). These data suggested that Canada geese share a common exposure to IAVs with dabbling ducks. Although IAVs from all avian HA subtypes, except for the H16 subtype, have been detected from dabbling ducks, the H3, H4, and H6 subtypes are the most frequently isolated subtypes (Wilcox et al., 2011). In our study, antibodies to H3, H4, and H6

were frequently detected which supports a common source of exposure in Canada geese. This source is likely through direct contact of dabbling ducks or through the environment contaminated with IAVs. The low prevalence of H1, H2, H8, and H10 was not surprising as these subtypes are often under-represented in IAVs detected in dabbling ducks (Sharp et al., 1993).

Influenza A viruses of the H5 subtype are usually detected in low prevalence from dabbling ducks and often account for <1% of detected IAVs (Hanson et al., 2008; Wilcox et al., 2011). However, local variation in the prevalence of H5 IAVs in ducks has been reported (Lindsay et al., 2013). The high H5 antibody prevalence we detected in Canada geese is not understood, but could be related to this subtype circulating outside the known peak viral shedding in dabbling ducks when most sampling occurs. A higher prevalence of H5 IAVs has been detected in ducks in the winter months in California (Pearce et al., 2011; Hill et al., 2012). If the transmission of H5 viruses is dependent on season and more likely to occur during winter, Canada geese would be exposed to these viruses closer to our sampling time. Alternatively, the high H5-specific antibody prevalence we detected could be due to a more robust immune response associated with the H5 subtype as Canada geese experimentally infected with H5 viruses develop higher subtype specific antibody titers than when infected with other subtypes (Berhane et al., 2010). These higher titers are likely due to H5 viruses replicating more efficiently in geese than other subtypes. In experimental infections, geese shed virus and develop antibodies after a single inoculation with H5 viruses, but often need to be inoculated more than once with other subtypes for viral shedding and a detectable antibody response (Berhane et al., 2010; 2014). The high H5 antibody prevalence we detected across multiple states and locations indicates this subtype circulates across the country.

We detected a decrease in H5-specific antibody titer and prevalence every year in Pennsylvania from a peak in 2009. This decrease in antibody titer and prevalence is likely due to a decrease in exposure to this subtype, population recruitment, and a waning subtype-specific antibody response. Annual variation in HA subtype prevalence has been reported in dabbling ducks (Hinshwaw et al., 1985; Krauss et al., 2004). Although there is very little information on the persistence of subtype-specific antibodies in wild birds, antibodies to the IAV nucleoprotein have been shown to persist for 1-year in the absence of detected virus circulation (Tolf et al., 2013). The observed variation could also have resulted from our use of one H5 antigen for all assays, regardless of year. The extent of H5 antigenic diversity in North American IAVs is not known but any antigenic changes could have altered our prevalence and titers detected. Although antigenic drift has been associated with new strains of highly pathogenic H5N1 viruses Zhone et al., 2014) it is poorly documented with low pathogenic H5 viruses from wild birds.

We detected similar subtype-specific antibody prevalence estimates in Canada geese sampled outside of Pennsylvania. Although, we only tested for antibodies to four HA subtypes, geese from these states had similar proportion of antibodies to these subtypes with antibodies to the H5 subtype predominating; however, we did not detect any antibodies to the H4 subtype in Wisconsin in 2011. This may be likely to low circulation of H4 IAVs during that year. In different locations and years there is variation in subtypes that circulate in wild ducks (Wilcox et al., 2011).

Overall, we detected little variation in IAV antibody prevalence in Canada geese from Pennsylvania. In addition, geese were frequently exposed to subtypes that commonly circulate in dabbling ducks. We detected a high prevalence of H5-specific antibodies and these viruses are not well represented among viruses isolated from dabbling ducks. The H5-specific antibody

prevalence could be due to increased antibody response to this subtype in Canada geese or circulation of this subtype after peak viral shedding is seen in dabbling ducks. These results support that Canada geese can be used as a serologic sentinel for IAV distribution on a regional scale; however, additional information related to antibody response in this species and seasonal variation in subtype prevalence are needed to fully interpret serologic data.

## Acknowledgments

We thank J. Parris, J. Slusher, and A. Howey-Newsome (Southeastern Cooperative Wildlife Disease Study) and personal at the Pennsylvania Game Commission for field assistance. Funding was provided by Department of Homeland Security, Center of Excellence for Emerging and Zoonotic animal Diseases cooperative agreement 2010-ST-061-AG0001-02 and contract HHSN266200700007C from National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAAD), National Institutes of Health (NIH), Department of Health and Human Services. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH.

## References

- BERHANE Y, LEITH M, NEUFELD J, BABIUK S, HISANAGA T, KEHLER H, A JP, EMBURY-HYATT C, HOOPER-MCGREVY K, PASICK J: Studying possible cross-protection of Canada geese preexposed to North American low pathogenicity avian influenza virus strains (H3N8, H4N6, and H5N2) against an H5N1 highly pathogenic avian influenza challenge. *Avian Dis* 2010, 54:548–554.
- BERHANE Y, EMBURY-HYATT C, LEITH M, KEHLER H, SUDERMAN M, PASICK J: Pre-exposing Canada Geese (Branta canadensis) to a low-pathogenic H1N1 avian influenza virus

protects them against H5N1 HPAI virus challenge. J Wildl Dis 2014, 50:84-97.

- BROWN JD, STALLKNECHT DE, BERGHAUS RD, LUTTRELL MP, VELEK K, KISTLER W, COSTA TP, YABSLEY MJ, SWAYNE D: Evaluation of a commercial blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay to detect avian influenza virus antibodies in multiple experimentally infected avian species. *Clin Vaccine Immunol* 2009, 16:824–829.
- COSTA TP, BROWN JD, HOWERTH EW, STALLKNECHT DE: Variation in viral shedding patterns between different wild bird species infected experimentally with low-pathogenicity avian influenza viruses that originated from wild birds. *Avian Pathol* 2011, 40:119–124.
- FEREIDOUNI SR, GRUND C, HÄUSLAIGNER R, LANGE E, WILKING H, HARDER TC, BEER M, STARICK E: Dynamics of specific antibody responses induced in mallards after infection by or immunization with low pathogenicity avian influenza viruses. *Avian Dis* 2010, 54:79–85.
- HANSON BA, STALLKNECHT DE, SWAYNE DE, LEWIS LA, SENNE DA: Avian influenza viruses in Minnesota ducks during 1998-2000. *Avian Dis* 2003, 47(3 Suppl):867–871.
- HARRIS MT, BROWN JD, GOEKJIAN VH, LUTTRELL MP, POULSON RL, WILCOX BR, SWAYNE DE, STALLKNECHT DE: Canada geese and the epidemiology of avian influenza viruses. *J Wildl Dis* 2010, 46:981–987.
- HESTBECK JB: Population study and management of Atlantic Flyway Canada geese. *J Appl Stat* 1995, 22:877–890.
- HILL NJ, TAKEKAWA JY, ACKERMAN JT, HOBSON K A., HERRING G, CARDONA CJ, RUNSTADLER J A., BOYCE WM: Migration strategy affects avian influenza dynamics in mallards (Anas platyrhynchos). *Mol Ecol* 2012, 21:5986–5999.

HINSHAW VS, WOOD JM, WEBSTER RG, DEIBEL R, TURNER B: Circulating influenza and

paramyxoviruses in waterfowl from two different location in North America. *Bull World Health Organ* 1985, 63:711–719.

- HINSHAW VS, NETTLES VF, SCHORR LF, WOOD JM, WEBSTER RG: Influenza virus surveillance in waterfowl in Pennsylvania after the H5N2 avian outbreak. *Avian Dis* 1986, 30:207– 212.
- KISTLER WM, STALLKNECHT DE, DELIBERTO TJ, SWAFFORD S, PEDERSEN K, VAN WHY K,
  WOLF PC, HILL JA, BRUNING DL, CUMBEE JC, MICKLEY RM, BETSILL CW, RANDALL
  AR, BERGHAUS RD, YABSLEY MJ: Antibodies to Avian Influenza Viruses in Canada
  Geese (Branta canadensis): A Potential Surveillance Tool? *J Wildl Dis* 2012, 48:1097–1101.
- KRAUSS S, WALKER D, PRYOR SP, NILES L, CHENGHONG LI, HINSHAW VS, WEBSTER RG: Influenza A viruses of migrating wild aquatic birds in North America. *Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis* 2004, 4:177–189.
- LEBARBENCHON C, BROWN JD, LUTTRELL MP, STALLKNECHT DE: Comparison of two commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays for detection of Influenza A virus antibodies. *J Vet Diagnostic Investig* 2012, 24:161–165.
- LINDSAY LL, KELLY TR, PLANCARTE M, SCHOBEL S, LIN X, DUGAN VG, WENTWORTH DE, BOYCE WM: Avian influenza: mixed infections and missing viruses. *Viruses* 2013, 5:1964–1977.
- OLSEN B, MUNSTER VJ, WALLENSTEN A, WALDENSTRÖM J, OSTERHAUS ADME, FOUCHIER RAM: Global patterns of influenza a virus in wild birds. *Science (80- )* 2006, 312:384– 388.

PASICK J, BERHANE Y, EMBURY-hYATT C, COPPS J, KEHLER H, HANDEL K, BABIUK S, HOOPER-

MCGREVY K, LI Y, LE QM, PHUONG SL: Susceptibility of Canada geese (Branta canadensis) to highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (H5N1). *Emerg Infect Dis* 2007, 13:1821–1827.

- PEARCE JM, REEVES AB, RAMEY AM, HUPP JW, IP HS, BERTRAM M, PETRULA MJ, SCOTTON BD, TRUST KA, MEIXELL BW, RUNSTADLER J a: Interspecific exchange of avian influenza virus genes in Alaska: the influence of trans-hemispheric migratory tendency and breeding ground sympatry. *Mol Ecol* 2011, 20:1015–1025.
- SHARP GB, KAWAOKA Y, WRIGHT SM, TURNER B, HINSHAW V, WEBSTER RG: Wild ducks are the reservoir for only a limited number of influenza A subtypes. *Epidemiol Infect* 1993, 110:161–176.
- STALLKNECHT DE, SHANE SM, ZWANK PJ, SENNE DA, KEARNEY MT: Avian influenza viruses from migratory and resident ducks of coastal Louisiana. *Avian Dis* 1990, 34:398–405.
- TOLF C, LATORRE-MARGALEF N, WILLE M, BENGTSSON D, GUNNARSSON G, ELMBERG J,
   WALDENSTROM J: Individual Variation in Influenza A Virus Infection Histories and Long Term Immune Responses in Mallards. *PLoS One* 2013, 8.
- WALLENSTEN A, MUNSTER VJ, LATORRE-MARGALEF N, BRYTTING M, ELMBERG J, FOUCHIER
  RAM, FRANSSON T, HAEMIG PD, KARLSSON M, LUNDKVIST A, OSTERHAUS ADME,
  STERVANDER M, WALDENSTRÖM J, BJÖRN O: Surveillance of influenza A virus in
  migratory waterfowl in northern Europe. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2007, 13:404–411.
- WILCOX BR, KNUTSEN G a., BERDEEN J, GOEKJIAN V, POULSON R, GOYAI S, SREEVATSAN S, CARDONA C, BERGHAUS RD, SWAYNE DE, YABSLEY MJ, STALLKNECHT DE: Influenza-A viruses in ducks in northwestern Minnesota: fine scale spatail and temoporal variation in prevalence and subtype diversity. *PLoS One* 2011, 6:e24010.

ZHONG L, ZHAO Q, ZHAO K, WANG X, ZHAO G, LI Q, GU M, PENG D, LIU X: The antigenic drift molecular basis of the H5N1 influenza viruses in a novel branch of clade 2.3.4. Vet Microbiol 2014 (In press).

| Virus                                    |  |  |
|--|--|--|
|  |  |  |
| A/Mallard/Minnesota/sg-00627/2008(H1N1)  |  |  |
| A/Mallard/Minnesota/AI08-2755/2008(H2N3) |  |  |
| A/Mallard/Minnesota/Sg-00627/2008(H3N8)  |  |  |
| A/Mallard/Minnesota/Sg-01049/2008(H4N6)  |  |  |
| A/Mallard/Minnesota/AI08-3532/2008(H5N2) |  |  |
| A/Mallard/Minnesota/Sg-00796/2008(H6N1)  |  |  |
| A/Mallard/Minnesota/AI09-3770/2009(H7N9) |  |  |
| A/Mallard/Minnesota/Sg-00689/2008(H8N4)  |  |  |
| A/Mallard/Arkansas/AI09-5649/2009(H9N2)  |  |  |
| A/Mallard/Minnesota/Sg-00689/2008(H10N7) |  |  |
|  |  |  |

**Table 4.1.** Viruses used to make antigen for the hemagglutination inhibition assay.
**Table 4.2.** H5-specific antibody titers and prevalence across years as determined by the hemagglutination inhibition assay.

| Year | Positive/Sampled (%; 95% CI) | Geometric Mean Titer |
|------|------------------------------|----------------------|
| 2009 | 127/134 (95; 91-99)          | 163                  |
| 2010 | 101/113 (89; 84-95)          | 130                  |
| 2011 | 125/222 (56; 48-65)          | 37                   |
| 2012 | 42/184 (23; 16-30)           | 33                   |



Figure 4.1. Sample location distribution in Pennsylvania 2010-2012.



**Figure 4.2.** Influenza A virus subtype-specific antibodies from (n=653) Canada geese in Pennsylvania as determined by the hemagglutination inhibition assay.



**Figure 4.3.** Prevalence of Influenza A subtype-specific antibodies from (n=184) Canada geese in New Jersey, Minnesota, Washington, and Wisconsin as determined by the hemagglutination inhibition assay.

## CHAPTER 5

## INFLUENZA A VIRUS H5-SPECIFIC ANTIBODIES IN NORTH AMERICAN MUTE

SWANS (Cygnus olor)

W. M. Kistler, D. E. Stallknecht, C. Lebarbenchon, K.Pedersen, D. R. Marks, R. Mickley, Thomas J. DeLiberto, andM. J. Yabsley. To be submitted to the *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*.

Abstract: The use of serological assays for influenza A virus (IAV) surveillance in wild birds has increased due to the availability of commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs). Recently, an H5-specific blocking ELISA was shown to reliably detect H5-specific antibodies to low and high pathogenic H5 viruses in experimentally-infected waterfowl. Mute swans (Cygnus olor) are large conspicuous birds that were frequently associated with highly pathogenic H5N1 outbreaks in Europe. Because mute swans are present in North America and may play a similar role if highly pathogenic H5N1 were introduced into North America, the objective of this study was to determine the NP and H5 IAV antibody prevalence in mute swans using multiple serological assays. We collected 340 serum samples from mute swans in Michigan, New Jersey, New York, and Rhode Island. In total, we detected antibodies to the IAV NP in 66% (225/340) of the samples. We detected H5-specific antibodies in 63% (214/340) and 19% (64/340) using a modified bELISA protocol and HI assay, respectively. In comparing the two H5 bELISA protocols, the modified protocol detected significantly more positive samples than the manufacturer's protocol (McNemar's  $\chi 2=63$ , p-value<0.001); although there was fair agreement between the protocols ( $\kappa = 0.3$  (0.1-0.5). We also tested 46 samples with a virus neutralization assay. This assay had high agreement with the second bELISA protocol and detected a higher prevalence then the HI assay. Overall, these results indicate that North American mute swans have a high H5 antibody prevalence and may be protected from disease associated with highly pathogenic H5N1.

Keywords: H5-specific ELISA, hemagglutination inhibition, mute swans, serology

Surveillance for influenza A viruses (IAVs) in wild birds has been traditionally based on detection of viral shedding using virus isolation or polymerase chain reaction. However,

recently, there has been an increase in the use of serological assays for IAV surveillance because of the development and validation of several commercial availability enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) in several wild bird species (Brown et al., 2009). These assays detect antibodies to the IAV nucleoprotein (NP) and have been effectively used for IAV surveillance in wild birds (Brown et al., 2010; Kistler et al., 2012). However, the commercial assays that have been validated for use in wild birds detect antibodies to all IAVs and are not capable of detecting subtype specific antibodies.

Historically, the hemagglutination inhibition (HI) assay has been the most frequently to detect subtype specific antibodies in wild birds (Winkler et al., 1972). The HI assay can detect IAV antibodies across multiple species and has been used in large scale surveillance studies in wild birds (De Marco et al., 2004; Niqueux et al., 2010). However, there are several disadvantages to the HI assay, the most important of which is a lack of standardization with antigen and antisera across laboratories making it difficult to compare results among studies (Stephenson et al., 2007). The recent development of a blocking ELISA that has high sensitivity and specificity for detection of H5-specific antibodies in experimentally infected mallards (*Anas platyrhynchos*; Lebarbenchon et al., 2013) offers a possible assay that can provide standardized results across laboratories.

The emergence of highly pathogenic (HP) H5N1 in poultry in 1997 has increased the availability of H5-specific antibody tests. Over the last 15 years, HP H5N1 viruses have been reported in wild birds across Asia and Europe, and in particular, mute swans (Cygnus olor) where frequently associated with outbreaks of HP H5N1 in Europe (Feare, 2010). Mute swans are large conspicuous birds and may play a role if HP H5N1 were to be introduced to North

104

America. The objective of this study was to determine if H5 IAV antibodies currently exists in North American mute swans using several H5-specific serologic assays.

Blood samples were collected from mute swans (n=340) in collaboration with the United States Department of Agriculture-Wildlife Services during nuisance collections in Michigan, New Jersey, New York, and Rhode Island. Blood samples were collected by cardiocentesis from birds being euthanized or the medial metatarsel vein from birds being released. Blood samples were placed in vacutainer® tubes (BD, Franklin Lakes, New Jersey) stored on wet ice in the field until transport to a laboratory (<24 hours). Samples where then centrifuged for 10min at 3000rpm and sera was stored at -20°C until testing.

Antibodies to the all IAV serotypes were detected using a commercial NP bELISA (IDEXX Laboratories, Westbrook, ME) per manufacturer's instructions (Brown et al., 2009). We detected H5-specific antibodies using three assays; a bELISA (ID VET, Montpelier, France), an H5 HI assay, and an H5 virus microneutralization assay (VN). We used two different protocols with the H5-specific bELISA, 1) we followed the manufacturer's instructions and 2) we used a 1:2 serum dilution with an 18 hour incubation at 36°C as modified and described by Lebarbenchon et al., (2013). We tested a subset of 182 serum samples with both bELISA protocols and the remaining 158 with the modified protocol. Samples with sample to negative ratios >0.35 were considered negative. We tested all 340 serum samples by HI using A/mallard/AI08-3532/H5N2 as antigen and antisera obtained from the National Veterinary Service Laboratories (APHIS, USDA, Ames, IA). Serum samples were first treated with receptor destroying enzyme (RDE (II) Denka Seiken, Tokyo, Japan) at a 1:3 dilution followed by incubation for 18 hours at 36°C and then 56°C for 1 hour. The HI assay was performed as described (Pedersen, 2008) using 4 HA units/25ul of antigen and a titer >8 was considered positive (Curran et al., 2014). The VN assays was performed as described (Ramey et al., 2014) using A/mallard/MN/AI11-3933/2011(H5N1) virus. We tested 46 serum samples with the VN assay.

Statistical analyses were done using R v3.0. Agreement between the two bELISA protocols was evaluated using kappa statistics ( $\kappa$ ) and percent agreement. Interpretation of the kappa value was based on criteria from Landis and Koch (1977). We used McNemar's  $\chi$ 2 test to determine if there was a significant difference between the numbers of positive samples detected between the assays.

We detected NP antibodies in 66% (225/340) of serum samples using the NP bELISA (Table 1). In comparison of the two H5-specific bELISA protocols, we detected antibodies in 33% (60/182) of birds using the manufacturer's protocol and in 69% (126/182) using the modified protocol. There was 62% agreement between the two protocols with moderate agreement ( $\kappa$ =0.3 (0.1-0.5); the modified protocol detected significantly more positive samples (McNemar's  $\chi$ 2=63 p<0.001). The H5 antibody prevalence for all 340 samples using the modified bELISA protocol and the HI assay are in Table 1. Because of the low prevalence with the HI assay, we tested a subset (n=46) of samples with the VN assay. The H5 antibody prevalence for this subset was 65% (30/46), 65% (30/46), and 50% (23/46) using the VN assay, modified bELISA protocol, and HI assay, respectively. However, sample selection was based on previous HI results (23 negatives and 23 positives) and are not an accurate representation of the sample population.

Overall, we detected a high IAV NP antibody prevalence in mute swans which supports data by Pederson et al., (2014) who reported a prevalence of 45%. This high antibody prevalence is likely related to the persistence of antibodies, which may be over one year in the absence of

106

virus circulation (Fereidouni et al., 2010), and age of the sampled birds as mute swans are a long lived waterfowl species (Reese, 1980). We also detected a high prevalence of H5-specific antibodies which was unexpected because H5 IAVs are not frequently reported from waterfowl in North America (Hinshaw et al., 1985).

A previous study detected in experimentally infected ducks detected an increased sensitivity with the H5-specific bELISA using the modified bELISA protocol (Lebarbencon et al. 2013). The data from our study also suggests that the modified protocol for the bELISA for detection of H5-specific antibodies in mute swans and possibly other birds. The low prevalence detected with the HI assay was surprising because a previous study in France detected H5-specific antibodies in >45% of mute swans using the HI assay (Niqueux et al., 2010). The HI assay has performed poorly in experimentally infected mute swans (Kalthoff et al., 2008) and was unable to detect antibodies in naturally exposed sentinel ducks (Globig et al., 2013). Although VN assay, data were similar to those from the modified bELISA protocol and both detected a higher prevalence of antibodies compared with the HI assay. Similar results for comparison of HI and VN assays have been reported in detecting H5 antibodies in humans (Rowe et al., 1999). In addition, the HI assay is likely not the most sensitive assay to detect subtype specific antibodies in mute swans and if used, confirmatory assays should be used.

Overall, our results suggest that mute swans in North American have a high NP antibody prevalence and also a high H5 antibody prevalence. Currently, the significance of this high antibody prevalence is not known but if this reflects a high existing population immunity to H5 viruses, the probability of disease or successful introduction of a highly pathogenic H5N1 viruses to North America may be reduced. Alternatively, these antibodies may protect mute swans from

107

disease associated with highly pathogenic H5N1 viruses and allow them to circulate without mortality.

Funding was provided by Department of Homeland Security, Center of Excellence for Emerging and Zoonotic animal Diseases cooperative agreement 2010-ST-061-AG0001-02 and contract HHSN266200700007C from National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAAD), National Institutes of Health (NIH), Department of Health and Human Services. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH.

### References

- BROWN, J. D., M. P. LUTTRELL, M. M. UHART, H. DEL VALLE FERREYRA, M. M. ROMANO, M.V. RAGO, and D. E. STALLKNECHT. 2010. Antibodies to type A influenza virus in wild waterbirds from Argentina. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 46: 1040–1045.
- BROWN, J. D., D. E. STALLKNECHT, R. D. BERGHAUS, M. P. LUTTRELL, K. VELEK, W. KISTLER, T. P. COSTA, M. J. YABSLEY, and D. SWAYNE. 2009. Evaluation of a commercial blocking enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay to detect avian influenza virus antibodies in multiple experimentally infected avian species. Clinical and Vaccine Immunology 16: 824–829.
- CURRAN, J. M., I. D. ROBERTSON, T. M. ELLIS, and P. W. SELLECK. 2014. Evaluation of Avian Influenza Serologic and Virologic Diagnostic Methods in Wild Anseriformes and Charadriiformes. Avian Diseases 58: 53–59.
- DE MARCO, M. A., L. CAMPITELLI, E. FONI, E. RAFFINI, G. BARIGAZZI, M. DELOGU, V. GUBERTI, L. DI TRANI, M. TOLLIS, and I. DONATELLI. 2004. Influenza surveillance in

birds in Italian wetlands (1992-1998): is there a host restricted circulation of influenza viruses in sympatric ducks and coots? Veterinary Microbiology 98: 197–208.

- FEARE, C. J. 2010. Role of wild birds in the spread of highly pathogenic avian influenza virus H5N1 and implications for global surveillance. Avian Diseases 54: 201–212.
- FEREIDOUNI, S. R., C. GRUND, R. HÄUSLAIGNER, E. LANGE, H. WILKING, T. C. HARDER, M. BEER, and E. STARICK. 2010. Dynamics of specific antibody responses induced in mallards after infection by or immunization with low pathogenicity avian influenza viruses. Avian Diseases 54: 79–85.
- GLOBIG, A., S. R. FEREIDOUNI, T. C. HARDER, C. GRUND, M. BEER, T. C. METTENLEITER, and
  E. STARICK. 2013. Consecutive natural influenza A virus infection in sentinel mallards in
  the evident absence of subtype-specific hemagglutination inhibiting antibodies.
  Transboundary and Emerging Diseases 60:395-402.
- HINSHAW, V. S., J. M. WOOD, R. G. WEBSTER, R. DEIBEL, and B. TURNER. 1985. Circulating influenza and paramyxoviruses in waterfowl from two different location in North America. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 63: 711–719.
- KALTHOFF, D., A. BREITHAUPT, J. P. TEIFKE, A. GLOBIG, T. HARDER, T. C. METTENLEITER, andM. BEER. 2008. Highly pathogenic avian influenza virus (H5N1) in experimentallyinfected adult mute swans. Emerging Infectious Diseases 14: 1267–1270.
- KISTLER, W. M., D. E. STALLKNECHT, T. J. DELIBERTO, S. SWAFFORD, K. PEDERSEN, K. VAN
  WHY, P. C. WOLF, J. A. HILL, D. L. BRUNING, J. C. CUMBEE, R. M. MICKLEY, C. W.
  BETSILL, A. R. RANDALL, R. D. BERGHAUS, and M. J. YABSLEY. 2012. Antibodies to
  Avian Influenza Viruses in Canada Geese (Branta canadensis): A Potential Surveillance
  Tool? Journal of Wildlife Diseases 48: 1097–1101.

- LEBARBENCHON, C., M. PANTIN-JACKWOOD, W. M. KISTLER, M. P. Luttrell, E. SPACKMAN, D. E. STALLKNECHT, and J. D. BROWN. 2013. Evaluation of a commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for detection of antibodies against the H5 subtype of Influenza A virus in waterfowl. Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses 7: 1237–1240.
- NIQUEUX, E., O. GUIONIE, A. SCHMITZ, and J. HARS. 2010. Presence of serum antibodies to influenza A subtypes H5 and N1 in swans and ibises in French wetlands, irrespective of highly pathogenic H5N1 natural infection. Avian Diseases 54: 502–508.
- PEDERSEN, J. C. 2008. Hemagglutination-inhibition test for avian influenza virus subtype identification and the detection of and quantitation of serum antibodies to the avian influenza virus. In Avian Influenza Virus. E. Spackman (ed.). Humana Press, Totowa, NJ. pp. 53–66.
- PEDERSEN, K., D. R. MARKS, D. M. ARSNOE, C. L. AFONSO, S. N. BEVINS, P. J. MILLER, A. R. RANDALL, and T. J. DELIBERTO. 2014. Avian paramyxovirus serotype 1 (Newcastle disease virus), avian influenza virus, and Salmonella spp. in mute swans (Cygnus olor) in the Great Lakes Region and Atlantic Coast of the United States. Avian Diseases 58: 129–136.
- RAMEY, A. M., R. L. POULSON, A. S. GONZALEZ-REICHE, D. R. PEREZ, D. E. STALLKNECHT, and J. D. BROWN. 2014. Genomic characterization of H14 subtype influenza A viruses in new world waterfowl and experimental infectivity in mallards (Anas platyrhynchos). PloS one 9:e95620.
- REESE, J. G. 1980. Demography of European Mute Swans in Chesapeake Bay. The Auk 97: 449–464.

- STEPHENSON, I., R. G. DAS, J. M. WOOD, and J. M. KATZ. 2007. Comparison of neutralizing antibody assays for detection of antibody to influenza A/H3N2 viruses: an international collaborative study. Vaccine 25: 4056–63.
- ROWE, T. R. A. ABERNATHY, J. HU-PRIMMER, W. W. THOMPSON, X. LU, W. LIM, K. FUKUDA, N. J. COX, and J. M. KATZ. 1999. Detection of antibody to avian influenza A (H5N1) virus in human serum by using a combination of serological assays. Journal of Clinical Microbiology 37:937-943.
- WINKLER, W. G., D. O. TRAINER, and B. C. EASTERDAY. 1972. Influenza in Canada geese. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 47: 507–513.

| State        | NP bELISA      | Modified bELISA protocol | H5 Hemagglutination Inhibition |
|--------------|----------------|--------------------------|--------------------------------|
|              | Positive/n (%) | Positive/n (%)           | Assay                          |
|              |                |                          | Positive/n (%)                 |
| Michigan     | 145/182 (80)   | 136/182 (75)             | 28/182 (15)                    |
| New Jersey   | 12/68 (18)     | 27/40 (40)               | 10/68 (15)                     |
| New York     | 11/12 (92)     | 9/12 (75)                | 3/12 (25)                      |
| Rhode Island | 57/78 (73)     | 42/78 (54)               | 23/78 (29)                     |
| Total        | 225/340 (66)   | 214/340 (63)             | 64/340 (19)                    |

**Table 5.1**. Prevalence of influenza A virus antibodies to the nucleoprotein (NP) and to the H5-subtype in mute swans (Cygnus olor) from four US states three serological assays.

# CHAPTER 6

# WOOD DUCKS (Aix sponsa) AS POTENTIAL RESERVOIRS FOR INFLUENZA A AND

# AVIAN PARAMYXOVIRUSES

W. M. Kistler, S. E. J. Gibbs, D. E. Stallknecht, and M. J. Yabsley. Submitted to Avian Pathology

Abstract: Influenza A viruses (IAVs) and avian paramyxoviruses (APMVs) are important pathogens of poultry worldwide and both commonly occur in wild waterfowl, especially ducks in the family Anatidae. Although wood ducks (Aix sponsa) are members of the Anatidae, their behavior differs from most other species in this family. These differences potentially affect transmission of IAVs and APMVs. Although wood ducks have been previously tested for these viruses, most studies have been restricted to small geographic areas with small sample sizes. There are few reports of serologic testing of this species for antibodies to IAVs and subtype specific antibody prevalence estimates are not currently available for APMVs. We collected cloacal and oropharyngeal swab and blood samples from >700 wood ducks across nine states in the eastern United States. No IAVs were isolated and based on blocking ELISA results, antibodies to IAVs were only detected in 0.2% of samples. In contrast, 23 (3%) APMVs were isolated (22 Newcastle disease virus and one APMV-6) and antibodies to multiple serotypes of APMVs were detected in >60% of samples. After-hatch-year birds had increased odds of testing antibody positive to APMV-4 and APMV-6 compared with hatch-year birds. Female birds had increased odds of testing antibody positive to APMV-4 compared to male birds. Our results indicate that wood ducks likely are not an important host for IAV but are frequently infected with APMVs.

Keywords: avian paramyxoviruses, influenza A viruses, Newcastle disease virus, serology, wood ducks, virus isolation

#### Introduction

Influenza A viruses (IAVs) and avian paramyxoviruses (APMVs) are important pathogens of poultry worldwide. Wild birds, in the family Anatidae, are recognized reservoirs for IAVs and some serotypes of APMVs (Deibel *et al.*, 1983; Hinshaw *et al.*, 1985; Olsen *et al.*, 2006). However, the contribution of individual waterfowl species in the maintenance of IAVs and APMVs in wild bird populations is not well understood.

Although wood ducks are members of the family Anatidae, their behavioral differs from most other ducks in this family. In the eastern United States (USA) wood ducks breed from Newfoundland, Canada to Florida, and they utilize forested habitats for cavity nesting, roosting, and brood rearing (Bellrose & Holm, 1994). They also have a different feeding ecology, primarily feeding on acorns at certain times of year (Gilmer *et al.*, 1978; Delnicki & Reinecke, 1986; Bellrose & Holm, 1994; Granfors & Flake, 1999; Folk & Hepp, 2003). The differences in behavior and habitat use likely affects the epidemiology of both influenza A viruses (IAVs) and avian paramyxoviruses (APMVs) in this species.

Several studies have reported negative results for IAV in wood ducks, but most of these studies included <60 individuals (Rosenberger *et al.*, 1974; Bahl *et al.*, 1975; Webster *et al.*, 1976; Kocan *et al.*, 1979; Nettles *et al.*, 1985; Hinshaw *et al.*, 1986; Slemons *et al.*, 1991). Three studies have attempted to isolate virus from >100 wood ducks and two of these studies reported a low prevalence (<2.5%) of viral shedding (Deibel *et al.*, 1983; Goekjian *et al.*, 2011; Wilcox *et al.*, 2011). These studies suggest that wood ducks do not contribute to the maintenance of IAVs in wild bird populations; however, results from three other studies contrast these studies. A study from Canada detected IAVs in 68% (71/104) of wood ducks using RT-PCR (Parmley *et al.*, 2008). Two additional studies reported virus isolations from 11.9% of wood ducks sampled

during a one week period on the eastern shore of Maryland and 8% of wood ducks sampled in Alberta, Canada; however the total number of wood ducks sampled was not given (Hinshaw *et al.*, 1985; Slemons *et al.*, 2003). Finally, most of these studies only tested cloacal swabs; it has since been reported that wood ducks predominantly shed IAVs via the oropharyngeal route (Costa *et al.*, 2011).

Two studies have reported IAV antibody test results for wood ducks and in both cases all birds tested negative (Kocan *et al.*, 1979; Brown *et al.*, 2010). One of these studies only tested serum from three wood ducks by a bELISA (Brown *et al.*, 2010) and the other study did not report samples size, but sera were tested by the agar gel immunodiffusion assay (Bahl *et al.*, 1975). The agar gel immunodiffusion assay has a low reported sensitivity in waterfowl species (Brown *et al.*, 2009, 2010). Experimentally infected wood ducks do develop a detectable antibody response to IAV (Brown *et al.*, 2009; Costa *et al.*, 2011).

Eight APMV subtypes: Newcastle Disease Virus (NDV; APMV-1), APMV-2, -3, -4, -6, -7, -8, and -9, have been isolated from wild waterfowl; however, NDV, APMV-4, -6, and -8 have been most commonly reported (Alexander *et al.*, 1983; Hinshaw *et al.*, 1985; Stallknecht *et al.*, 1991; Stanislawek *et al.*, 2002; Goekjian *et al.*, 2011). What little information is known about IAVs and APMVs in wood ducks indicates that APMVs are isolated more frequently than IAVs (Deibel *et al.*, 1983; Goekjian *et al.*, 2011). Antibodies to APMV in ducks have been reported in four studies (Kocan *et al.*, 1979; Vickers & Hanson, 1982; Maldonado *et al.*, 1995; Stanislawek *et al.*, 2002). Two of these studies were done in North America, but they did not sample wood ducks and only tested for antibodies to NDV (Kocan *et al.*, 1979; Vickers & Hanson, 1982).

Currently there are limited and sometimes conflicting results on the prevalence of IAV in wood ducks and a paucity of information on APMV prevalence and subtype diversity in this

species. The objective of this study was to sample wood ducks in the eastern United States and use virus isolation and serology to detect viral shedding and exposure to IAVs and APMVs.

### Materials and Methods

**Sample collection.** Cloacal and oropharyngeal swabs (n=724) and whole blood samples (n=727)were collected from wood ducks captured by rocket nets in eight states (Florida, Kentucky, Maryland, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Vermont, and Virginia) between 16 July and 19 September 2009 and by hand during nest box surveys in Maine. Sample collections took place during bird banding programs conducted by the United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) and several state agencies (see Acknowledgements). Cloacal and oropharyngeal swab samples were placed in the same tube with brain heart infusion broth (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lanes, New Jersey, USA) supplemented with penicillin G (1,000 units/ml), streptomycin (1mg/ml), gentamycin (50mg/ml), kanamycin (50 mg/ml), and amphotericin B (0.025 mg/ml) and were either kept on ice for < 1 day or refrigerated (4 C) for no more than two days before overnight shipping; also, some samples were stored in liquid nitrogen in the field until transported to the Southeastern Cooperative Wildlife Disease Study (University of Georgia, Athens, Georgia, USA). Swab samples were stored at -80°C until testing. Blood samples were collected from the brachial vein, placed in Vacutainer® serum separator tubes (BD Biosciences), allowed to clot, and stored on ice until serum collection; serum was stored at -20°C until serological testing.

**Virus isolation and identification.** Virus isolations were attempted in specific pathogen free embryonated chicken eggs as previously described (Alexander & Senne, 2008). All samples that agglutinated chicken red blood cells were further tested by RT-PCR for IAV. Viral RNA was extracted from allantoic fluid using QIAmp® Viral RNA Mini Kit (QIAGEN Inc., Valencia, California) and tested for presence of the IAV matrix gene by RT-PCR (Spackman et al., 2002). In addition, all hemagglutinating allantoic fluid samples were screened for seven APMV subtypes (NDV, APMV-2, 4, 6, 7, 8, and 9) using a hemagglutination inhibition (HI) assay (Alexander & Senne, 2008). Reference antisera for these APMV subtypes were obtained from the Poultry Diagnostic Research Center (PDRC; University of Georgia, Athens, GA) for NDV and the National Veterinary Service Laboratories (NVSL, Ames, IA). All samples testing positive by APMV HIs were then screened by RT-PCR with serotype-specific primers to the corresponding virus to verify HI results. For NDV RT-PCR for the fusion cleavage site was done as described (Aldous et al., 2003) and primers were designed for APMV-6 to amplify a region of the large polymerase gene: APMV6-11510 (5'-AAGGGCTATGCCAAAAAATGTG-3') and APMV6-12014 (5'-GGAAAAATCAATGTCAAAAAGAA-3'). Conditions for the APMV-6 RT-PCR reaction was: 20 min at 42C then 2 min at 94C followed by 94C for 1 min, 1 min at 55C and 1 min at 72C 45 times followed by 72C for 10 min. The NDV fusion cleavage sites of four random isolates were bi-directionally sequenced (Georgia Genomics Facility, University of Georgia, Athens, GA). In addition, the large polymerase gene amplicon from one APMV-6 sample was sequenced to confirm identification.

**Serology.** Influenza A virus serology was conducted using a commercial bELISA (IDEXX Laboratories, Westbrook, Maine) following the manufacturer's instructions (Brown *et al.*, 2009). Serology for the APMVs was conducted using a HI assay against the four APMV subtypes (NDV, APMV-4, -6, and -8) most commonly isolated from wild ducks as described (Alexander and Senne, 2008). Briefly, viruses were cultured in 9-day-old embryonated chicken eggs, amnioallantoic fluids were inactivated with a final concentration of 0.1% β-propiolacton. The pH of the antigens were adjusted to 7 with 10% sodium bicarbonate solution. Viruses used for antigen preparation were MADU/US(MN)/AI07-4044 for NDV, MADU/US(MN)/AI07-3119 for APMV-4, MADU/US(MN)/AI07-4783 for APMV-6, and APMV-8 antigen was obtained from PDRC. The HI assay was done as previously described, using 8 hemagglutination units of virus/25µl/well (Alexander & Senne, 2008; Warke *et al.*, 2008). A sample was considered antibody positive if the titer was  $\geq$ 32. In addition, 663 wood duck serum samples were tested for non-specific agglutination of chicken red blood cells (CRBCs). Positive control reference antisera were obtained from the PDRC for NDV and the NVSL for APMV-4, APMV-6, and APMV-8.

**Statistical analysis.** All statistical analyses were conducted using R v3.0.2. We used populationaveraged generalized estimating equations (GEE) logistic regression to compare differences in antibody prevalence estimates across all four APMV subtypes by age and sex using the Zelig v4.2 package in R (Lam, 2014). Significance was based on the 95% confidence intervals of the odds ratio. We used population-averaged GEE to account for clustering of samples at locations and dates (Hanley *et al.*, 2003). Age and gender data were not available for all samples and those samples were not included in these analyses. Interaction between age and sex was examined for all models and significance was analyzed using a Wald test; non-significant interactions were removed from the model.

### Results

**Virus isolation.** We detected hemagglutinating agents in 3% (23/724) of the wood duck swab samples. Amnio-allantoic fluid harvested from these positive samples tested negative for IAV by matrix gene RT-PCR; using the HI assay, 22 of the samples were identified as NDV and one

sample as APMV-6 (Table 1). The HI results were confirmed by RT-PCR for all 23 isolates. Sequenced analysis of the fusion cleavage sites of four NDV isolates (two from NC, and one each from PA, and VT) did not contain additional basic amino acids and were consistent with avirulent NDV (110-GGERQERL-117). The large polymerase gene segment amplified from the one APMV-6 isolate was 91% similar to APMV-6/duck/HongKong/18/199/77 (GenBank # EU622637). All isolates were from hatch-year birds; age data were not available for seven of the NDV positive birds.

**Serology.** We detected antibodies to the IAV nucleoprotein in 0.3% (2/727) of sampled wood ducks (Table 1). In contrast, antibody prevalence was >66% for NDV, APMV-4, -6, and -8, except for APMV-4 in Maine, Vermont, and Virginia and APMV-8 in Vermont and Virginia (Figure 1). The distribution of antibody titers to these viruses is shown on (Figure 2). We did not detect any interaction between age and gender in our population averaged GEE logistic regression model (wald test p>0.05); however, we did detect differences in antibody prevalence associated with age and gender. After-hatch-year birds had increased odds of exposure to APMV-4 compared to hatch-year birds and females had increased odds of exposure to APMV-4 compared to males (Table 2). Although not significant, after-hatch-year birds had increased odds of exposure to NDV compared to hatch-year birds (Table 2). We did not detected any non-specific agglutination of CRBCs from the 663 wood duck serum samples tested, indicating that the risk of a false positive reaction due to non-specific agglutination was unlikely.

### Discussion

The difference in viral shedding and exposure between IAVs and APMVs we detected was interesting. Both of these viruses use waterfowl as hosts and are believe to be fecal-orally transmitted (Webster *et al.*, 1978; Dai *et al.*, 2013). Water and sediment contaminated with virus is believed to be the main route of transmission for both of these viruses in waterfowl. Persistence of these viruses in the environment likely plays a large role in transmission of these viruses. In experimentally controlled setting NDV has been shown to persist longer in soil sediment and feces than IAVs (Nazir *et al.*, 2011). This has not been thoroughly evaluated with all APMVs serotypes, but this increased environmental persistence is likely responsible for the perceived increase in circulation of APMVs in wood ducks.

Consistent with previous studies (Kocan *et al.*, 1979; Deibel *et al.*, 1983; Slemons *et al.*, 1991; Goekjian *et al.*, 2011; Wilcox *et al.*, 2011), we detected limited evidence of IAV circulation among wood duck populations sampled. These results are supported by the very low antibody prevalence we observed across a very broad geographical area which included northern latitudes where IAVs are more likely to be detected in waterfowl (Deibel *et al.*, 1983; Hinshaw *et al.*, 1985; Wilcox *et al.*, 2011). As a comparison, antibody prevalence in mallards (*Anas platyrhynchos*) and Canada geese (*Branta canadensis*) sampled during these same time periods is can exceed 50% and 20%, respectively (Brown *et al.*, 2010; Kistler *et al.*, 2012). Although, the duration of the detectable IAV antibody response is not well defined for wood ducks and may partially explain the low prevalence, antibodies to IAV nucleoprotein have been detected for >1 year in naturally exposed mallards (Costa *et al.*, 2011). These results suggests that wood ducks are likely spillover hosts of IAVs and it is possible that previous reported isolations of IAV from

this species reflect such spillover (Deibel *et al.*, 1983; Hinshaw *et al.*, 1985; Wilcox *et al.*, 2011). Two of the three studies that isolated IAV from wood ducks were done in northern latitudes, during peak IAV shedding in waterfowl (late summer early fall), and in aquatic habitats with large numbers of mallards, a known IAV reservoir species (Deibel *et al.*, 1983; Hinshaw *et al.*, 1985; Wilcox *et al.*, 2011). Another study that detected a high prevalence of IAV (68%) using RT-PCR also was conducted under similar conditions across Canada (Parmley *et al.*, 2008). Additionally, these studies collected many of their samples from baited ducks, which could increase transmission of IAV among waterfowl species (Soos *et al.*, 2012).

Waterfowl are considered hosts for at least four APMVs subtypes (Alexander *et al.*, 1983; Hinshaw *et al.*, 1985; Stanislawek *et al.*, 2002), but only NDV and APMV-4 have been reported from wood ducks (Goekjian *et al.*, 2011). We isolated NDV and APMV-6 during this study but our serological results provide evidence that wood ducks are commonly infected with other APMV serotypes. Our APMV virus isolation prevalence was lower than two previous studies that sampled wood ducks during the same time of year. One study conducted in North Carolina detected viral shedding in  $\geq$ 9% of wood ducks and the second study conducted in New York isolate APMVs from >8% of wood ducks (Deibel *et al.*, 1983; Goekjian *et al.*, 2011). In comparison to our study, wood ducks in these two studies were sample from the same areas for an extended period of time (> 1 month) while we only sampled for  $\leq$ 2 days at each location. Our short sampling period makes it possible that we missed the peak of virus circulation. In wood ducks, seasonal peaks in NDV prevalence (<15% to >40%) that subsided rapidly were reported from birds sampled in North Carolina; however, a high prevalence could not be detected 7-10 days after these detected peaks (Goekjian *et al.*, 2011).

Most of the NDV viruses we isolated came from hatch-year birds, which is consistent with other reports of APMVs in waterfowl (Deibel *et al.*, 1983; Stallknecht *et al.*, 1991). Virulent NDV is an important pathogen in poultry, which is characterized by the addition of basic amino acids at the fusion protein cleavage site (Collins *et al.*, 1993). In waterfowl NDV isolates usually have fusion protein cleavage sites consistent with avirulent NDV (Jindal *et al.*, 2009). Our fusion cleavage site analysis supports this. In North American wild birds, virulent NDV is only associated with double-crested cormorants (*Phalacrocorax auritus*) (Kuiken et  $\Box$  al., 1998; Glaser *et al.*, 1999; Allison *et al.*, 2005). Avian paramyxovirus-6 has been commonly reported from various waterfowl species (Goekjian *et al.*, 2011; Hinshaw *et al.*, 1985), but has not been previously reported a wood duck.

We detected a high prevalence antibodies to four APMV serotypes in this study. These data suggest that wood ducks are frequently exposed to four serotypes of APMVs. The lower level of antibody detection (<50%) in some states to APMV-4 and APMV-8 cannot be explained but these prevalence estimates are based on only one or two sampling locations per state and differences may reflect local spatial variation. In Canada geese, significant variation of IAV antibody prevalence has been reported at sample locations within 10km of each (Kistler *et al.*, 2012). Only low prevalence estimates (<16%) of NDV antibodies in North American waterfowl have previously been reported (Kocan *et al.*, 1979; Vickers & Hanson, 1982), and to our knowledge, there has been no reports of testing for antibodies to other APMVs in North American waterfowl. However, in New Zealand antibody prevalences >50% to NDV, APMV-4, APMV-6, and APMV-8 were reported in mallards (Stanislawek *et al.*, 2002) and in Spain antibody prevalences >30% to APMV-6 and APMV-8 were reported in waterfowl species (Maldonado *et al.*, 1995). Cross reactivity has been reported in APMVs (Lipkind & Shihmanter,

1986), and the high antibody prevalence we detected might reflect some degree of cross-reaction among APMV serotypes.

The antibody prevalence to all APMVs was high in hatch-year birds, indicating that infection likely occurred during the summer. Transmission of NDV in wood duck populations during the summer has been previously reported (Goekjian *et al.*, 2011). We did detect differences in antibody prevalence by age and gender for APMV-4 by age for APMV-6; however, these results should be interpreted with caution. The lower confidence limits for the estimated odds ratios are very close to one. In addition, we did not confirm infection of wood ducks with either APMV-4 or APMV-8 through virus isolation. Although our serological data supports wood ducks playing a significant role in the epidemiology of multiple serotypes of APMVs, there is insufficient historic virus isolation data to support this. Part of this relates to the fact that most APMV isolates are a byproduct of IAV targeted surveillance and research. These studies have most often taken place in late summer and fall and this seasonality may not correspond to times of peak APMV shedding (Hinshaw *et al.*, 1985; Wilcox *et al.*, 2011). This situation will not be improved by the use of molecular screening techniques for IAV detection that will for the most part eliminate the possibility of APMV detection.

#### Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the USFWS Avian Health and Disease Program with additional support provided by the Southeastern Cooperative Wildlife Disease Study (SCWDS), the Federal Aid to Wildlife Restoration Act (50 Stat. 917), and through sponsorship of SCWDS by member fish and wildlife agencies. The authors would like to thank the following with field and lab assistance: Barbara Shock, Josh Parris, Andrea Howey-Newsome, and Andrew Allison (SCWDS); John Dunn, John Morgan, and Walt Cottrell (Pennsylvania Game Commission); Larry Hindman and Denny Price (Maryland Department of Natural Resources); Gary Costanza (Virginia Department of Game and Inland Fisheries); Bill Crenshaw (Vermont Fish and Wildlife Department); Judy Sefchick Edwards (Mississquoi National Wildlife Refuge in Vermont); Kelsey Sullivan (Maine Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife); Andrew Fanning (Florida Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission); Doug Howell (North Carolina Wildlife Resource Commission); Haven Barnhill (Santee National Wildlife Refuge in South Carolina); Erin Harper (Kentucky Department of Fish and Wildlife Resources) and Roy Berghaus statistical analysis assistance.

### **Declaration of conflicting interests**

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### References

- ALDOUS, E.W., MYNN, J.K., BANKS, J. & ALEXANDER, D.J. (2003). A molecular epidemiological study of avian paramyxovirus type 1 (Newcastle disease virus) isolates by phylogenetic analysis of a partial nucleotide sequence of the fusion protein gene. *Avian Pathology*, 32, 237–255.
- ALEXANDER, D., HINSHAW, V., COLLINS, M. & YAMANE, N. (1983). Characterization of viruses which represent further distinct serotypes (PMV-8 and PMV-9) of avian paramyxoviruses. Archives of *Virology*, 36, 29–36.

ALEXANDER, D.J. (2001). Newcastle disease. British Poultry Science, 41, 5–22.

- ALEXANDER, D.J. (2007). An overview of the epidemiology of avian influenza. Vaccine, 25, 5637-5644.
- ALEXANDER, D.J. & SENNE, D.A. (2008). Newcastle diseases virus and other avian paramyxoviruses. In L. Dufour-Zavala, D.E. Swayne, J.R. Glisson, J.E. Pearson, W.M. Reed, M.W. Jackwood & P.R. Woolcock (Eds.), Laboratory Manual for the Isolation, Identification, and Characterization of Avian Pathogens (5th ed., pp. 135–141). Athens, GA: American Association of Avian Pathologists.
- ALLISON, A.B., GOTTDENKER, A.B.N.L. & AB, D.E.S. (2005). Wintering of neurotropic velogenic Newcastle disease virus and West Nile Virus in double-crested cormorants (Phalacrocorax auritus) from the Florida Keys. Avian Diseases, 49, 292–297.
- BAHL, A.K., POMEROY, B.S., EASTERDAY, B.C. & MANGUNDIMEDJO, S. (1975). Isolation of type A influenza viruses from the migratory waterfowl along the Mississippi Flyway. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 11, 360–363.
- BELLROSE, F.C. & HOLM, D.J. (1994). Ecology and management of the wood duck. (G.C. Sandersen, R.E. McCabe & A. Hodgins, Eds.) (First., p. 588). Mechanicsburg, Pennsylvania: Stackpole Books.
- BROWN, J.D., LUTTRELL, M.P., BERGHAUS, R.D., KISTLER, W., KEELER, S.P., HOWEY, A., WILCOX, B., HALL, J., NILES, L., DEY, A., KNUTSEN, G., FRITZ, K. & STALLKNECHT, D.E. (2010). Prevalence of antibodies to type A influenza virus in wild avian species using two serologic assays. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 46, 896–911.
- BROWN, J.D., STALLKNECHT, D.E., BERGHAUS, R.D., LUTTRELL, M.P., VELEK, K., KISTLER, W., COSTA, T.P., YABSLEY, M.J. & SWAYNE, D. (2009). Evaluation of a commercial blocking 126

enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay to detect avian influenza virus antibodies in multiple experimentally infected avian species. *Clinical and Vaccine Immunology*, 16, 824–829.

- COLLINS, M.S., BASHIRUDDIN, J.B. & ALEXANDER, D.J. (1993). Deduced amino acid sequences at the fusion protein cleavage site of Newcastle disease viruses showing variation in antigenicity and pathogenicity. *Archives of Virology*, 128, 363–370.
- COSTA, T.P., BROWN, J.D., HOWERTH, E.W. & STALLKNECHT, D.E. (2011). Variation in viral shedding patterns between different wild bird species infected experimentally with low-pathogenicity avian influenza viruses that originated from wild birds. *Avian Pathology*, 40, 119–124.
- CROSS, T.A., ARSNOE, D.M., MINNIS, R.B., KING, D.T., SWAFFORD, S., PEDERSEN, K. & OWEN, J.C. (2013). Prevalence of avian paramyxovirus 1 and avian influenza virus in doublecrested cormorants (*phalacrocorax auritus*) in eastern North America. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 49, 965–977.
- DAI, Y., LIU, M., CHENG, X., SHEN, X., WEI, Y., ZHOU, S., YU, S., & DING, C. (2013). Infectivity and pathogenicity of Newcastle disease virus strains of different avian origin and different virulence for mallard ducklings. *Avian Diseases*, 57, 8-14.
- DEIBEL, R., EMORD, D.E., DUKELOW, W., HINSHAW, V.S. & WOOD, J.M. (1983). Influenza viruses and paramyxoviruses in ducks in the Atlantic flyway, 1977-1983, including an H5N2 isolate related to the virulent chicken virus. *Avian Diseases*, 29, 970–985.
- DELNICKI, D. & REINECKE, K.J. (1986). Mid-winter food use and body weights of mallards and wood ducks in Mississippi. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, 50, 43–51.

- FEREIDOUNI, S.R., GRUND, C., HÄUSLAIGNER, R., LANGE, E., WILKING, H., HARDER, T.C., BEER, M. & STARICK, E. (2010). Dynamics of specific antibody responses induced in mallards after infection by or immunization with low pathogenicity avian influenza viruses. *Avian Diseases*, 54, 79–85.
- FOLK, T.H. & HEPP, G.R. (2003). Effects of habitat use and movement patterns on incubation behavior of female wood ducks (*Aix sponsa*) in southeast Alabama. *The Auk*, 120, 1159– 1167.
- GILMER, D., BALL, I. & COWARDIN, L. (1978). Natural cavities used by wood ducks in northcentral Minnesota. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, 42, 288–298.
- GLASER, L.C., BARKER, I.K., WESELOH, D.V.C., LUDWIG, J., RONALD, M., KEY, D.W. &
  BOLLINGER, T.K. (1999). The 1992 epizootic of Newcastle Disease in double-crested cormorants in North America. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 35, 319–330.
- GOEKJIAN, V.H., SMITH, J.T., HOWELL, D.L., SENNE, D.A., SWAYNE, D.E. & STALLKNECHT, D.E. (2011). Avian influenza viruses and avian paramyxoviruses in wintering and breeding waterfowl populations in North Carolina, USA. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 47, 240–245.
- GRANFORS, D. & FLAKE, L. (1999). Wood Duck brood movements and habitat use on prairie rivers in South Dakota. *Journal of Wildlife Management*, 63, 639–649.
- HANLEY, J.A., NEGASSA, A., EDWARDES, M.E. d. & FORRESTER, J.E. (2003). Statistical analysis of correlated data using generalized estimating equations: an orientation. *American Journal* of Epidemiology, 157, 364–375.

Hinshaw, V.S., Nettles, V.F., Schorr, L.F., Wood, J.M. & Webster, R.G. (1986). Influenza virus

surveillance in waterfowl in Pennsylvania after the H5N2 avian outbreak. *Avian Diseases*, 30, 207–212.

- HINSHAW, V.S., WOOD, J.M., WEBSTER, R.G., DEIBEL, R. & TURNER, B. (1985). Circulating influenza and paramyxoviruses in waterfowl from two different locations in North America. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 63, 711–719.
- JINDAL, N., CHANDER, Y., CHOCKALINGAM, A.K., DE ABIN, M., REDIG, P.T. & GOYAL, S.M. (2009). Phylogenetic analysis of Newcastle disease viruses isolated from waterfowl in the upper midwest region of the United States. *Virology Journal*, 6, 191-200.
- KISTLER, W.M., STALLKNECHT, D.E., DELIBERTO, T.J., SWAFFORD, S., PEDERSEN, K., VAN WHY,
  K., WOLF, P.C., HILL, J.A, BRUNING, D.L., CUMBEE, J.C., MICKLEY, R.M., BETSILL, C.W.,
  RANDALL, A.R., BERGHAUS, R.D. & YABSLEY, M.J. (2012). Antibodies to Avian Influenza
  Viruses in Canada Geese (*Branta canadensis*): A Potential Surveillance Tool? *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 48, 1097–1101.
- KOCAN, A., SHAW, M. & MORGAN, P. (1979). Some parasitic and infectious diseases in waterfowl in Oklahoma. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 15, 137–141.
- KUIKEN, T., LEIGHTON, F.A., WOBESER, G., DANESIK, K.L., RIVA, J. & HECKERT, R.A. (1998).An epidemic of Newcastle disease in double-crested cormorants from Saskatchewan.*Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 34, 457–471.
- LAM, P. (2014). logit.gee: General Estimating Equation for Logistic Regression. In K. Imai, G.King & O. Lau (Eds.), Zelig: Everyone's Statistical Software (p. 2014).

LEE, C., SWAYNE, D.E., LINARES, J.A., SENNE, D.A. & SUAREZ, D.L. (2005). H5N2 avian

influenza outbreak in Texas in 2004 : the first highly pathogenic strain in the United States in 20 years ? *Journal of Virology*, 79, 11412–11421.

- LIPKIND, M. & SHIHMANTER, E. (1986). Antigenic relationships between avian paramyxoviruses. Archives of Virology, 89, 89–111.
- MALDONADO, A., ARENAS, A., TARRADAS, M.C., ASTORGA, R., PEREA, J.A. & MIRANDA, A. (1995). Serological survey for avian paramyxoviruses from wildfowl in aquatic habitats in Andalusia. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 31, 66–69.
- MUNSTER, V. J., BAAS, C., LEXMOND, P., WALDENSTRÖM, J., WALLENSTEN, A., FRANSSON, T., ... FOUCHIER, R. A. M. (2007). Spatial, temporal, and species variation in prevalence of influenza A viruses in wild migratory birds. *PLoS Pathogens*, *3*(5), e61.
- NAZIR, J. HAUMACHER, R., IKE, A.C., & MARSCHANG, R.E. (2011) Persistance of avian influenza viruses in lake sediment, duck feces, and duck meat. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77, 4981-4985.
- NETTLES, V.F., WOOD, J.M. & WEBSTER, R.G. (1985). Wildlife surveillance associated with an outbreak of lethal H5N2 avian influenza in domestic poultry. *Avian Diseases*, 29, 733–741.
- OLSEN, B., MUNSTER, V.J., WALLENSTEN, A., WALDENSTRÖM, J., OSTERHAUS, A.D.M.E. & FOUCHIER, R.A.M. (2006). Global patterns of influenza a virus in wild birds. *Science*, 312, 384–388.
- PARMLEY, E.J., BASTIEN, N., BOOTH, T.F., BOWES, V., BUCK, P.A., BREAULT, A., CASWELL, D., DAOUST, P., DAVIES, J.C., ELAHI, S.M., FORTIN, M., KIBENGE, F., KING, R., LI, Y., NORTH, N., OJKIC, D., PASICK, J., PRYOR, S.P., ROBINSON, J., RODRIGUE, J., WHITNEY, H., ZIMMER,

P. & LEIGHTON, F.A. (2008). Wild bird influenza survey, Canada, 2005. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 14, 84–87.

- RAFTOVICH, R. V. & WILKINS, K.A. (2013). Migratory bird hunting activity and harvest for the 2011-12 and 2012-13 hunting seasons (p. 64). Laurel, Maryland.
- ROSENBERGER, J.K., KRAUSS, W.C. & SIEMONS, R.D. (1974). Isolation of Newcastle disease and type-A influenza viruses from migratory waterfowl in the Atlantic flyway. *Avian Diseases*, 18, 610–613.
- SLEMONS, R.D., HANSEN, W.R., CONVERSE, K.A. & SENNE, D.A. (2003). Type A influenza virus surveillance in free-flying, nonmigratory ducks residing on the eastern shore of Maryland. *Avian Diseases*, 47, 1107–10.
- SLEMONS, R.D., SHIELDCASTLE, M.C., HEYMAN, L.D., BEDNARIK, K.E. & SENNE, D.A. (1991). Type A influenza viruses in waterfowl in Ohio and implications for domestic turkeys. *Avian Diseases*, 35, 165–73.
- SOOS, C., PARMLEY, E.J., MCAlONEY, K., POLLARD, B., JENKINS, E., KIBENGE, F. & LEIGHTON, F.A. (2012). Bait trapping linked to higher avian influenza virus detection in wild ducks. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 48, 444–448.
- SPACKMAN, E., SENNE, D.A., MYERS, T.J., BULAGA, L.L., GARBER, L.P., PERDUE, M.L., LOHMAN, K., DAUM, L.T. & SUAREZ, D.L. (2002). Development of a Real-Time Reverse Transcriptase PCR Assay for Type A influenza virus and the avian H5 and H7 hemagglutinin subtypes. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 40, 3256–3260.
- STALLKNECHT, D.E., SENNE, D.A., ZWANK, P.J., SHANE, S.M. & KEARNEY, M.T. (1991). Avian

paramyxoviruses from migrating and resident ducks in coastal Louisiana. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 27, 123–128.

- STANISLAWEK, W.L., WILKS, C.R., MEERS, J., HORNER, G.W., ALEXANDER, D.J., MANVELL, R.J., KATTENBELT, J.A. & GOULD, A.R. (2002). Avian paramyxoviruses and influenza viruses isolated from mallard ducks (*Anas platyrhynchos*) in New Zealand. *Archives of Virology*, 147, 1287–1302.
- VICKERS, M.L. & HANSON, R.P. (1982). Newcastle disease virus in waterfowl in Wisconsin. Journal of Wildlife Diseases, 18, 149–158.
- WARKE, A., APPLEBY, L. & MUNDT, E. (2008). Prevalence of Antibodies to Different Avian Paramyxoviruses in Commercial Poultry in the United States. *Avian Diseases*, 52, 694–697.
- WEBSTER, R.G., MORITA, M., PRIDGEN, C. & Tumova, B. (1976). Ortho- and paramyxoviruses from migrating feral ducks: characterization of a new group of influenza A viruses. *Journal of General Virology*, 32, 217–225.
- WEBSTER, R.G., YAKHNO, M., HINSHAW, V.S., BEAN, W.J. & MURTI, K.G. (1978). Intestinal influenza: Replication and characterization of influenza viruses in ducks. *Virology*, 84, 268-278.
- WILCOX, B.R., KNUTSEN, G. A., BERDEEN, J., GOEKJIAN, V., POULSON, R., GOYAL, S.,
  SREEVATSAN, S., CARDONA, C., BERGHAUS, R.D., SWAYNE, D.E., YABSLEY, M.J. &
  STALLKNECHT, D.E. (2011). Influenza-A viruses in ducks in northwestern Minnesota: fine
  scale spatial and temporal variation in prevalence and subtype diversity. *PLoS ONE*, 6,
  e24010.

WILLIAMS, R.A.J., XIAO, X.-M. & PETERSON, A.T. (2011). Continent-wide association of H5N1 outbreaks in wild and domestic birds in Europe. *Geospatial Health*, 5, 247–253.
Table 6.1. Results from virus isolations for influenza A viruses (IAVs) and avian

 paramyxoviruses (APMVs) in wood ducks and antibody prevalence as determined by a blocking

 ELISA.

|                | Virus I    | Serology                 |             |
|----------------|------------|--------------------------|-------------|
| State          | IAV (%)    | APMV (%)                 | IAV (%)     |
| Florida        | 0/92 (0%)  | 0/92 (0)                 | 0/86 (0)    |
| Kentucky       | 0/79 (0%)  | 1/79 (1.3)               | 0/77 (0)    |
| Maine          | 0/29 (0%)  | 0/29 (0)                 | 0/29 (0)    |
| Maryland       | 0/75 (0%)  | 6/75 (6.7)               | 0/75 (0)    |
| North Carolina | 0/84 (%)   | 7/84 (8.3)               | 0/88 (0)    |
| Pennsylvania   | 0/28 (0%)  | 1/28 (3.6)               | 0/27 (0)    |
| South Carolina | 0/161 (0%) | 1/161 (0.6)              | 1/169 (0.6) |
| Vermont        | 0/110 (0%) | 7/110 (6.4) <sup>a</sup> | 1/110 (0.9) |
| Virginia       | 0/66 (0%)  | 0/66 (0)                 | 0/66 (0)    |
| Total          | 0/724 (0)  | 23/724 (3)               | 2/727 (0.3) |

<sup>a</sup>One isolate APMV-6 the other isolates are Newcastle disease virus

**Table 6.2.** Results from logistic regression utilizing generalized estimating equations for antibodies to avian paramyxovirus (APMV) in wood ducks comparing after-hatch-year (AHY) to hatch-year (HY) and female to male.

| Virus     | Age | Odds ratio (95%CI)    | Gender | Odds ratio (95%CI) |
|-----------|-----|-----------------------|--------|--------------------|
|           |     | Positive/ $N(\%)$     |        | Positive/N (%)     |
| Newcastle | AHY | 1.5 (1.0, 2.1)        | Female | 0.6 (0.3, 1.1)     |
| Disease   |     | 250/284 (88)          |        | 176/208 (85)       |
| Virus     |     |                       |        |                    |
|           | HY  | Referent <sup>a</sup> | Male   | Referent           |
|           |     | 259/294 (88)          |        | 333/370 (90)       |
| APMV-4    | AHY | 1.5 (1.1, 2.0)        | Female | 1.4 (1.1, 1.9)     |
|           |     | 195/282 (69)          |        | 141/204 (69)       |
|           | HY  | Referent              | Male   | Referent           |
|           |     | 158/288 (55)          |        | 212/366 (58)       |
| APMV-6    | AHY | 2.3 (1.1, 4.8)        | Female | 0.7 (0.4, 1.3)     |
|           |     | 273/277 (99)          |        | 190/197 (96)       |
|           | HY  | Referent              | Male   | Referent           |
|           |     | 265/276 (96)          |        | 348/356 (98)       |

| APMV-8 | AHY | 1.2 (0.9, 1.6) | Female | 1.2 (0.9, 1.4) |
|--------|-----|----------------|--------|----------------|
|        |     | 194/264 (73)   |        | 139/191 (73)   |
|        | HY  | Referent       | Male   | Referent       |
|        |     | 163/270 (60)   |        | 218/343 (64)   |

<sup>a</sup> Referent is the comparison group

.



**Figure 6.1.** Prevalence estimates from avian paramyxoviruses by state as determined by hemagglutination inhibition assay. Error bars are based on 95% confidence intervals using the standard error and were capped at 100%. Numbers in parenthesis are number of birds sampled



**Figure 6.2.** Reciprocal antibody titers of wood ducks to avian paramyxoviruses as determined using hemagglutination inhibition assay to four serotypes.

# CHAPTER 7

## CONCLUSIONS

The major objective of this research was to use serological assays to better understand the epidemiology of influenza A viruses (IAVs) and avian paramyxoviruses (APMVs) in wild waterfowl. Both IAVs and APMVs are known to use wild waterfowl as hosts and are important pathogens of poultry.

### Study 1 (Chapter 3)

The main objective of this study was to further evaluate annual variation and spatial variation of IAV nucleoprotein antibodies in Canada geese within Pennsylvania. A similar previous study found no significant variation in antibody prevalence between years and that geese sampled in urban areas had higher odds of exposure than geese sampled from rural areas. The results from this study also support low variation among years on the statewide scale and at locations sampled multiple years. The only environmental variable found to significantly influence antibody prevalence in Canada geese was % developed land.

The lack of significant variation in antibody prevalence seen annually is likely due to the persistence of antibodies and that Canada geese are long lived species. These same conclusion are likely the reason for increased odds of exposure in Canada geese from urban areas. Overall, the lack of variation in antibody prevalence and increased exposure in developed areas means that serology is not sensitive enough to detect variations in transmission either annually or on a small spatial scale.

### Study 2 (Chapter 4)

The main objective of this study was to evaluate subtype-specific antibody prevalence in Canada geese to determine which subtypes geese are frequently exposed and if those subtypes reflect the diversity reported from dabbling ducks. The data obtained for this study demonstrated: 1) Canada geese are frequently exposed to H5 IAVs, 2) Canada geese are frequently exposed to the three most commonly isolated IAV subtypes found circulating in dabbling ducks (H3, H4, and H6) and are not commonly exposed to other subtypes, which are isolated at low frequencies from dabbling ducks, 3) H5 IAV antibodies in Canada geese are wide spread and commonly detected, likely indicating H5 IAVs circulate more frequently than IAV detection in dabbling indicates. These findings support and expand on previous research showing that IAVs antibodies in Canada geese overlap with recorded virus isolation in dabbling ducks on a spatial scale and by subtypes (Kistler et al., 2012). However, the H5 IAV antibody results were interesting, because this subtype is not frequently detecting during surveillance studies and may indicate a different circulation pattern for this subtype. Together, these results suggest that Canada geese share a common IAV exposure with dabbling ducks and geese may be used to detect IAV circulation on a regional scale.

### Study 3 (Chapter 5)

This study was the first large-scale surveillance study for H5-specific antibodies in North American mute swans. Mute swans were found to have a high prevalence of antibodies to the nucleoprotein and using two different assays were found to have a high prevalence of H5specific antibodies. A previous study by Pedersen et al., (2014) also found a high NP antibody prevalence in mute swans from North American. This is likely related to antibody persistence and mute swans being a long lived species. The high H5-specific antibody prevalence was surprising because these viruses are not frequently reported from surveillance studies aimed at detecting IAVs. This high prevalence may play a role in preventing the introduction of highly pathogenic H5N1 in North American or reduce the impact it may have on wild bird population if it were to ever make it to North America.

### Study 4 (Chapter 6)

The main objective of this study was to evaluate the role of wood ducks in the epidemiology of IAV and APMVs using serological assays and virus isolation. The results showed that wood ducks are not frequently exposed to AIVs, but are frequently exposed four APMV serotypes (Newcastle Disease Virus, APMV-4, APMV-6, and APMV-8). These data, in conjunction with previous research (Deibel et al., 1983), suggest exposure of wood ducks to IAVs is likely dependent on location and presence of IAV shedding in other dabbling ducks. Additionally, wood ducks likely play a large role in the epidemiology of APMVs; however, virus isolation data is lacking.

#### Literature Cited

- DEIBEL, R., D. E. EMORD, W. DUKELOW, V. S. HINSHAW, and J. M. WOOD. 1983. Influenza viruses and paramyxoviruses in ducks in the Atlantic flyway, 1977-1983, including an H5N2 isolate related to the virulent chicken virus. Avian Diseases 29: 970–985.
- KISTLER, W. M., D. E. STALLKNECHT, T. J. DELIBERTO, S. SWAFFORD, K. PEDERSEN, K. VAN WHY, P. C. WOLF, J. a HILL, D. L. BRUNING, J. C. CUMBEE, R. M. MICKLEY, C. W. BETSILL, A. R. RANDALL, R. D. BERGHAUS, and M. J. YABSLEY. 2012. Antibodies to

Avian Influenza Viruses in Canada Geese (Branta canadensis): A Potential Surveillance Tool? Journal of Wildlife Diseases 48: 1097–1101.

PEDERSEN, K., A. F. D. R. MARKS, B. D. M. ARSNOE, B. C. L. AFONSO, C. S. N. BEVINS, D. P. J.
MILLER, A. R. RANDALL, and T. J. D. A. 2014. Avian paramyxovirus serotype 1 (Newcastle disease virus), avian influenza virus, and Salmonella spp. in mute swans
(Cygnus olor) in the Great Lakes Region and Atlantic Coast of the United States. Avian Diseases 58: 129–136.